
1

CABINET 
Thursday 24 January 2019

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 December 
2018 (Pages 1 - 18)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 21 
January 2019 
To follow

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage.

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Award of Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing Contract 2019 
to 2024 
This item is ‘to follow’.

8. Consultation on Sevenoaks'  Proposed Submission Local Plan 
(Pages 19 - 62)
Summary:

Sevenoaks District Council has consulted the Council on the 
proposed submission version of the Sevenoaks Local Plan. An earlier 
consultation included potential proposals for large scale residential 
development at Fawkham/Hartley and at Pedham Place, Swanley. 
The results of the earlier consultation have been taken into account 
and parts of the Plan have been amended by Sevenoaks District 
Council. The Council’s proposed response to the consultation is set 



2

out in Appendix C to the report.

Recommendation:

That the Council’s response to the Sevenoaks Proposed Submission 
Local Plan, set out in Appendix C to the report, be endorsed. 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

9. National Non-Domestic Discretionary Rate Relief 2019/20 (Pages 
63 - 106)
Summary:

To consider granting discretionary rate relief to ratepayers who have 
made applications, or who are expected to make an application, 
before 1 March 2019 in respect of 2019/20.

To receive an update on the local discretionary business rate relief 
scheme and to approve the proposed approach for implementation of 
the Retail Discount for 2019/20 and 2020/21.

Recommendations:

1. That the maximum level of discretionary rate relief for 2019/20 for 
the organisations listed in Appendix A to the report be determined 
in accordance with the detailed recommendations set out in 
Appendix A to the report;

2. That the estimated level of discretionary Business Rates Relief to 
be awarded in 2019/20 set out in paragraph 3.26 of the report be 
noted; and

3. That the Business Rates Retail Discount Guidelines contained in 
Appendix E to the report be approved. 

10. Write-Off of National Non-Domestic Rates (Pages 107 - 110)
Summary:

To consider writing-off National Non-Domestic Rate debts where it 
has not been possible to obtain payment because of insolvency, 
because the ratepayer cannot be traced or where the debt is 
otherwise irrecoverable.

Recommendation:

That the sums shown in exempt Appendix A to the report amounting 
to £160,261.30 be written off as uncollectable. 



3

11. Council Tax Discounts for Empty and Uninhabitable Dwellings 
and Empty Premium (Pages 111 - 116)
Summary:

To consider the level of Council Tax discount for unoccupied and 
unfurnished dwellings, and dwellings undergoing or requiring major 
structural repair, and increasing the premium on dwellings that are 
long term empty (unoccupied and unfurnished for more than 2 years).

Recommendations:

1. That the Council Tax discount for unoccupied and unfurnished 
dwellings be reduced from 100% for three months to 100% for two 
months;

2. That the Council Tax discount for unoccupied dwellings 
undergoing or requiring major structural repair be reduced from 
100% for 12 months to 0% for 12 months; and

3. That the additional charge for dwellings that are unoccupied and 
unfurnished for 2 years or more be increased from 50% to 100%.  

12. Street Naming and Numbering - Lowfield Street (Pages 117 - 120)
Summary:

To consider and approve five new road names for the development at 
Lowfield Street.

Recommendation:

That the Cabinet approve Brewers, Carnegie, Festival, Imperial and 
Truman as the five new road names for the Lowfield Street 
development.

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing

13. Housing Annual Report for Tenants and Leaseholders 2018 
(Pages 121 - 134)
Summary:

To consider and approve the seventh Housing Annual Report for 
Tenants and Leaseholders for 2018 that has been developed in 
consultation with the Dartford Borough Resident’s Forum (DBRF).

Recommendation:

That the draft Housing Annual Report for Tenants and Leaseholders 



4

2018, attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved.

14. Calendar of Meetings of the General Assembly of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Boards (Pages 135 - 140)
Summary:

To seek Members’ views on the proposed calendar of meetings for 
2019/20 and the provisional calendar for 2020/21.

Recommendation:

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2019/20 and the 
provisional calendar of meetings for 2020/21 be submitted to the 
Annual Meeting of the Council for approval. 

15. Minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting on 11 
December 2018 (Pages 141 - 154)
Summary:

To receive the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee held on 11 
December 2018.

Recommendation:

That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee held on 11 
December 2018 be noted.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information.

D - Items for Consideration in Private

Confidential Appendix

A. Award of Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing Contract 2019 
to 2024 - Exempt Appendix A 
 (Exempt Category SO46(1)(b) 
This item is ‘to follow’.

B. Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates - Exempt Appendix A 
 (Exempt Category SO46(1)(b) (Pages 155 - 156)



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 6 December 2018 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

78. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Shippam.

79. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interests.

80. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1 
NOVEMBER 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 1 November 2018 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.

81. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

82. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 3 DECEMBER 2018 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 
Monday 3 December 2018 and had regard to the Panel’s views throughout 
the meeting.

83. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

84. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY: GOVERNANCE AND SPENDING 
REVIEW 2018 

The Head of Regeneration introduced a report which set out an updated five 
year programme of potential infrastructure projects that could be supported by 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), which had partially replaced s106 



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

funding.  The report outlined the Five Year CIL rolling programme together 
with the CIL Annual Report and details of CIL receipts and forecasts. The 
amount of CIL income distributed to the Parishes and Town Council were 
detailed along with the amounts available to spend on projects in unparished 
areas. Progress to date on mechanisms to release unparished neighbourhood 
funding to locally focused projects was also reported.

Appendix B to the report detailed the Infrastructure Delivery Plan which was 
divided into three sections. Section 1 described the fully funded projects 
where funding was provided by s106 contributions or funding from the 
Government and other agencies and included public realm and other works to 
Dartford Town Centre, expanded junctions from the A2 at Bean and 
Ebbsfleet, and at St Clements Way and plans for two new primary schools. 
Section 2 described projects with potential to be enabled by CIL funding in 
addition to funding from other agencies. These projects were those that were 
considered to be well defined and where there was confidence that they could 
be delivered. These included the Health and Wellbeing Hub in Dartford Town 
Centre, a pedestrian bridge over the River Darent, a new Primary care facility 
in Stone/Greenhithe the upgrading of the Darenth Valley path, a new school 
at Stone and to provide additional school places in the North West of the 
Borough. As the plans for the Health hubs were more advanced the Cabinet 
was being asked to take an ‘in principle’ decision to allocate CIL funding 
subject to the provision of further information on other funding approvals. 
Earmarking projects for CIL funding in the Delivery Plan provided greater 
certainty for partner organisations in making their own funding decisions and 
supported their funding bids. The final section detailed those schemes that 
were less advanced and which required further definition. 

The Cabinet noted that a Member had raised concerns at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel about the work of the Leader’s Advisory Group on CIL from 
which it was clear that the Member had little appreciation of the role of the 
Group and the mechanisms by which CIL funding decisions would be made, 
possibly because nobody from his political group attended the meetings 
despite being invited. The Leader’s Advisory Group did not make funding 
decisions and any recommendations would be made for consideration and 
decision by the Cabinet. However the Advisory Group did have an important 
role in helping to take matters forward in a timely fashion to a point when 
recommendations could be made.

The Cabinet felt that CIL funding was an important mechanism for working 
together with other partners and funders to provide infrastructure and that it 
was important to support well defined projects such as the proposed health 
hubs. Clarification was also provided on the possible location of the primary 
care facility in Stone/Greenhithe. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the CIL Indicative Five Year Programme as set out in paragraph 4.4 
of the report and Appendix A to the report, be agreed as a basis for 
ongoing liaison with relevant infrastructure providers and further 



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

development of the identified schemes, subject to availability of CIL 
funding and approval of individual schemes by Cabinet;

2. That  an ‘in principle’ commitment for CIL funding to support two new 
health hubs in Dartford town centre and at Stone be agreed, subject to 
the level of CIL funding being clarified through the finalisation of the 
business case for each; 

3. That a final decision on the agreement to and level of CIL funding for the 
health projects identified in paragraph 4.2 of the report, as well as any 
further potential projects identified in paragraph 4.4, be considered either 
as part of a subsequent annual CIL report in December 2019, or mid-
year, if there is a need for urgency;

4. That Dartford’s CIL Annual Report, attached at Appendix C to the report, 
be agreed for publication; and 

5. That the progress on identification and delivery of CIL projects funded 
through the neighbourhood element in unparished areas, as set out in 
paragraph 5.6 of the report, be noted and to agree to receive further reports 
as matters are progressed.

85. LOWER THAMES CROSSING - SECOND CONSULTATION 

The Cabinet considered a report on the Council’s suggested response to the 
second public consultation by Highways England on the detailed proposals for 
the Lower Thames Crossing. 

The Head of Regeneration reminded Members that the Council had 
responded to the initial consultation on the alternative options for the route of 
the crossing in 2016 strongly supporting a new crossing east of Gravesend 
(Option C). Following the consultation the Secretary of State had announced 
that this was the preferred route for the crossing. Since that announcement 
Highways England had been progressing the design of the scheme and 
details of the precise route, carrying out more detailed transport modelling and 
talking to affected authorities and parties. Some details of the routing and 
construction had been amended as a result of this work. The main focus of 
the latest consultation was on the details of the scheme, the routeing, design 
of junctions, structures, connections with the surrounding road network and 
environmental impacts. 

The new crossing was one of the largest single road investment projects in 
the UK since the M25 was completed and would be one of the largest bored 
tunnels in the world. The latest traffic modelling predicted that once the new 
crossing opened there would be a reduction in passenger traffic using the 
Dartford Crossing of 24% and 19% in 2041 in peak hours compared to the 
situation without a new crossing. The proportion of HGV’s using the Dartford 
Crossing was predicted to fall from 18% to 14% once the new crossing 
opened and was projected to remain at this level in 2041. This was an 
improvement from the original traffic modelling which had predicted an overall 
decrease in traffic using the Dartford Crossing of 14% once the new crossing 



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

4

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

opened. The original design for the tunnel had provided for two lane traffic 
each way but the revised design now provided for three lanes each way and 
for an extended approach to the tunnel and a simplified junction from the 
A2/M2. 

The Council’s proposed response to the consultation exercise, which was due 
to end on 20 December 2018, strongly supported the need for the Lower 
Thames Crossing, its proposed location east of Gravesend and some of the 
changes to the preferred route which had been made since the last 
consultation. The proposed location would provide a faster, more reliable 
route to the Midlands and the North from Kent ports but it was disappointing 
that the opportunity was not being taken to provide a link from the Lower 
Thames Crossing onto the A13 westbound towards the Port of Tilbury. The 
proposals would see a genuine improvement in the resilience of the strategic 
and local road network, boost British business and the national economy 
whilst the changes to the design of the route since the first consultation should 
also be beneficial and help to alleviate some of the negative impacts of the 
scheme on neighbouring authorities. It was however acknowledged that some 
areas would experience increased traffic flows due to other factors such as 
development and the Council’s response urged Highways England to address 
issues on those parts of the network where there would be pressure. The 
Council also supported a free-flowing e-charging system with differential 
charging for the new crossing and urged Highways England to implement the 
new crossing as soon as possible and to bring forward arrangements to 
improve traffic flows at the Dartford Crossing and its approach in the 
meantime.

The Cabinet had regard to the comments made at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel.

RESOLVED:

That the response to the consultation questions set out in Appendix A to the 
report be agreed as the Council’s response to the second consultation on the 
Lower Thames Crossing.
 

86. GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON PLANNING REFORM: SUPPORTING 
THE HIGH STREET AND INCREASING THE DELIVERY OF NEW HOMES 

The Head of Regeneration outlined the proposals contained in the 
Government consultation paper on ”Planning Reform: Supporting the High 
Street and Increasing the Delivery of New Homes” to extend the range of 
developments that can take place without the need for planning permission 
and to extend local authorities’ freedoms to dispose of surplus land. The 
document was divided into four parts:

 Permitted development rights and use classes;
 Disposal of local authority land;
 Canal and River Trust: Draft listed consent order; and 



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

5

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 New Town Development Corporations: Draft compulsory purchase 
guidance.

The Head of Regeneration explained the proposals in respect of changes of 
use and the limits of permitted development and the advantages and 
disadvantages in each case. It was proposed to extend permitted 
development to cover new types of development or where permitted 
development had been granted on a temporary basis to make these rights 
permanent. This reflected the Government’s desire to increase the housing 
supply and to provide greater flexibility in areas such as change of use in the 
High Streets. Permitted development rights were already quite wide but the 
proposals would make the permitted development rights of landowners and 
developers even wider, including the building of additional stories on existing 
buildings and change of use from retail to residential. It was also proposed to 
encourage developers to install electric charging points in developments. The 
Government was also proposing to extend local authorities’ freedoms to 
dispose of surplus land at less than best consideration without the need to 
obtain consent from the Secretary of State thereby providing greater flexibility 
to dispose of surplus land in support of local development objectives and it 
was felt that this should be supported. 

Suggested responses to the consultation exercise, which would end on 14 
January 2019, were contained in Appendix B to the report. Many of the 
changes such as the greater flexibility to dispose of surplus land were 
welcomed but there were concerns about more development taking place 
without the need to go through the planning process and the potential for 
development to change the existing mix of uses and character of areas, and 
in particular town centres. The Council could not support changes which could 
threaten the vibrancy of town centres. There was also some concern that the 
changes could result in a two tiered regime for planning consent and that the 
Council would still be responsible for residual burdens.

The Cabinet noted the provisions around the disposal of surplus land at less 
than best value but felt that there were already powers available to do this and 
that, in fact, the existing processes provided more protection for local 
authorities when disposing of surplus land for a fair price.

The Cabinet had regard to the views raised at the Cabinet Advisory Panel.

RESOLVED:

That the responses to the questions, set out in Appendix B to the report, form 
the Council’s response to the Government’s Consultation on Planning 
Reform.      

87. DRAFT LICENSING POLICY 2019-2024 

The Strategic Director (External Services) introduced the draft Licensing 
Policy 2019-2024. Licensing authorities were required to prepare and publish 
a statement of their licensing policy every five years. The current Statement of 



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

6

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Licensing Policy for Dartford was adopted on 7 January 2014 and was due to 
expire on 6 January 2019. The draft Licensing Policy was approved for 
consultation purposes by the Cabinet on 26 July 2018. Consultation had been 
carried out in accordance with national guidance. The draft policy was made 
available on the Council’s web site, at the Civic Centre and public libraries. It 
was also sent to all “responsible authorities” as defined by the Licensing Act 
2003, as well as to numerous trade associations and persons representing 
licensing businesses in the area. A comprehensive review of the draft 
Licensing policy was also undertaken by the Licensing Committee at its 
meeting on 26 September 2018. Although the Licensing Committee did not 
make a formal response to the consultation it felt that the Licensing policy 
should be supported by an additional Code of Good Practice for Licensed 
Premises to reflect the aspirations and visions of the Council as the Licensing 
Authority. No other responses were received to the consultation.

The Cabinet had regard to the views of the Cabinet Advisory Panel.

The Cabinet discussed the scope of the Code of Good Practice and received 
assurance that it was complimentary to licensing legislation. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Cabinet notes that no consultation responses were received to the 
draft Licensing Policy;

2. That the draft Licensing Policy 2019-2024 at Appendix A to the report, be 
recommended to the General Assembly of the Council for adoption, at its 
meeting on 10 December 2018; and 

3. That the draft Code of Good Practice on Promoting the Four Licensing 
Objectives in Appendix B to the report be recommended to the General 
Assembly of the Council for endorsement. 

 

88. DRAFT GAMBLING POLICY 2019-2022 

The Cabinet considered the Draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022. Licensing 
authorities were required to prepare and publish a statement of their 
Gambling policy every three years. The existing Gambling Policy for Dartford 
was adopted on 3 January 2016 and was due to expire on 2 January 2019. 
The draft Gambling Policy was approved for consultation purposes by the 
Cabinet on 26 July 2018. Consultation had been carried out in accordance 
with national guidance. The draft policy was made available on the Council’s 
web site, at the Civic Centre and public libraries. It was also sent to all 
“responsible authorities” as defined by the Gambling Act 2005, as well as to 
numerous trade associations and persons representing gambling businesses 
in the area. A comprehensive review of the draft Gambling Policy was also 
undertaken by the Licensing Committee at its meeting on 26 September 2018. 
The Licensing Committee did not make a formal response to the consultation 
but requested that two additional conditions should be added to Appendix 2 of 



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

7

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

the draft Gambling Policy relating to overt advertising and doors remaining 
closed. No other responses were received to the consultation.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Cabinet notes that no responses were received to the consultation 
on the Draft Gambling Policy 2019-2022; and

2. That the Draft Gambling Policy attached at Appendix A to the report, be 
recommended to the General Assembly of the Council for adoption.  

89. LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 2019/20 

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) presented a report which outlined 
details of proposed changes to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 
2019/20 and provided Members with the detailed results from the recent 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme consultation process and the findings from 
the revised Customer Access Review that had been carried out.

The need to change the current scheme had arisen as a result of the 
introduction of the Universal Credit Full Service (UCFS) in Dartford and the 
complexities that this would involve in calculating people’s entitlement to 
Council Tax Reduction. The current Scheme for Council Tax Reduction, which 
was completely reactive to any change to a person’s circumstances, would 
become unworkable requiring frequent and confusing adjustment and the re-
issuing of Council Tax bills. The proposed new scheme was designed to 
make the system clearer, simpler and fairer as well as being workable for 
staff. The overall cost of the scheme would be broadly the same as the 
current scheme and the changes would only be made to the scheme for 
working-age applicants as the current scheme for pensioners was prescribed 
by Central Government. The current means tested scheme would be replaced 
by a simple income grid model, which had been revised from the draft 
considered by the Cabinet in July as the ranges had proved to be too narrow 
and had therefore been widened to be as inclusive as possible and to 
minimise the impacts on applicants.  

The main features of the Scheme were outlined in paragraph 1.8 of the report.  
The new scheme included a simplified claiming process and in the case of 
Universal Credit (UC) applicants any Universal Credit data received from the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) would be treated as a claim for 
Council Tax Reduction and be processed automatically without the need to 
request further information from the tax payer. This would maximise the 
entitlement of every applicant and maintain collection rates. The new sliding 
scale income bands were sufficiently wide to avoid constant changes in 
discount and adjustment of bills. The new Scheme also contained additional 
provisions to protect individuals who experienced exceptional hardship.



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

8

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

The proposed new Scheme had been widely consulted over an eight week 
period which ended on 30 September 2018. This had included writing to all 
working-age claimants, Registered Social Landlords and third sector 
organisations and the use of a questionnaire on the council’s web site. The 
responses to the consultation were detailed in Appendix A to the report and 
overall were in favour of the proposed changes. The Council had also 
consulted with the major preceptors who had agreed the changes and the 
approach taken by the Council. If agreed by Cabinet and the General 
Assembly of the Council the new scheme would take effect from 1 April 2019.

A Member of the Cabinet Advisory Panel had questioned the need to 
introduce the new Scheme in April 2019 given that the mass migration to 
Universal Credit had now been put back to November 2020. He felt that there 
were currently many uncertainties and that by implementing the Scheme now 
the opportunity to undertake more detailed modelling was being lost. He also 
felt that the proposed income bandings were too narrow and would still 
require frequent recalculations of entitlement and that the narrowness of the 
bandings could also deter those people wanting to work additional hours.   

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained that although the timing of 
the mass migration to Universal Credit had changed, 10% of applicants had 
already moved across to the Universal Credit Full Service and that number 
would grow as any claimants with changes of income would also move 
across, as would any new applicants. The Cabinet felt that given the fact that 
10% of applicants had already moved across to Universal Credit it made 
sense to change the Scheme now rather than delaying until the mass 
migration took place. Another of the drivers behind the revised Scheme was 
to make it more simple to understand and fairer. The income bands had been 
revised from those originally proposed as a result of the consultation and on 
the basis of experience from existing caseloads. The Cabinet Advisory Panel 
had also drawn attention to the fact that the new Scheme would appear to 
have a disproportionate impact on female applicants. The Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) said that this was as a result of the decision to use an 
upper limit of two children in calculating entitlement which would impact on 
more female than male claimants. Some Members at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel had challenged the proposed reduction of the Capital Limit from 
£16,000 to £6,000. The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained that 
this was perceived to be a fairer limit and was in line with the limits in the 
Council Tax Reduction Schemes of other authorities in Kent.

The Cabinet recognised the concerns expressed at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel about the possibility of errors occurring through the importation of data 
from the Department of Works and Pensions and that it would be important for 
the Council to work sympathetically with applicants where errors were 
identified to address any mistakes.   The Council should act as an advocate 
for Universal Credit users to ensure that their information was being recorded 
and used correctly.  

The Cabinet noted the strong reservations expressed by the Labour Group at 
the Cabinet Advisory Panel about the timing and contents of the proposed 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme.



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

9

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet recommends to the General Assembly of the Council the 
adoption of the new Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019/20 with effect from 
1 April 2019.

90. ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS ADVICE NOTE 

The Head of Regeneration advised Members that Dartford had had a 
supplementary policy on Parking Standards which included electric charging 
points since 2012 but that Government Policy was moving toward reductions 
in numbers of conventional combustion engine vehicles and was encouraging 
a move towards electric vehicles which would require more charging points. 
Accordingly the Advice Note had been developed to provide greater clarity on 
the provision of charging points. This would help with uptake of electric 
vehicles and help to improve air quality. It was proposed that the 
Development Management Advice Note on Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
should be treated as a material consideration for development management 
purposes when considering any relevant planning applications. This had been 
supported by the Development Control Board at its meeting on 8 November 
2018 when the Board felt that the Advice Note should also apply to 
householders with garages and/or driveway parking who submitted 
applications for large extensions to encourage the inclusion of the provision of 
an electrical vehicle charging point. The Board had also agreed that the 
Cabinet should be asked to request that the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation should also treat the Development Management Advice Note as 
a material consideration for development management purposes when 
considering any relevant planning applications in the Borough.  

The Advice Note had been produced to provide developers with further 
information regarding the provision of electric vehicle charging points within 
developments whilst recognising that requirements varied between different 
types of development and was designed to provide flexible guidance. It took 
the very brief existing supplementary planning policy further by providing 
practical advice, clear expectations and guidance on suitable provision for 
developments. This reflected Government policy and the need to work with 
partners such as Kent County Council, developers and meeting customer 
demand both currently and in future.

The Leader of the Council highlighted the strong concerns raised at the 
Cabinet Advisory Panel about introducing advice when there were many 
technological uncertainties and emerging alternative methods for charging 
vehicles. Members had felt that there was a strong possibility of the Council 
encouraging the introduction of fixed point charging units which might quickly 
become obsolete or impractical– a ‘Betamax’ solution. Concerns had also 
been raised about the capacity of the national power grid to cope with extra 
demand.



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

10

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

The Head of Regeneration explained that the Advice Note was not 
prescriptive but sought to provide developers with helpful guidance. The 
guidance sought to address potential technological obsolescence by future-
proofing the technology. She explained that the actual charging points were 
relatively easy and cheap to update however retrofitting cabling and ducting 
was difficult and very expensive. Given the amount of development being 
undertaken it made more sense for cables and ducting to be installed during 
construction. This is what the Advice Note was seeking to assist by 
recommending the use of a Mode 3 (AC) dedicated charging system as it was 
considered to be future-proof and could incorporate future ‘smart’ capabilities 
and support induction systems.   The Leader of the Council expressed the 
view that had the report limited itself to ducting and open infrastructure it 
would have been more acceptable to Members.

The Leader of the Council sought advice on what the impact would be of 
deferring this matter to seek expert advice on the technology and was advised 
that whilst the impact would be small in the short term a longer delay would 
result in lost opportunities for developers to put the required infrastructure in 
place during construction. 

RESOLVED:

That consideration of this matter be deferred to allow technical advice to be 
obtained. 

91. NEW BUILD COUNCIL HOUSING PROJECT  - UPDATE 

The Cabinet received an update on progress made towards the Council’s 
current and future new build housing projects. Good progress was noted on 
the second phase of the project at Coleridge Road where the first phase of 
the project (8 units) would be handed over in December 2018 followed by the 
remaining units between January and April 2019 in accordance with the 
lettings plan agreed by the Cabinet in September. The development of six one 
bedroom units for rent on the former cash office at Temple Hill Square was 
also due for completion by summer 2019. Details of four potential new build 
sites for inclusion in phase 3 of the project were also reported, although these 
could be subject to change. The next stage of the process would be the 
detailed design of the sites and to seek planning permission. It was expected 
that the proposed plans would be submitted in early 2019.

The Cabinet welcomed these developments and looked forward to the next 
stages in the building programme which would seek to expand into different 
areas of the Borough. The quality of the buildings was praised and it was felt 
that this was a major benefit for Council tenants.

The Cabinet was also advised that the family of the late Councillor John 
Muckle had agreed to the building at the former cash office at Temple Hill 
being named in his honour.



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

11

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

RESOLVED:

1. That the Cabinet notes the contents of the report;

2. That the Cabinet approves the progression of the proposed new build sites 
as detailed in the report; and 

3. That delegated authority be granted to the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Housing Portfolio Holder, to award a contract to the 
successful tenderer and to progress the construction phase of the projects.

  

92. JOYDENS WOOD COMMUNITY CENTRE  - LEASE SURRENDER, GRANT 
OF A NEW LEASE AND GRANT FUNDING 

The Cabinet considered a report which proposed to provide grant funding to 
the Joydens Wood Residents’ Community Association to enable it to continue 
to provide valuable community services subject to the Association entering 
into a Service Level Agreement with the Council. The Association had 
approached the Council with a view to extending its current 20-year lease of 
the Community Centre, which was due to expire in December 2025, by 13 
years to provide a term of 20 years in order for it to be able to secure funding 
for future plans.  The Council’s Consultant Valuer had advised that the best 
way to achieve this was for the current lease to be surrendered and for a new 
20-year lease to be granted on the basis outlined in the report.

The Cabinet welcomed the work undertaken by the Residents’ Community 
Association and was informed that the Association were happy with the new 
lease and service level agreement.

RESOLVED:

1. That, subject to the Joydens Wood Residents’ Community Association 
agreeing to entering into a Service level Agreement with the Council, on 
terms to be agreed by the Consultant Valuer, the Council grant funds the 
Association the sum of £7,300 (seven thousand three hundred pounds) per 
annum, reviewable annually, in accordance with the Service Level 
Agreement; and 

2. That, subject to para. 2.1 of the report and for the reasons outlined in the 
body of the report, the Council agrees to the surrender of the current lease 
to the Joydens Wood Residents’ Community Association and that a new 20 
year lease be granted, at an annual rent of £8,800 (eight thousand eight 
hundred pounds), on terms to be agreed by the Consultant Valuer in 
consultation with the Head of Legal Services.



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

12

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

93. DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE TRANSPORT AND PUBLIC REALM 
IMPROVEMENTS 

The Cabinet received an update on progress with the Dartford Town Centre 
transport and public realm improvements since the previous report to Cabinet 
on 12 April 2018. The report presented the finalised outline design for Market 
Street, summarised progress made to date on the project and set out the 
planned progression of the scheme design, consultation and engagement and 
installation works.

The Leader of the Council welcomed the recent progress on the proposed 
improvements but said that he wished to see what advice had been received 
from Transport for London in terms of bus routing and the location of bus 
stops, and whether these would be limited to stops in Home Gardens or could 
be located elsewhere in the town. He also said that arrangements for the 
Iceland car park needed to be finalised.   

RESOLVED:

1. That the finalised outline design for Market Street, as shown at Appendix 
A to the report, be agreed as the basis for developing the detailed design 
for the Market Street Scheme, with delegated authority granted to the 
Managing Director in liaison with the Leader of the Council to agree the 
detailed design;

2. That Officers continue to liaise with bus operators to identify the most 
appropriate arrangement for bus stop provision;

3. That the Cabinet notes the proposed appointment of Amey via the KCC 
Framework to carry out the construction works for the Market Street 
Scheme; and

4. That the High Street area be added to the scope of the project, with 
Officers seeking to identify appropriate funding to this additional element. 
In the event that insufficient funding is identified, that delegated authority 
be granted to the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader of 
the Council, to meet any funding shortfall from the Council’s earmarked 
reserves.

 

94. LOCAL PLAN REVIEW - PROGRESS 

The Cabinet considered the work being undertaken to prepare a revised Local 
Plan. The Council completed the first stage in this process in July 2018 with a 
consultation on ‘Strategic Issues’ and the report detailed the outcomes of the 
consultation and associated developments that would impact on how the 
Local Plan and further consultations were taken forward. Since the last report 
to Cabinet in May 2018 the Government had published several new policies 
including the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which 
would impact on Local Plans  by increasing the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, requiring Strategic policies to plan 15 years ahead 



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

13

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

from their implementation date and that Statements of Common Ground 
should be agreed with other bodies and local authorities in order to justify 
Local Plans that cover an individual local authority. The NPPF would be a 
central consideration in preparing the Local Plan. Since May the Council had 
also adopted the Framework Supplementary Planning Document for Dartford 
Town Centre which would help to deliver the aspirations of the current Local 
Plan and stimulate further opportunities for investment in the town. The 
Thames Estuary Growth Commission had also reported in the summer with its 
“2050 Vision” which included a medical campus at central Ebbsfleet and the 
extension of Crossrail 1 eastwards from Abbey Wood. The Council and its 
strategic partners (including London Borough of Bexley and the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation) had prepared a Strategic Outline Business Case in 
support of a full examination of the potential extension of Crossrail to 
Dartford/Ebbsfleet.

The report detailed the principal outcomes of the Local Plan ‘Strategic Issues’ 
Consultation. There had been strong support for continuing focus on 
development in the north of the Borough to protect the Green Belt and support 
regeneration of the urban area including Dartford Town Centre. The high level 
strategy for the overall distribution of development in Dartford had also been 
broadly accepted as was the pressing requirement to plan for a range of 
transport improvements. The consultation also suggested a need to confirm 
the future approach to a number of key themes including the scope of the 
content of the Local Plan, the approach to parts of the north of the Borough 
where development was not occurring as planned or where new proposals 
were coming forward, partnership working and funding for infrastructure and 
achieving efficient use of land in the local context. Responses to the 
consultation from the London Borough of Bexley and Sevenoaks and 
Gravesham Councils were also reported.  Moving forward it was clear that 
further technical evidence would be needed to support Local Plans and work 
was being undertaken to develop a suitable evidence base. The Council was 
also refreshing its Brownfield Land Register and its Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA). The next stages in the development of the 
Local Plan, including further public consultation in summer 2019 and early 
2020 were outlined.

The Leader of the Council sought clarification on whether certain SHLAA 
sites, which were clearly contrary to the Council’s policy of not permitting 
development on ‘green belt’ land, could be rejected now. The Head of 
Regeneration explained that in view of Government guidance the assessment 
of SHLAA sites had to be undertaken through a robust process. It was not 
possible to eliminate Green Belt sites at this stage before this assessment 
had been carried out. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the responses to the Strategic Issues Local Plan consultation, 
including summaries at paragraphs 4.2 and 4.3 and Appendix A to the 
report, be used to inform the next stage in the preparation of the Local 
Plan;



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

14

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

2. That the Local Plan evidence base position, summarised at paragraphs 5.1 
to 6.5 in the report, including ongoing technical work for the Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) refresh be used to inform 
the next stage in the preparation of the Local Plan; and

3. That the Council’s Five Year Housing Land Supply detailed in Appendix B 
to the report be approved for publication.

95. ORCHARD THEATRE AUDITORIUM REFURBISHMENT 

The Cabinet received a report which detailed proposed refurbishment works 
to the Orchard Theatre auditorium in the summer of 2019. The theatre 
operator, HQ Theatres wished to improve the customer experience and 
generate increased revenue through the improvements which would include 
the replacement of all of the seats and increasing capacity by c.80 seats, 
redecoration, improving sightlines of the stage and enhancements to venue 
flexibility and accessibility. It was proposed that the Council, as the owner of 
the theatre, would undertake the works at a cost of around £490,000 as part 
of the capital Programme for 2019/20. Following completion of the works it 
was anticipated that additional revenue would arise and HQ Theatres had 
agreed to adjust their annual management fee downward to reflect this.

The Cabinet sought, and received, clarification on the likely level of the 
adjustment to the management fee and noted that the refurbishment would 
open up new performance opportunities and a greater likelihood of touring 
productions visiting the theatre. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Cabinet approves the funding of the refurbishment of the 
auditorium at an approximate cost of £490,000 subject to funding for the 
works being agreed as part of the Capital Programme for 2019/20; and

2. That the Cabinet agrees that the annual payment to HQ theatres be 
adjusted as a result of the Council undertaking the works.

96. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS 

The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the proposed financial 
contributions to be made by the Council to Parish and Town Councils in 
2019/20 and the continuation of the Capacity Building Fund.

RESOLVED:

1. That, subject to recommendation 2 below, the Council, under the provisions 
of Section 136 of the Local Government Act 1972, make the following 
contributions towards the expenses of Parish and Town Councils’ 
concurrent functions in 2019/20:



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

15

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Bean £666
Darenth £1,464
Longfield £1,225
Southfleet £0
Stone £4,151
Sutton at Hone and Hawley £1,752
Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe £5,440
Wilmington £2,655

2. That the contributions be made subject to the Parish and Town Councils 
submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net expenditure for the 
ensuing year by 31 January each year, and actual net expenditure for the 
preceding year no later than six months after the end of each financial year, 
in a format prescribed by the Council;

3. That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 30 April 
(or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 September (or next 
working day) or seven days following receipt of the Parish or Town 
Councils’ 2018/19 accounts, certified as correct by their Clerks;

4. That the Council continues to operate the Capacity Building Fund and 
makes a contribution of £40,000 into the fund in 2019/20;

5. That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy 
Leader of the Council, be granted delegated authority to agree the Capacity 
Building Fund bidding criteria and approval of awards through a Grants 
Panel process; and

6. That the Council make the following contributions to Parish and Town 
Councils to compensate for lost council tax income in local areas for the 
introduction of the council tax support scheme:

Bean £334
Darenth £1,923
Longfield £631
Southfleet £198
Stone £7,021
Sutton at Hone and Hawley £1,737
Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe £14,435
Wilmington £1,317



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

16

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

97. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2018/19 - PROJECTED OUTTURN AND 
2019/20 BUDGET PROCESS 

The Cabinet considered a report which presented the projected outturns on 
the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account, detailed the reasons for 
significant variances and sought approval for the budget setting process for 
2019/20.

The Cabinet had regard to the comments made at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel.

RESOLVED:

1. That the projected outturn position for the General Fund and the Housing 
Revenue Account be noted; and

2. That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to determine 
and publish the 2019/20 draft budget, in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and the Finance Portfolio Holder prior to the budget being 
presented to the General Assembly of the Council for approval in February 
2019.  

98. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - EASTERN QUARRY PHASE 5, 
PARCEL 1 

The Cabinet received a report which proposed a new road name for Phase 5 
(Parcel I) of the Eastern Quarry development and described the consultation 
process and alternative names considered. It was proposed to name the road  
Norman Lane in line with the approach taken to naming surrounding roads 
which had been named to reflect the link to the Norman built castle which 
once stood on the site.

RESOLVED:

That the new road name for Phase 5 (Parcel I) of the Eastern Quarry 
development be approved as Norman Lane.

  

99. CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET MONITORING 2018/19 - PROGRESS 
AND PROJECTED OUTTURN 

The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the progress to date on the 
schemes in the approved Capital Programme and the latest position on 
capital resources.

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2018/19 Capital 
Programme.



CABINET
THURSDAY 6 DECEMBER 2018

17

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

100. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

The Cabinet considered a report which provided details of the latest set of 
Corporate Plan key actions and performance indicators for the second quarter 
of 2018/19.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the key action and performance indicator monitoring 
reports attached at Appendices A and B to the report be noted.

Councillor J A Kite MBE
CHAIRMAN





CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

CONSULTATION ON SEVENOAKS LOCAL PLAN REGULATION 19 
PROPOSED SUBMISSION VERSION

1. Summary

1.1 Sevenoaks District Council has consulted the Council on the proposed 
submission version of the Sevenoaks Local Plan.  An earlier consultation included 
potential proposals for large scale residential development at Fawkham/ Hartley 
and at Pedham Place, Swanley.  The results of the earlier consultation have been 
taken into account and parts of the Plan have been amended by Sevenoaks 
District Council.  Appendix C sets out the proposed responses to the consultation.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Council’s response, as set out in Appendix C to the report, to the 
Sevenoaks Proposed Submission Local Plan, be endorsed.

3. Background and Discussion 

3.1. Sevenoaks District Council (SDC) is consulting on its proposed 
submission Local Plan from 18 December 2018 to 3 February 2019.  
This is available for inspection in the Members’ Room and electronically 
using the following link: www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/localplansubmission.  
This follows earlier Local Plan consultations on which Dartford Borough 
submitted officer level comments.

3.2. The most recent consultation by SDC was on its draft Local Plan from 
July to September 2018.  The key points that Dartford made on the last 
consultation (see Appendix A) can be summarised as follows:
 Further consideration should be given to the housing delivery options 

of a large urban extension/ new settlement, Green Belt land near 
transportation hubs, and intensification of supply in urban areas.

 The two potential large residential sites in Hartley/ Fawkham – 
Corinthians Sports Club and land at Banckside – could lead to a 
coalescence of separate villages and have a significant impact on 
Longfield’s local road network, rail service capacity, GP surgery and 
schools.

 The potential residential and employment sites at Pedham Place, 
Swanley, are separated from Swanley by the M25 and the M20/ A20 
which means that the site appears to be more of a new settlement 
proposal than an urban extension of Swanley.  It is unclear what 
infrastructure would be provided to support the development and it is 
assumed that significant out of Borough travel would result.

 There need to be assessments of the proposals on the road network, 
public transport provision, health provision, and primary and 
secondary school provision, including impacts on infrastructure in 
Dartford Borough.  They could have significant impacts on the Green 
Belt.



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

 Consideration should be given as to whether the projected growth in 
the population of Sevenoaks will give rise to the need for additional 
secondary schools in the future.  It is noted that Oasis Academy in 
Hextable closed in 2016 and is now proposed for residential 
development.

 The use of a local definition of brownfield land directs development 
to less sustainable locations that lack supporting infrastructure and 
have poor public transport accessibility.  Some of the proposed 
brownfield Green Belt sites are not in sustainable locations.

3.3. Notably, the residential sites at Hartley/Fawkham have been removed 
from the Proposed Submission Local Plan.  The proposal at Pedham 
Place is to be reconsidered at the first plan review in five years’ time.  
Concerns about the loss of Oasis Academy as a school site, in 
circumstances where a secondary school is likely to be necessary, 
remain.  The lack of an Infrastructure Delivery Plan to date is also a 
cause for concern. However, this may be made available prior to 
submission of the Plan.

3.4. The results of SDC’s draft Local Plan consultation, agreement to publish 
the proposed submission Local Plan and next steps were reported to 
Sevenoaks District’s Cabinet on 6 December 2018 (Appendix B).  
Dartford Council’s proposed responses to this are set out in Appendix C.

Duty to Co-operate

3.5. Local planning authorities are under a duty to co-operate with each other 
on strategic matters that cross administrative boundaries.  The Plan 
makes a number of references to this.  In particular, it refers to the fact 
that none of the Duty to Co-operate discussions or processes that have 
taken place to date have led to neighbouring authorities (including 
Dartford Borough Council) being able to assist Sevenoaks with unmet 
housing, gypsy and traveller, or employment land needs.  Dartford 
Council would agree that the relevant references in this regard are 
correct.

3.6. Government guidance on meeting unmet need from neighbouring 
authorities is very limited.  However, it is considered that in order for this 
Council to accept the need from another authority, it should be 
demonstrated that it would, in reality, address housing needs from the 
authority where the need arises.  This would normally be demonstrated 
by historic population flows from whence the need arises to the Dartford 
Borough area.  Furthermore, it is considered that some contribution 
should be made to the provision of additional infrastructure which the 
additional housing development would give rise to.  SDC has not 
addressed either of these points.

Strategic Growth and Density

3.7. The need for housing in Sevenoaks, as measured/ assessed according 
to the national standardised methodology, is 13,960 homes.  The 



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

Proposed Submission Local Plan has identified capacity for 10,568 
homes (a figure which includes the proposed broad location for growth 
at Pedham Place).  Therefore, it is 3,392 homes short of meeting local 
housing need.  Meeting the need in full is particularly challenging for 
Sevenoaks since 93% of the area is Green Belt.  In order to go some 
way towards meeting the need, Green Belt options have had to be 
explored and taken forward by the Council.  The Council has followed 
national guidance in determining which areas of Green Belt might be 
released, with urban locations and intensification being explored as first 
options.  Therefore, as a general principle, there can be no objection to 
limited loss of Green Belt, particularly where it is on brownfield land and 
sustainably located.

3.8. In relation to housing delivery options, SDC has investigated all 
previously developed sites, including capacity in built up areas.  They 
are also proposing an ‘optimum’ approach to development density.  This 
information is contained in a number of evidence base documents and 
will be compiled into a single report.

3.9. Policy ST1 focusses development within the four towns within 
Sevenoaks District (including Swanley) but also allows the re-use of 
previously developed ‘brownfield’ land in the Green Belt in sustainable 
locations, the release of Green Belt in ‘exceptional circumstances’ and 
the removal of sites from the Green Belt where required social and 
community infrastructure is provided.  It is recommended that Dartford 
supports this approach subject to large scale releases of land from the 
Green Belt being informed by potential impacts on the road network and 
being supported by appropriate infrastructure.

3.10. Policy H5 seeks to make the most efficient use of land and expects new 
development to be delivered at higher average densities.  It will also 
allow for development at higher densities than the surrounding area 
where it is well served by public transport, walking and cycling routes, 
local services and community facilities.  It is recommended that Dartford 
supports this approach which will reduce the need for the release of 
further Green Belt land.

Site Allocations

3.11. The site allocations are set out in policy ST2 of the Plan.  In relation to 
the two previously proposed large sites at Hartley/Fawkham, the 
infrastructure proposals were not supported by the relevant providers 
and the scheme would have an unacceptable impact on the highway 
network.  For these reasons, these sites have been removed from the 
proposed submission Local Plan.

3.12. The Plan has retained the land at Pedham Place as a broad location for 
growth suitable for around 2,500 dwellings (policy ST2).  The Cabinet 
report indicates that further consideration will be given to its release from 
the Green Belt when the Plan is next reviewed in 2020/2025.  The Site 



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

Appraisal includes the responses from infrastructure providers.  This 
indicates that:
 a transport assessment is required;
 accessibility between the site and Swanley Centre is likely to be a 

problem, especially for walking and cycling;
 a new 8FE secondary school will be needed for the students 

generated by the housing developments being proposed in the 
northern half of the district; and

 the preferred location for a new secondary school is in the Pedham 
Place development.

It is recommended that Dartford supports this approach subject to the 
essential and timely provision of facilities and sustainable transport 
measures to ensure that the development of this site does not adversely 
impact on the transport network and secondary schools in Dartford.

3.13. Members may wish to note that the proposed employment site at 
Pedham Place has been removed.

3.14. The former Oasis Academy site in Hextable is retained as a site 
allocation for residential development for 190 dwellings.  The Site 
Appraisal indicates that KCC Education have not yet determined the 
disposition of this site and that any development proposals must address 
the loss of school facilities, an issue on which Dartford would agree.  
There is as yet no certainty on whether or when the Pedham Place 
proposals, which are to include a secondary school, will come forward.  
In these circumstances, redevelopment of an existing school site, which 
could meet the need for secondary school places in a timely manner, is 
considered premature.

3.15. The Plan continues to include a local definition of brownfield land and 
there are a number of residential sites allocated on the basis that they 
are located on ‘brownfield’ land in the Green Belt.  A number of these 
appear to be in relatively isolated locations, e.g. Gills Farm, South 
Darenth, so it is recommended that Dartford questions the extent to 
which they comply with policy ST1.

Transport and Infrastructure

3.16. Policy T1 commits to mitigating any adverse travel impacts created by 
new developments and sets out the requirement that infrastructure is 
phased and provided to meet the requirements arising from new 
development.  It is recommended that Dartford supports this proposed 
approach.  The policy refers to an Infrastructure Delivery Plan but this 
does not appear to be available for comment which is disappointing 
given that proposed developments in the north of Sevenoaks District 
have the potential to impact on the transport network and secondary 
schools in Dartford.

3.17. It is noted that a Transport Assessment has been produced.  For the 
proposed residential development at Pedham Place, the Transport 
Assessment concludes that significant investment in bold new 



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

pedestrian and cycle facilities will be required in order for the 
development to be accessible by modes other than the private car, an 
issue on which Dartford would agree.

3.18. The proposed response refers to the fact that some secondary schools 
in Dartford serve pupils living in parts of Sevenoaks District.  As set out 
in paragraph 3.12 above, the proposals in the northern half of the district 
will generate a need for new secondary school provision.  The preferred 
location of this is Pedham Place but this is not likely to be implemented 
until after the Plan has been reviewed.  It is proposed to make the point 
that Dartford Borough Council would like to understand how the 
secondary school needs arising in this part of Sevenoaks District in the 
first five years of the Plan period are proposed to be met.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan includes a number of relevant strategic 
aims:

 To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air 
quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel options

 To create strong and self-reliant communities

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None.

Legal Implications None.

Staffing Implications None.

Administrative 
Implications

None.

Risk Assessment None.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Dartford officer response on the Sevenoaks draft Local 
Plan July 2018
Appendix B – Sevenoaks District Council’s Cabinet Report 6 December 
2018
Appendix C – Dartford Borough Council’s proposed response to the 
Sevenoaks Proposed Submission Local Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

Andrea Wright
(01322) 343060

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration 

N/A



1 

 
Regeneration Services 
 
 
 

 

 

Hannah Gooden 

Planning Policy Team Leader 

Sevenoaks District Council 

Argyle Road 

Sevenoaks 

Kent TN13 1HG 

 

 

 

Please ask for: Andrea Wright 

Direct Line: 01322 343213 

Email: ldf@dartford.gov.uk 

Our Ref: SDC/Local Plan/PO2018 

 

Date: 10 September 2018 

 

 
 
Dear Hannah 
 
Sevenoaks District Council Draft Local Plan Consultation July 2018 
 
Thank you for consulting Dartford Borough Council on Sevenoaks District Council’s Draft Local 
Plan.  I note that we previously responded to the Issues & Options consultation in a letter dated 
5 October 2017 and I will refer to this where relevant. 
 
In commenting on the Sevenoaks Plan, we appreciate the choices your authority needs to make, 
and note the ambition to produce a draft Plan early next year.  The comments are intended in a 
spirit of co-operation and working together with you on the issues that have cross-boundary 
impacts.  This is particularly the case in considering infrastructure demand and also the integrity 
of the wider Green Belt which surrounds London.   
 
Dartford’s adopted Core Strategy 2011 seeks to promote growth and sustainable urban 
regeneration through the development of new communities in the north of the Borough whilst 
protecting the character of villages and the Green Belt in the south of the Borough.  The growth 
in the north of the Borough is being delivered, especially at sites north of Dartford town centre 
and at Ebbsfleet.  Dartford’s Development Policies Plan was adopted in July 2017 to augment 
and support the policies in the Core Strategy.  The Dartford Town Centre Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document was adopted in July 2018 to help kick-start delivery at some 
of the opportunity sites in the town centre. 
 
We are now working on a new Local Plan for Dartford.  In this respect, we carried out a 
consultation on Strategic Issues between 8 June 2018 and 20 July 2018.  We welcome the 
comments made by Sevenoaks District on this. 
 
Policy 1 Strategy – Comments: 
 
1. Constraints, Options and Future Growth 

 
We understand the challenges and constraints faced by Sevenoaks District in planning for 
future growth, with extensive designations of Green Belt and Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty.  We note the evidence produced so far that could inform the production of a suitable 
strategy and identify sites to meet its future needs. We have considered available information 
in relation to the overview of spatial options at this stage, for example through the 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) process that begins to test options including on the quantum of 
residential development (notably Options 2 and 3).  
 

Appendix A



2 

We previously made comments about the discounting of the options for housing delivery 
through a large urban extension/new settlement (option H4) and on Green Belt land near 
transportation hubs (option H5).  We felt that these options, intensification and additional 
longer term sources of housing in general should be considered and tested further.   
 
The SA states that a number of sites falling under option H4 have been submitted and will be 
assessed as part of an updated SHELAA in 2018.  This also states that option H5 will be 
considered in more detail once the Government provides additional clarification as to what 
constitutes a transport hub and as further local evidence is gathered.  Government guidance, 
including NPPF Chapter 11, does not act as any impediment in assessing this option.   
 
Further consideration should be given to these options in light of the need for 13,960 new 
homes in Sevenoaks District by 2035 and the fact that the table on page 32/33 indicates that 
a range of 6,600-13,400 housing units could be achieved (lower than the required amount), 
with the higher number only possible if all of the exceptional circumstances sites are included.  
This is based on specific sites but may not capture intensification sources of additional supply 
in full.  Therefore, the consideration of additional options is considered necessary, particularly 
as some of the identified options may not materialise. 
 
Final proposals in the whole Plan should be based on properly capturing and considering all 
reasonable alternatives.  Care should be taken that such alternatives are not unduly narrowly 
limited to the assumptions of the submitted sites/ SHLAA led process, for example taking full 
account an optimal density led approach at urban and other sustainable locations.  
 
It is apparent that there remains the need for much further evidence gathering on major 
proposals and key decisions to be made to draw together the sometimes conflicting direction 
of travel indicated through individual studies.  We await this with interest, especially full 
consideration of future alternative options assessment and work through the SA on the level 
of housing growth.  
 
As a general comment, we think it would be helpful if there was more clarification given to 
terms used in the policy such as “sustainable locations” and “moderate development.”  This 
is to ensure that development takes place in locations with access to services, facilities and 
public transport and that development is appropriate to the size and character of settlements.  
It is important that the arising demand and impacts of development on services and the road 
network, including those within Dartford Borough, is thoroughly assessed and this is 
discussed in more detail under point 8 below.  This should take into account cumulative 
growth demand, consistency of provision on both sides of the authority boundaries, and 
opportunities for collaborative working. 
 

2. Focus on Towns 
 
We welcome, in principle, the approach to focus development within the boundaries of 
existing towns, including building at higher densities, as this is where most services and 
facilities are located and will reduce the need to travel by private car. Given the emphasis of 
the new NPPF of optimising the use of land through an uplift in density (Chapter 11 in 
particular paragraph 123) additional sensitivity testing of different urban density options would 
help inform the extent to which it could assist in meeting the District’s housing needs.    
 

 
Policy 2 Site Allocations – Comments: 
 

3. Hartley/Fawkham 
 
Corinthians Sports Club (MX52) and land between Parkfield and Fawkham Road, 
Fawkham/Hartley (MX53) – The proposals could result in around 800 dwellings being 
developed adjoining Hartley and Fawkham, which lie immediately adjacent to the settlement 
of Longfield within Dartford Borough.   



3 

 
There is a serious concern that the proposals could lead in time to a coalescence of separate 
villages, including Longfield (in Dartford), Hartley, New Ash Green and Fawkham, significantly 
undermining the integrity of the Green Belt.  A very significant continuous built-up area would 
be created across a large swathe of what is currently Green Belt punctuated by villages.  This 
is due to the proximity of these settlements to each other.  Nonetheless, they currently have 
discrete identities and a rural feel.  The proposals would likely result in indefensible Green 
Belt boundaries leading to a suburbanisation of the area and significant urban sprawl.   
 
The addition of 800 new homes to the existing settlements is unlikely to enable the provision 
of sufficient services and infrastructure to match the requirements of the size of settlement 
arising from the agglomeration of currently separate villages.  The current form of 
development in these villages, each with its own lower order centre, would with coalescence, 
result in an extended low density built up area of a geographic size exceeding the largest 
urban settlements within Sevenoaks and Dartford but without the sustainability benefits and 
higher order facilities that a compact form of development of this extent would normally 
provide.   
 
As a result of the lower order service provision and the low density of the settlement, travel is 
likely to be predominantly car-based.  This is notwithstanding the presence of Longfield 
Station, which is only walkable from the northern end of the potential extended settlement.    
The existing network of narrow country roads required to access higher order facilities and 
the strategic road network is unsuited to additional significant demand from new development.   
 
Potential new development would also give rise to parking pressures in and around Longfield 
Station.  Without additional provision adjacent to the station, which cannot easily be 
accommodated on the Dartford side where the main station entrance is, the parking demand 
will impact on residential roads within the vicinity of the station.  These pressures are already 
apparent in residential streets in Longfield, close to the station but will extend yet further with 
additional development.   
 
Longfield is a rural service centre which has a district shopping centre, railway station, GP 
surgery, secondary school and primary school, serving surrounding settlements including 
Hartley.  The scale of additional development proposed could have a significant impact on 
Longfield’s local road network, rail service capacity, GP surgery and schools in particular.  We 
note that Hartley does not currently have a GP surgery or secondary school and would rely 
on rail services from Longfield station.  We note from Appendix 1 that the development of this 
site will only be permitted where it is linked to the timely provision of evidenced infrastructure 
and supported by a transport assessment.  We would need to see the results of this work to 
understand the potential impacts of the proposals on Longfield. 
 
In terms of local impacts, it is noted that consultant work commissioned by Sevenoaks has 
identified a landscape impact at the higher end (“moderate”) versus other sites.  
 

4. Pedham Place, Swanley (MX48 and EM4) 

 

These adjacent sites are proposed for around 2,500 residential units, employment (also under 

policy 13) and other uses.  It is acknowledged the land is greenfield but primarily only in use 

as a golf course. However the land is designated AONB and great weight should be given to 

its conservation and enhancement.  

 

Whilst the SA assesses the strategic options on the basis that the ‘exceptional circumstances’ 

sites are close to existing settlements which allow easy access to existing services and 

facilities and reducing the need to travel, sites MX48 and EM4 are located to the east of the 

M25 and south of the A20.  Given the major physical barrier of the M25 and M20/A20, this 

site appears to be more of a new settlement proposal in its own right rather than a logical 



4 

urban extension of Swanley (unlike the other Swanley ‘exceptional circumstances’ site).  

Therefore, proportionately greater information would be expected for this location, including 

over whether it is capable of viably delivering and sustaining higher order public transport and 

‘town level’ facilities, such as a secondary school and health facility within the development 

itself.  NPPF paragraph 72 notes the potential need to work with other authorities on larger 

scale proposals.  

 

Without reassurance on these matters, it is currently assumed that significant out of Borough 

travel will result, and that this will be largely on the motorway network, with the M25 at Junction 

3 (Swanley junction) frequently being subject to lengthy tail-backs and congestion from the 

Dartford Crossing.  It is noted that the Swanley transport work published does not appear to 

extend east of the M25 in the vicinity of this site. 

 

5. Infrastructure 
 
Our previous response referred to the close proximity of Swanley to Dartford and the cross-
boundary functional and organisation connections between them (including the shared 
Clinical Commissioning Group).  Whilst it is understood that the ‘exceptional circumstances’ 
sites are being tested and included in the consultation for comment, policy 2 indicates that a 
significant level of development is proposed on the sites referred to above in Swanley and 
Hartley, and a number of sites are also proposed in Hextable.  Whilst new development has 
the potential to support services and facilities, we consider that it is essential that 
assessments of the proposals on the road network, public transport provision, health 
provision, and primary and secondary school provision (catchments, school capacity etc), 
including impacts on infrastructure in Dartford Borough, are carried out and that suitable 
measures are put in place to mitigate the impacts of development on these services.  
 
We would like the opportunity to comment on these infrastructure assessments.  In addition, 
it is essential that these assessments provide the basis for identification of additional/new 
facilities and locations, including opportunities for infrastructure that has potential to meet 
demand arising in both boroughs.   
 

6. Secondary Schools 

 
We understand that some secondary schools in Dartford serve pupils living in parts of 
Sevenoaks District.  Some of these schools (e.g. Wilmington Grammar Boys/Girls, Longfield 
Academy, Wilmington Academy) are located in the Green Belt and any extensions need to 
be justified under national and local Green Belt policies.  We note that Oasis Academy in 
Hextable closed in 2016 and the site is now proposed for residential development (HO225).  
Particularly taking into account recent proposals to extend schools in Wilmington due to 
demand, we consider that the loss of this site to a school use will place additional pressure 
on existing schools, including those within Dartford. Consideration should be given as to 
whether the projected growth in Sevenoaks population will give rise to the need for additional 
secondary schools in the future and, therefore, whether this site should be retained for future 
re-use for this purpose or other community facilities. 
 

 
7. Green Belt ‘Exceptional Circumstances’ sites 

 
We note that Sevenoaks needs to consider options for meeting its housing and employment 
needs by releasing larger areas of greenfield land in the Green Belt.  This is proposed through 
allowing development in ‘exceptional circumstances’ which should be where employment, key 
services and facilities and a range of transport options are or will be available and where sites 
will provide social and community infrastructure to meet the area’s needs.  This is in 
accordance with paragraphs 72 and 102 of the NPPF and as an approach to work up 



5 

alongside others, e.g. urban intensification, we do not object to the stated aim of this option.  
However evidence will need to clearly show that the locations chosen will genuinely provide 
good access to a range of sustainable transport modes (including walking, cycling and public 
transport) and that adequate infrastructure is available or will be provided.  This will be 
essential to the assessment of alternative potential sources of housing supply expected as 
part of the final SA. 
 
It is clear from the table on pages 25-30 that most of the ‘exceptional circumstances’ sites are 
located in the broad vicinity of the towns identified in the settlement hierarchy as being 
sustainable due to their population size, potential access to services and transport 
connections and this approach is supported.  However, some of the sites are in the vicinity of 
settlements which are lower down the settlement hierarchy, e.g. Fawkham/Hartley.  As noted 
above, these do not have access to the same level of services and public transport provision 
as the towns and this will result in greater dependency on car travel.   
 

The release of larger areas can also have the potential for significant impacts on the 
Green Belt and we note that the Green Belt Assessment has assessed different 
parcels of land against the purposes of the Green Belt contained in the NPPF.  
Paragraph 139 of the NPPF sets out a list of criteria for defining Green Belt boundaries 
which include the need to demonstrate that Green Belt boundaries will not need to be 
altered at the end of the plan period and the need to define boundaries clearly, using 
physical features that are readily recognisable and likely to be permanent.  It does not 
appear that all the proposed sites wholly follow clearly defined boundaries. 
 
Whilst the sentiment behind the headline statements that ‘the (greenfield) Green Belt will be 
protected’ is understood, we consider that a synthesis of the various studies is needed to 
enable comparison of the alternative options and their relative sustainability.   Hopefully this 
will become clearer before the publication stage with provision of further information or 
through SA.  
 
 

8. ‘Brownfield’ Land in the Green Belt 

 
Whilst we would generally support the use of previously developed land in sustainable 
locations, we previously raised the point that using a local definition of ‘brownfield’ land which 
does not include the exceptions contained in the NPPF definition could raise issues of plan 
soundness.  Dartford considers that encouraging garden land outside built up areas as a 
source of strategic housing land supply identified through the Local Plan undermines the 
principle of sustainable development by directing development to less sustainable locations 
that lack supporting infrastructure and have poor public transport accessibility.  Whilst the 
NPPF does not preclude the development of garden land outside built-up areas, there are 
particular tests that need to be applied in the Green Belt and this can only be done on a case 
by case basis and not as part of a strategic approach.  We note from the table on page 32 
that locally defined brownfield land is likely to yield approximately 276 dwellings over the plan 
period but it is not clear if any of the sites comprise garden land outside built up areas. 
 
 

9. Duty to Cooperate 

 
We support continuing discussions with Sevenoaks Council as a neighbouring authority.  
Dartford and Sevenoaks currently enjoy an existing positive relationship whereby issues in 
relation to the Duty to Cooperate are discussed on an active and ongoing basis at officer level 
through various forums.  Dartford has previously published its Duty to Cooperate Protocol 
which sets out a framework and possible actions for ongoing discussion and engagement.  
This protocol could be engaged more formally as the Sevenoaks Local Plan progresses to 
the next stage, through member level engagement and discussion.  A broad framework for 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/210475/10-Protocol-for-action-and-communication-Nov15.pdf


6 

collective Sevenoaks – Dartford issues was also documented for Dartford’s Development 
Policies Plan examination (Adopted 2017). 
 
Discussions to date have focussed on general mutual areas of interest plus the greater extent 
in Sevenoaks than Dartford of designations such as Green Belt and (especially) Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, and associated challenges in meeting housing needs; and broad 
infrastructure issues.  We note that Sevenoaks have stated: “it may not be possible to meet 
our own OAN in full within the District” (in response to our own recent first Local Plan 
consultation).  This and discussions so far provide only limited certainty to Dartford and others, 
therefore next Duty to Cooperate steps will require clarification.  It was understood after 
discussion in late 2017 (28th November) that Sevenoaks would be investigating linkages/ 
cross boundary infrastructure issues further through officer work.  For example there are 
functional connections in terms of the M25 and aspects of education/ health.  Moreover, 
reflection of actions arising from new national policy will be necessary. 
 
In terms of the question of the potential to accommodate some of the identified need for 
development, we note that paragraph 1.8 and the Glossary refer to Sevenoaks District being 
within the West Kent Housing Market Area, along with Tonbridge and Malling Borough, and 
Tunbridge Wells Borough.  This is consistent with the fact that Dartford’s growth is in the north 
of the Borough whereas Sevenoaks District lies to the south of us, ‘beyond’ the metropolitan 
Green Belt; this, along with issues above, may require review in the context of the new NPPF. 
 

10. ‘Brownfield’ Green Belt sites 

 
We are concerned that some of the proposed ‘brownfield’ Green Belt sites are not in 
accordance with policy 1 as they are not in sustainable locations, e.g. Gills Farm, South 
Darenth (HO127) is an isolated site in the countryside. 

 
 

 
Policy 7 Transport & Infrastructure – Comments: 
 
11. Transport 

 
We support the commitment by Sevenoaks to work in partnership with Kent County Council 
and Highways England to mitigate the adverse travel impacts created by new developments.  
It would be useful if Dartford were given access to any transport assessment work carried out 
for larger developments proposed in the Swanley and Hartley areas as these could have an 
impact on local road networks in Dartford Borough.  The policy includes reference to 
improving cycle routes but there is no specific reference in the policy to improving public 
transport and provision for pedestrians.  In order to ensure that all sustainable transport 
modes are catered for in new development, it is considered that these should be included.   
 
Given the level of development that is required in Sevenoaks, it may be necessary to promote 
specific sustainable transport measures which will achieve modal shift for residents of both 
existing areas and new developments, to reduce dependency on car travel for local journeys.  
The critical issue will, however, be to locate development in appropriate locations which can 
facilitate modal shift.  It is evident that in locations such as Hartley, where narrow country 
roads make walking or cycling improvements difficult to implement, the potential for modal 
shift is decreased. 
 

12. Infrastructure Delivery 
 
We support that developers will be required to provide infrastructure to meet the needs arising 
from development and the use of CIL to help fund strategic infrastructure.  With regard to 
direct provision of infrastructure, the potential for this to happen in reality needs to be carefully 
considered.  It is our experience that service commissioners are now seeking to optimise 



7 

services and finances through larger scale ‘hub’ type developments.  Close liaison with 
providers is required in this regard.  Both Sevenoaks and Dartford are CIL charging authorities 
and we note that regulation 59 (3) of the CIL Regulations allows a charging authority to apply 
CIL to funding infrastructure outside its area where to do so would support the development 
of its areas.  Depending on the outcomes of the infrastructure assessments, it may be 
necessary for Sevenoaks and Dartford to work together on the application of CIL to provide 
infrastructure which supports the development in both Boroughs. 

 
Summary of Dartford’s Position 
 
This consultation is a step forward and some useful additional information has been released, but 
as per the previous consultation stage, significant uncertainties remain.  Most apparent of these 
is the variation within the possible level of house building put forward (the higher figure being 
more than double the lower).  
 
The proposed approach appears to be led by extensive previous public consultation, which is of 
course welcome.   However, it is noted that this only forms a limited part of the tests for soundness 
facing the Local Plan and other considerations including national policy, justifying technical 
evidence and addressing the Duty to Cooperate also apply.  Although recognised to be still at 
public consultation stage, looking at all the published documentation, it appears only limited clarity 
on the proposals likely to feature in the final Local Plan is available.  This may present a challenge 
to infrastructure agencies and service providers in the area, and adjoining authorities, in planning 
ahead.  Dartford therefore reserves its final opinion and would welcome further information. 
 
There are requirements in the new NPPF that are relevant in many key respects for Sevenoaks, 
including: 
 

 Examining all other reasonable options for meeting housing need “before concluding that 

exceptional circumstances exist to justify changes to Green Belt boundaries” (paragraph 

137),  

 The use of density to make optimal use of the potential of each site “where there is an 

existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting identified housing needs” (paragraph 

123(a). 

In summary, the key points that we have made above are: 
 

 It is hard on the documentation released at present to consider the overall spatial 
alternatives for Sevenoaks that would meet its housing need.  Consideration should be 
given to the options including a large urban extension/new settlement and developing 
near transportation hubs, and varying degrees of urban intensification. 

 Specific concerns are raised about the two proposed sites at Hartley/Fawkham  

 Further assessment and sharing of information is required in respect of the proposed site 
at Pedham Place, Swanley to provide certainty that this can be developed as a 
sustainable location  

 The cumulative impacts of the proposed sites on infrastructure, including cross boundary 
impacts on Dartford, need to be assessed, with assessment proportionate to the scale of 
proposed development. 

 It is questionable currently to what extent some of the proposed sites would be in 
genuinely sustainable locations or are capable of being fully achieved at locations made 
sustainable through new development and infrastructure. 

 Further clarity is sought under the Duty to Cooperate, particularly over how housing and 
infrastructure needs are to be addressed within Sevenoaks, and if there are considered 
to be any major implications for future Dartford Local Plans.  

 For ‘exceptional circumstances’ sites, consideration needs to be given to evidence and 
impacts on the Green Belt and the need for permanent, clearly defined boundaries. 

 



8 

I hope you find these comments helpful and constructive, and we look forward to continuing to 
work with you in future on areas of mutual interest. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Andrea Wright 
Senior Policy Planner 



LOCAL PLAN – RESULTS OF THE DRAFT LOCAL PLAN CONSULTATION, 
AGREEMENT TO PUBLISH THE REGULATION 19 PROPOSED SUBMISSION VERSION 
AND NEXT STEPS

Cabinet – 6 December 2018 

Report of Chief Planning Officer

Status

Also Consider by

For comment / consideration 

Planning Advisory Committee – 22 November 2018

Council – 26 February 2019

Key Decision Part key

Executive Summary: This report provides a summary of the outcome of the draft 
Local Plan consultation, which was undertaken for an eight-week period from 
Monday 16 July to Monday 10 September 2018. It sets out the key content of the 
Regulation 19 Proposed Submission version of the Plan and the process for taking 
this forward to examination. 

This report supports the Key Aim of: Protecting the Green Belt and Supporting 
and developing the local economy

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Robert Piper

Contact Officers James Gleave/Hannah Gooden Ext. 7134

Recommendation: That Planning Advisory Committee notes the report and agrees 
to recommend to Cabinet the recommendations below.

Recommendation to Cabinet: That Cabinet

a) agrees that the following be issued for public consultation

i) the Regulation 19 Proposed Submission version of the Local Plan (as 
detailed within Appendices 5 and 6 to this report);

ii) the additional strategic greenbelt greenfield sites received during Draft 
Local Plan consultation (as detailed within Appendix 4 to this report); 
and

iii) the associated Supplementary Planning Documents (as detailed within 
Appendix 7 to this report)

Appendix B



2

b) delegates authority to the Chief Planning Officer following consultation with 
the Planning Portfolio Holder to finalise any non-policy text changes 
required in the Draft Local Plan prior to Regulation 19 public consultation; 
and

c) recommends that Full Council agrees to the submission of the Regulation 19 
version of the Local Plan for examination.

Recommendation to Council: That Council agrees to the submission of the 
Regulation 19 Proposed Submission version of the Local Plan for examination.

Reason for recommendation: To enable the progression of the Local Plan.

1 Purpose of the report

1.1 As a reminder, the new Local Plan will replace the Core Strategy and the 
Allocations and Development Management Plan (ADMP). It will be used to 
determine planning applications, as well as setting out the strategic land 
allocations which will help to meet the needs of the District over the plan 
period, up to 2035. The Local Plan is based on local evidence and will be 
examined in public by an independent Inspector, most likely in Spring 2019. 
The primary purpose of the examination is to determine that the plan meets 
the tests of soundness.

1.2 The consultation draft Local Plan was presented to PAC on 19 June 2018 and 
agreed by Cabinet on 12 July 2018. The document was issued for public 
consultation for an eight-week period on 16 July to the 10 September 2018. 
The results of the consultation process are summarised below, however the 
Council received in excess of 8,500 comments from 6,000 representors. The 
majority of these comments related to the proposed exceptional 
circumstances greenfield sites for housing. The vast majority of representors 
were objecting to these proposals.

1.3 This report provides information on the consultation process, the latest 
evidence base and how this has influenced the content of the next stage of 
the Local Plan, which is referred to as the Regulation 19 Proposed 
Submission version. It sets out the key proposed changes to the draft Local 
Plan, why these have been made and the next steps in the consultation 
process. Approval of these recommendations will allow the Local Plan to 
progress to the next stage in the process.

2 What is the Regulation 19 version of the Local Plan?

2.1 The Regulation 19 version is the next stage in the production of the Local 
Plan and is referred to as the ‘Publication’ stage in the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The regulations set out 
the particular requirements that the Council is required to meet when the 
plan is published. These include the production of a statement setting out 



3

how to make comments (referred to as a Statement of Representations 
Procedure), ensuring the document is available for inspection and that it is 
sent to statutory consultees.

2.2 The Regulation 19 version of the plan is published by the Council on the basis 
that it is sound, legally compliant and has been prepared in accordance with 
the duty to co-operate. It is the final version published before the Plan is 
submitted for examination and consultation responses are sent directly to 
the Inspector. The regulations provide limited scope for the Council to make 
further changes to the document itself as a result of these responses, prior 
to examination.

3 The Draft Local Plan (July 2018)

3.1 The draft Local Plan was issued for consultation in July 2018, in accordance 
with the Cabinet recommendation. The document contained a strategic 
vision for Sevenoaks District, policies to be used in the determination of 
planning applications and specific sites to meet identified needs, particularly 
those related to housing. In addition to sources such as outstanding planning 
applications, windfall sites and brownfield sites in the Green Belt, the Plan 
also included twelve Greenfield sites in the Green Belt, which had been 
submitted as part of the ‘call for sites’ process. These are referred to in the 
draft Local Plan as Exceptional Circumstances Greenfield sites 

3.2 The Exceptional Circumstances Greenfield sites were included in the Plan on 
the basis that they had the potential to meet the Council’s identified 
housing requirement and deliver infrastructure to help meet an existing 
need. However, officers did not make a judgement as to their suitability for 
release from the Green Belt beyond this and sought views on the inclusion of 
the sites in the Plan as part of the consultation process. The outcome of the 
consultation is set out below.

4 The Regulation 18 consultation: Summer of 2018

4.1 The results of the Regulation 18 draft Local Plan consultation are set out in 
the consultation statement attached at Appendix 1 of this report. The 
process can be summarised as follows:

 An ‘In Shape’ publication setting out the purpose and content of the Plan 
and how to make comments was sent to all households. A special pull out 
section on the Local Plan was included as part of this.

 There was an extensive targeted social media presence and focused 
engagement with ‘hard to reach’ groups, such as young people, 
commuters and gypsies and travellers.

 Nine public drop-in events were held, a developers’ forum, a 
town/parish council forum and a number of stakeholder workshops. An 
interactive map was developed, to allow comments to be made directly 
on sites. 

4.2 The Council received in the region of 8,500 comments on the draft Local 
Plan from approximately 6,000 organisations and individuals. Approximately 



4

7,500 of the comments were on sites and 1,000 related to development 
management policies. The bulk of these related to housing and the 
Exceptional Circumstances Greenfield Sites described above. In comparison, 
little comment was made on the draft policies such as retail, employment, 
health and wellbeing, and the environment.

4.3 The top 5 ‘commented on’ sites were:

• MX52 and MX53 (Corinthians and Banckside, Hartley) – 1,721 comments

• MX41 (Broke Hill) – 1,253 comments

• MX54a&b – (Land at Beechenlea Lane) – 1,167 comments

• MX48 (Pedham Place) – 479 comments

• HO371-374 (Which Way Westerham) – 405 comments

4.4 Going forwards, and as part of the preparation of the ‘Regulation 19’ 
Proposed Submission version, Officers have taken account of the consultation 
responses received and the provisions of national planning policy and 
guidance, which are set out in the following paragraphs.

5 National planning policy and housing need

5.1 The Local Plan has been prepared in accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the key provisions 
of the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published 
in July 2018. These documents set out the key procedural requirements and 
guidance on Plan making. In order to be found sound at examination, the 
Council will need to demonstrate that the key provisions of these documents 
have been met. 

Housing need and the Green Belt

5.2 The key aspects of the NPPF which are particularly relevant to the Local Plan 
are the guidance on strategic policies and the advice related to the 
protection of the Green Belt. In relation to the preparation of the Local 
Plan, paragraph 23 of the NPPF states that strategic policies should provide a 
clear strategy for bringing sufficient land forward, at a sufficient rate, to 
address objectively assessed need, in line with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.

5.3 In addition to the requirement to meet assessed need, the NPPF continues to 
place considerable emphasis on the protection of Green Belt land. Paragraph 
136 notes that once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be 
altered where exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, 
through the updating of plans. Before amending the Green Belt, the Council 
will be required to demonstrate that all reasonable alternatives have been 
fully investigated. This includes making best use of brownfield land, 
optimising density and discussions with neighbouring areas.



5

Housing supply

5.4 The NPPF notes that planning authorities should have a clear understanding 
of the land available in their area through the preparation of a strategic 
housing land availability assessment. From this, policies should identify a 
sufficient supply and mix of sites, taking into account their availability, 
suitability and likely economic viability. Planning policies should identify a 
supply of:

a) specific, deliverable sites for years one to five of the plan period; and

b) specific, developable sites or broad locations for growth, for years 6-10 
and, where possible, for years 11-15 of the plan.

5.5 It should be noted that government planning guidance indicates that Local 
Plans should be reviewed every 5 years. It is likely that a review of the Plan 
will commence by 2020.

Housing need calculation and new population projections

5.6 The Office for National Statistics (ONS) published a revised set of household 
projections in September 2018. When applied to the standard methodology, 
this data resulted in housing targets which were lower than those set out in 
previous guidance. The Government responded swiftly, restating its 
commitment to build 300,000 units per year and noting that a revised 
method for calculating housing need would be published by the end of the 
year. Revised guidance was published in at the end of October 2018, in the 
form of the Technical Consultation on Updates to National Planning Policy 
and Guidance.

5.7 The Technical Consultation document confirms that local authorities should 
continue to use the 2014 projections. As such, the current housing need of 
698 homes per year, plus a 20% increase (or buffer) for the first 5 years 
remains. Rolled forward, the Council’s housing need for the entire plan 
period is 13,960 units, plus the addition of a 20% ‘buffer’ for the first five 
years.

6 What are exceptional circumstances?

6.1 The Council’s housing need cannot be accommodated within 7% of the 
district that is identified as ‘built up areas’ and officers have therefore 
investigated the release of Green Belt sites to respond to NPPF 
requirements. Information provided as part of the peer review process 
outlined in section 7 below, confirms that provided all reasonable options 
have been explored it is justifiable to claim that a review of Green Belt 
boundaries is the only remaining reasonable option.

6.2 The NPPF does not provide a general definition of what constitutes the 
exceptional circumstances to justify the release of Green Belt as they will 



6

vary according to locally specific needs and circumstances. It should be 
noted that it is necessary to demonstrate exceptional circumstances to 
justify the release of Green Belt land, regardless of whether or not it has 
previously been developed.

6.3 Officers have identified the following considerations as being relevant in the 
determination of exceptional circumstances:

 The extent to which land meets the purposes of inclusion in the Green 
Belt: The 5 key tests outlined in the NPPF include preventing 
coalescence and safeguarding the Countryside from encroachment;

 Whether the release of land will result in the delivery of infrastructure 
to meet an existing evidenced based need; and

 The overall sustainability of the proposals, as assessed by the 
Sustainability Appraisal of the Local Plan.

7 Peer review process

7.1 Officers have commenced a three stage ‘peer review’ process of the 
emerging plan, to ensure it meets the tests of legal compliance and 
soundness prior to being submitted for examination. The organisations and 
individuals involved in this process are as follows:

 Intelligent Plans (IPe): This is an organisation of former planning 
inspectors which offers help and advice to local authorities on specific 
matters related to the preparation of Local Plans and the procedural 
aspects of the examination. A representative from IPe attended a 
meeting with Council officers on 1st November 2018. The visit was useful 
in clarifying the approach taken to Green Belt release in other local 
authority areas. Notwithstanding the need to provide some further 
supporting evidence and clarification on matters outlined in section 13 of 
this report, the process provided confidence that the Council’s approach 
to the production of the plan was broadly sound.

 The Planning Inspectorate (PINS): Prior to the submission of Local Plans 
for examination, the Planning Inspectorate offers an ‘Advisory Visit’ to 
review the documents to highlight any areas of potential difficulty. This 
rigorous pre-examination assessment provides a good indicator of the key 
issues that are likely to be raised during the examination hearings. It will 
be necessary for the advisory visit to take place in early 2019.

 Legal advice: Such advice will help to identify any issues related to 
compliance with planning legislation, such as the duty to co-operate, 
procedural aspects of the plan preparation and the interpretation of the 
exceptional circumstances test.

7.2 In combination, these three peer review processes will provide a high degree 
of certainty of how the plan will perform during the examination hearing 
sessions. 



7

8 Key content of the Regulation 19 Proposed Submission version of the 
Local Plan

Exceptional circumstances – greenfield sites 

8.1 As noted in paragraph 4.2 of this report, approximately 7,500 of the 8,500 
consultation responses received related to the proposed development sites. 
A large proportion of these commented on the Exceptional Circumstances 
Greenfield Sites, identified on page 33 of the draft Local Plan. Maps of these 
sites are attached as Appendix 2. Officers have undertaken a further 
assessment of the exceptional circumstances for these sites and whether the 
sites could be categorised as deliverable, developable or a broad location, in 
accordance with the definitions identified in paragraph 5.4. The sites have 
also been subject to a peer review process by Intelligent Plans. 

8.2 The twelve sites included in the consultation draft version of the Local Plan 
have been assessed against these considerations, based on the conclusions of 
the Council’s Green Belt Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal and other 
material considerations. In addition, the infrastructure offer has been 
discussed with infrastructure providers to determine if the proposals meet 
an existing need. Consideration has been given to the results of the draft 
Local Plan consultation process. The full outcome of the site appraisal 
process is set out in Appendix 3 of this report and is summarised in Table A 
below:

Table A: Exceptional Circumstances Greenfield Sites in the Green Belt to be 
included in the Regulation 19 Proposed Submission version:

Site Reason for inclusion Phasing

HO189 and HO223: 
Edenbridge: Four Elms 
Road 

350 Units

Weakly performing Green Belt, on the edge of 
a main settlement.

Discussions with the CCG and KCC indicate 
the proposed health centre and school are 
needed to meet an existing need.

Years 1-5 and 6-10 

Discussions with the 
developer indicate a 
proportion of the units 
could be delivered in 
the first 5 years of the 
plan. The remainder 
are expected to come 
forward in years 6-10. 

MX43: Sevenoaks Quarry

600 units

Weakly performing Green Belt. Previously 
developed land. Site is located on the edge of 
Sevenoaks and is considered to be in a 
suitable location for residential development.

Some extraction is still taking place on the 
site. Discussions with Infrastructure providers 
indicate that the infrastructure offer will 
benefit local community.

Phase 1: years 6-10 and 
phase 2: 11-15, subject 
to confirmation of 
mineral extraction 
programme.

The Council is satisfied 
that the site is in a 
suitable location for 
housing and there is a 
reasonable prospect 
that it will become 
available. As such, it is 
considered 



8

‘developable’

MX50 and H070: Dunton 
Green, Land East of 
London Road

240 units

Weakly performing Green Belt. Sports and 
recreation offer and improvements to local 
primary school have been supported by 
infrastructure providers.

Years 6-10, subject to 
discussions with the 
site owner. 

The Council is satisfied 
that the site is in a 
suitable location for 
housing and there is a 
reasonable prospect 
that it will be 
available. As such, it is 
considered 
‘developable’

Table B: Site identified as a ‘Broad Location’ for Growth

Pedham Place: Swanley/ 
Farningham/Eynsford

2,500 units

Strongly performing Green Belt. Site has the 
potential to deliver a comprehensive 
infrastructure offer that could assist in the 
regeneration of Swanley. Whilst the proposals 
have the potential to perform well against 
sustainability objectives, further information 
is required on matters such as the 
transportation strategy, the nature and 
proposed quantum of commercial/retail 
development, how the proposals relate to the 
existing developed area of Swanley and a 
landscape and visual impact assessment.

Year 11 to the end of 
the Plan period. 

Taking these factors 
into account, it is 
considered that land to 
the east of Swanley and 
the M25 should be 
identified as a ‘broad 
location’ for growth. 
Further consideration 
will be given to the 
release of the site from 
the Green Belt when 
the Plan is next 
reviewed in 2020/2025.

8.3 Officers are recommending that the following sites are not included in the 
Regulation 19 Proposed Submission version of the Plan:

 Edenbridge:

- Land west of Romani Way and Hever Road: employment need can be met 
on other more suitable sites and it has not been demonstrated that the 
housing element of the proposal outweighs the harm to weakly 
performing Green Belt. infrastructure proposals are not supported by the 
relevant providers.

- Land at Breezehurst Farm: infrastructure proposals are not supported by 
the relevant providers.

- Land at Crouch House Road: infrastructure proposals are not supported 
by the relevant provider.

 Westerham: Land north and east of Westerham (Which Way Westerham): 
infrastructure proposals are not supported by the relevant providers and 



9

it has not been demonstrated that the benefits of the development 
outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and the AONB.

 Swanley: Land between Beechenlea Lane and Highlands Hill: 
infrastructure proposals are not supported by the relevant providers and 
the scheme would have an unacceptable impact on the highway 
network.

 Halstead/Pratts Bottom: Broke Hill Golf Course: infrastructure proposals 
do not outweigh the harm to strongly performing Green Belt.

 Fawkham/Hartley: Corinthians Golf Club and land at Banckside: 
infrastructure proposals are not supported by the relevant providers and 
the scheme would have an unacceptable impact on the highway 
network.

 Chipstead: Land west of Chevening Road: infrastructure proposals are 
not supported by the relevant users and providers.

Other housing and mixed use allocations

8.4 Officers have undertaken a further assessment of all non Greenfield 
Greenbelt sites to be included in the Plan. The results of this process are 
included in the Site Appraisals contained at Appendix 3 of this report and 
included in Policy ST2 in Appendix 5. It should be noted that sites will be 
removed from the Green Belt, regardless of whether or not they have been 
previously developed.

Proposed allocations received during the course of the Regulation 18 
consultation 

8.5 The Council received a number of additional proposed Greenfield Green Belt 
housing allocations in response to the Regulation 18 consultation process. 
Following assessment, those that are considered as being potentially suitable 
for inclusion will be consulted on alongside, rather than as part of the 
Regulation 19 Proposed Submission version of the Local Plan. Details of the 
sites can be found in Appendix 4:

 Land south of Redhill Road, New Ash Green

 Land between Hartfield Road and Hever Road, Edenbridge

 Land west of Childsbridge Lane and south of the recreation ground, 
Kemsing

 Land north and south of Kemsing station.

8.6 It should be noted that any additions to the Regulation 19 version may need 
to be subject to additional targeted consultation, prior to the examination 
hearing sessions. Should the need arise, advice on the approval process will 
be sought from the Council’s Democratic Services team. This matter will also 
be discussed with the Planning Inspectorate and form part of the legal 
assessment prior to submission.



10

Development Management Policies

8.7 In addition to comments on sites and the strategy, a further 1,000 comments 
were made on the development management policies in the Plan. The three 
most commented-on policies were:

• Policy 15 – Design principles

• Policy 4 – Development in the Green Belt

• Policy 7 – Transport and infrastructure.

8.8 Overall the Development Management policies were received very well, 
particularly by our statutory consultees and stakeholders including the 
Environment Agency, Natural England, Environmental Health, Highways 
England and KCC Highways. We also received detailed comments from our 
duty to cooperate partners.

8.9 The policies have been amended to reflect the comments made, particularly 
in response to any specific requirements identified by the statutory 
consultees. But ultimately these changes amount to minor amendments only, 
and it is proposed to carry forward the policies, as amended, into the next 
version of the Local Plan. The proposed development management policies 
are set out in Appendix 5 of this document. The associated maps are 
attached as Appendix 6.

Other land allocations

8.10 The Local Plan also allocates land for additional permanent Gypsy and 
Traveller pitches.  Sites for 40 additional pitches have been set out in the 
“Provision for the Gypsy and Traveller Community” policy to fully meet the 
District’s need.

8.11 Following the comments received on the proposed employment land 
allocations, the District’s need will be met through the retention of existing 
employment sites and the allocation of three new sites.  This is set out in 
“Policy EMP1 Supporting a Vibrant and Balanced Economy” policy.

8.12 The district’s towns and local centres will continue to be protected and 
there are no significant changes to the policy or the proposed boundary 
amendments since the draft Local Plan consultation.

9 Other local authority examples

9.1 The following examples provide useful context of how the issue of housing 
need and Green Belt release is being considered in other local authority 
areas, both in and around London. These details should be carefully 
considered on the basis that every authority is different and the approach to 
plan making should be guided by local evidence and circumstances:

Tandridge



11

9.2 It is understood that Tandridge has a housing need of 9,400 units and is 
seeking to deliver 6,056 units (64%) over the Plan period. At present, with 
the proposed Exceptional Circumstance Greenfield Sites, Sevenoaks will 
meet approximately 70% of its housing need over the 20 year period of the 
Local Plan.

Elmbridge

9.3 In order to justify Green Belt release, local authorities are required to 
demonstrate that all non-Green Belt opportunities have been fully 
investigated. Elmbridge has therefore commissioned an ‘urban capacity 
study’, which involves a full survey of all built up areas to identify 
opportunities for new homes. A study to identify opportunities for higher 
density development has also been commissioned. 

Slough/South Bucks

9.4 Slough Borough is small authority to the west of London and has already built 
on most of its Green Belt land to meet housing need. As part of the issues 
and options consultation for its new Local Plan, the Council proposed a new 
settlement in the adjoining district of South Bucks to meet its housing need. 
The settlement is proposed on Green Belt land and is subject to considerable 
local opposition.

East Herts District

9.5 Located to the north/north west of London, East Herts Council adopted its 
Local Plan in October 2018.  The Council proposes to meet its housing need 
of approximately 18,500 units in full. This involves the development of a 
3,000 unit ‘Garden Village’ to the north of Harlow. Despite significant local 
opposition, the plan was found sound. 

London Borough of Redbridge

9.6 The current London Plan opposes the release of Green Belt land to meet 
housing need. Instead, policies set targets for the development of ‘small 
sites’ under 0.25 hectares. Targets are based on an assumption that 1% of all 
residential units within 800 metres of a transport node could come forward 
for development or conversion. These numbers are high and for some 
boroughs, represent 50% of the total housing target. The approach has 
attracted significant objection, on the basis that it has the potential to 
fundamentally change the character of suburban areas.

9.7 Many outer London authorities are concerned with the small sites approach. 
LB Redbridge has recently adopted its Local Plan and proposes to release 
Green Belt sites to meet its substantial housing need. The exceptional 
circumstances tests applied in this case are similar to those outlined in 
paragraph 6.3 above and relate to: 

 Whether the site is located in the Green Belt, 

 The infrastructure offer associated with Green Belt release and whether 
this meets an existing need; and 



12

 The overall sustainability of the areas of Green Belt release.

9.8 The above examples indicate the tension between the policy objectives of 
meeting housing need and protecting the Green Belt land. Proposals which 
involve Green Belt release and the associated exceptional circumstances 
continue to be subject to considerable scrutiny by planning inspectors. 
However, the alternative to Green Belt release as a means of meeting 
housing needs, such as high density and small site development, can result in 
significant adverse impacts. 

10 Soundness and compliance

10.1 Once submitted for examination, the plan will be assessed by the Inspector 
in terms of whether it is legally compliant and meets the following tests of 
‘soundness’ as set out in the NPPF. Plans are sound if they are:

a) Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to 
meet the areas objectively assessed needs; and is informed by 
agreements with other authorities, so that unmet need from 
neighbouring areas is accommodated where it is practical to do so and is 
consistent with achieving sustainable development; 

b) Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable 
alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence;

c) Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint 
working on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with 
rather than deferred, as evidenced by the statement of common ground; 
and

d) Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies in this Framework.

10.2 Consultees will be asked to comment specifically on whether the Plan meets 
these tests at Regulation 19 consultation stage. Very few Local Plans are 
adopted without some modifications by the inspector to ensure that the 
tests of soundness are met. From the advice received, officers are confident 
that the Plan, as drafted, is sound. Further guidance on the Regulation 19 
consultation process will be provided nearer the time.

11 The current position: need vs supply

11.1 The content of this report indicates that the Council has an annual capped 
housing need figure of 698 units. Rolled forward over the 20 year period of 
the Plan and using the standardised methodology, the Council’s housing need 
of 13,960 units, plus the addition of a 20% buffer for the first five years. As 
part of the production of the Regulation 19 document, officers will need to 
provide evidence of the expected supply in years 1-5 and 6 – 10 of the Plan.

11.2 Government Guidance has been followed to ensure that all brownfield 
opportunities have been fully investigated. Officers are therefore content 



13

that there are exceptional circumstances for releasing the Green Belt sites 
identified in this report. It has not been demonstrated that exceptional 
circumstances exist for other sites and as such, officers are of the view that 
the Council is justified in not fully meeting its assessed need for housing.

11.3 Government planning guidance notes that the Regulation 19 version of the 
plan should be a document that the Council considers to be sound and legally 
compliant. However, it is likely that sites and policies will continue to evolve 
as a result of consultation responses submitted at the Regulation 19 stage. 
Further changes are likely to occur during the course of the examination 
process. 

12 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)

12.1 It should be noted that the Council is also proposing to consult on the 
following three SPDs alongside the Local Plan: 

 Affordable Housing SPD

 Development in the Green Belt SPD

 Design Review Panel SPD

13 Key Actions and next steps

13.1 The following issues will need to be addressed prior to the submission of the 
plan for examination: 

Assessment of Density and Phasing 

13.2 The peer review process has indicated that a specific ‘Issues Paper’ should 
be prepared to demonstrate that the Council is proposing an ‘optimum’ 
approach to development density. As noted above, demonstrating a five year 
supply of sites that meet the definition of ‘deliverable’ as set out in the 
NPPF for years 1-5 of the plan and a supply of ‘developable’ sites for years’ 
6-10 will be a key focus of the examination process. 

Evidence that all non-Green Belt options have been fully explored 

13.3 The Council’s call for sites process has been open since 2015 and evidence 
has been prepared in accordance with Government guidelines to ensure that 
all previously developed sites have been investigated. The information on 
how officers have investigated capacity in built up areas is currently 
contained in a number of evidence base documents. As noted above, this will 
be compiled into a single report to clarify that all non-Green Belt options 
have been proactively investigated. 

Production of a Key Diagram 

13.4 The NPPF states that broad locations for development should be identified 
on a Key Diagram and land use designations on a Policies Map. These aspects 
of the plan are graphical representations of the development strategy and 
will be prepared as part of the Regulation 19 consultation document.



14

Further Peer review 

13.5 Following the visit from IPe, officers will undertake a further ‘peer review’ 
process, in the form of a PINS Advisory visit. Counsel will be instructed for 
on-going support throughout the examination process. 

13.6 The next steps in the production of the Local Plan are as follows:

 Planning Advisory Committee: 22 November 2018

 Cabinet: 06 December 2018

 Pre-submission publication (Public consultation) – December 2018/ 
January 2019

 Full Council 26 February 2019

 Submission & Examination – Spring/Summer 2019

 Adoption – by the end of 2019.

13.7 The information contained in this report will be considered by Cabinet on 6 
December 2018. If this is approved, the Regulation 19 version of the Plan will 
be published for a 6 week period of public consultation at the end of this 
year. All responses to the Regulation 19 consultation will be submitted to 
the Secretary of State alongside the Local Plan and evidence base in spring 
2019.

Other options Considered and/or rejected

The option not to progress a new Local Plan would leave the Council open to 
reputational damage and likely Government intervention to produce a Local Plan 
for the District Council.

Key Implications 

Financial

Production of the Local Plan will be funded from the Local Plan reserve.

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement

Preparation of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement. There are defined legal 
requirements that must be met in plan making which are considered when the plan
is examined by a Government Planning Inspector. Risks associated with Local Plan 
making are set out in the Local Development Scheme

Equality Assessment

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful 



15

discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the 
Equality Act 2010, (ii) advance equality of opportunity between people from 
different groups, and (iii) foster good relations between people from different 
groups. The preparation and adoption of a Local Plan will directly impact on end 
users. The impacts have been analysed via an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
attached as Appendix 8.

Conclusion

This report provides a summary of the outcome of the draft Local Plan 
consultation, which was undertaken for an eight-week period from Monday 16 July 
to Monday 10 September 2018. It sets out the key content of the Regulation 19 
Proposed Submission version of the Plan and the process for taking this forward to 
examination. It is recommended that the Plan progresses to publication and 
submission for examination. 

Appendices are not 
attached to the paper 
copy of the agenda 
but are available on 
the website and have 
been amended in line 
with the amendments 
made prior to the 
Planning Advisory 
Committee on 22 
November 2018.

Appendix 1 – Local Plan Consultation Statement

Appendix 2 – Strategic Allocations Map & Greenfield Green Belt Site 
Allocation Maps

Appendix 3 – Site Appraisals

Appendix 4 – Additional strategic green belt greenfield sites 
received during Draft Local Plan consultation

Appendix 5 – Local Plan Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies

Appendix 6 – Development Management Policy maps 

Appendix 7 – Draft Supplementary Planning Documents for 
Consultation 

Appendix 8 – Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA)   

https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=326&MId=2316&Ver=4&J=2

Background 
papers

PAC key progress reports:
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=326&Year=0&J=1

22 June 2017          Local Plan – for consultation
23 Nov 2017           Consultation update
14 March 2018        Local Plan Update
25 April 2018          Local Plan Update

19 June 2018          Draft Local Plan

Richard Morris

Chief Planning Officer

https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=326&MId=2316&Ver=4&J=2
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=326&Year=0&J=1
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=326&Year=0&J=1




1

Appendix C: Dartford Borough Council’s Responses on 
the Sevenoaks Proposed Submission Local Plan

Contents

Duty to Co-operate...................................................................................................................1
Policy ST1: A Balanced Strategy for Growth in a Constrained District ....................................3
Policy ST2: Housing and Mixed Use Site Allocations ..............................................................4
Policy H5: Housing Density......................................................................................................6
Policy T1: Transport and Infrastructure....................................................................................7

Duty to Co-operate

Q1. To which consultation document does this representation relate to? (Please tick 
the appropriate box.)

Local Plan (including Policies Map) X
Sustainability Appraisal
Habitat Regulations Assessment

Q2. Please state the topic/policy/section/paragraph/map you are referring to:

Topic Duty to Co-operate
Policy ST1
Paragraph 1.9, 2.33, 3.10
Policy Map

Q3. Do you consider the Local Plan is:

Sound? YES X NO
Legally compliant? YES X NO
Compliant under the Duty to Co-operate YES X NO

Q4. If you consider the Local Plan unsound, indicate your reasons below: (Please tick 
all that apply)

The Local Plan has not been positively prepared
The Local Plan is not justified
The Local Plan is not effective
The Local Plan is not consistent with national planning policy

Q5. Please provide details of either:

 Why you consider that the Local Plan is not legally compliant, is unsound, or 
fails to comply with the Duty to Co-operate; or

 Why you support the legal compliance or soundness of the Local Plan or its 
compliance with the Duty to Co-operate.

Please be as accurate as possible with your representation.
The Plan makes a number of references to the Duty to Co-operate.  Dartford Borough 



2

Council and Sevenoaks District Council have an existing positive relationship whereby 
issues in relation to the Duty to Co-operate have been discussed on an active and 
ongoing basis at officer level since 2014/2015.  We expected this to continue and 
accelerate, including as set out in policy ST1.

We note the statements in paragraphs 1.9, 2.33 and 3.10 that, to date, the Duty to Co-
operate has not found that neighbouring authorities (including Dartford Borough Council) 
are able to assist Sevenoaks with unmet housing, gypsy and traveller, or employment land 
needs.

Dartford is not likely to be part of the same Housing Market Area as Sevenoaks on the 
basis of available information; and there is no evidence that there is any significant 
migration from Sevenoaks to Dartford.  Were Dartford Borough Council to be required to 
give formal consideration to accepting unmet need from Sevenoaks District, as a 
prerequisite it should be demonstrated that it would, in reality, address housing needs 
from Sevenoaks.  This would normally be demonstrated by historic population flows to the 
Dartford Borough area, which has not been established.  

Importantly, it would be necessary confirm how infrastructure and development 
management issues in Dartford would be addressed. 

Q6. Please set out what modification(s) you consider necessary to make the Local 
Plan legally compliant or sound, having regard to the matters that you have 
identified.

Please note that any non-compliance with the Duty to Co-operate is incapable of 
modification at Examination.

You will need to say why this modification will make the Local Plan legally compliant or 
sound. It will be helpful if you are able to put forward your suggestions for revised wording 
of any policy or text. Please be as accurate as possible.

N/A

Please note that your representation should cover succinctly all the information, evidence 
and supporting information necessary to support/justify your representation and the 
suggested modification, as there will not be subsequent opportunity to make further 
representation based on the original representation at publication stage.

After this stage, submissions will only be at the request of the Planning Inspector, based 
on the matters and issues that he/she identifies for examination.

Q7. If your representation is seeking a modification, do you consider it necessary to 
participate at the oral part of the Examination?

NO I do not wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination X
YES I wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination

Q8. If you wish to participate at the oral part of the Examination, please outline why 
you consider this to be necessary.

N/A



3

Please note that the Inspector (not the Council) will determine the most appropriate 
procedure to hear those who have indicated that they wish to participate at the oral part of 
the Examination.



4

Policy ST1: A Balanced Strategy for Growth in a Constrained 
District

Q1. To which consultation document does this representation relate to? (Please tick 
the appropriate box.)

Local Plan (including Policies Map) X
Sustainability Appraisal
Habitat Regulations Assessment

Q2. Please state the topic/policy/section/paragraph/map you are referring to:

Topic A Balanced Strategy for Growth in a Constrained District
Policy ST1
Paragraph
Policy Map

Q3. Do you consider the Local Plan is:

Sound? YES X NO
Legally compliant? YES NO
Compliant under the Duty to Co-operate YES NO

Q4. If you consider the Local Plan unsound, indicate your reasons below: (Please tick 
all that apply)

The Local Plan has not been positively prepared
The Local Plan is not justified
The Local Plan is not effective
The Local Plan is not consistent with national planning policy

Q5. Please provide details of either:

 Why you consider that the Local Plan is not legally compliant, is unsound, or 
fails to comply with the Duty to Co-operate; or

 Why you support the legal compliance or soundness of the Local Plan or its 
compliance with the Duty to Co-operate.

Please be as accurate as possible with your representation.
Dartford Borough Council supports the approach of focussing development within the four 
towns within Sevenoaks District as this is where most services and facilities are located 
and will reduce the need to travel by private car.

Dartford Borough Council understands the challenges and constraints faced by 
Sevenoaks District in planning for future growth, with extensive designations of Green Belt 
and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  In this respect, it is understood why policy ST1 
includes: the re-use of previously developed ‘brownfield’ land in the Green Belt where it is 
situated in sustainable locations; the release of Green Belt in ‘exceptional circumstances’; 
and the removal of sites from the Green Belt where required social and community 
infrastructure is to be provided.

It is essential that any large scale releases of land in the Green Belt are informed by 
potential impacts on the wider road network and are supported by appropriate 



5

infrastructure – see also comments on policies ST2 and T1.

Q6. Please set out what modification(s) you consider necessary to make the Local 
Plan legally compliant or sound, having regard to the matters that you have 
identified.

Please note that any non-compliance with the Duty to Co-operate is incapable of 
modification at Examination.

You will need to say why this modification will make the Local Plan legally compliant or 
sound. It will be helpful if you are able to put forward your suggestions for revised wording 
of any policy or text. Please be as accurate as possible.

N/A

Please note that your representation should cover succinctly all the information, evidence 
and supporting information necessary to support/justify your representation and the 
suggested modification, as there will not be subsequent opportunity to make further 
representation based on the original representation at publication stage.

After this stage, submissions will only be at the request of the Planning Inspector, based 
on the matters and issues that he/she identifies for examination.

Q7. If your representation is seeking a modification, do you consider it necessary to 
participate at the oral part of the Examination?

NO I do not wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination X
YES I wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination

Q8. If you wish to participate at the oral part of the Examination, please outline why 
you consider this to be necessary.

N/A

Please note that the Inspector (not the Council) will determine the most appropriate 
procedure to hear those who have indicated that they wish to participate at the oral part of 
the Examination.



6

Policy ST2: Housing and Mixed Use Site Allocations

Q1. To which consultation document does this representation relate to? (Please tick 
the appropriate box.)

Local Plan (including Policies Map) X
Sustainability Appraisal
Habitat Regulations Assessment

Q2. Please state the topic/policy/section/paragraph/map you are referring to:

Topic Housing and Mixed Use Site Allocations
Policy ST2
Paragraph
Policy Map

Q3. Do you consider the Local Plan is:

Sound? YES X NO
Legally compliant? YES NO
Compliant under the Duty to Co-operate YES NO

Q4. If you consider the Local Plan unsound, indicate your reasons below: (Please tick 
all that apply)

The Local Plan has not been positively prepared
The Local Plan is not justified
The Local Plan is not effective
The Local Plan is not consistent with national planning policy

Q5. Please provide details of either:

 Why you consider that the Local Plan is not legally compliant, is unsound, or 
fails to comply with the Duty to Co-operate; or

 Why you support the legal compliance or soundness of the Local Plan or its 
compliance with the Duty to Co-operate.

Please be as accurate as possible with your representation.
Land at Pedham Place, Swanley/Farningham/Eynsford

It is noted that this area is now identified as a broad location for growth within the Green 
Belt rather than an allocation, with further consideration to be given to its release from the 
Green Belt when the Plan is next reviewed in five years’ time.  It is however understood to 
be retained within the Plan as currently proposed, as a development making a major 
future contribution to housing supply.

NPPF paragraph 72 confirms the potential suitability of larger scale development in the 
form of new settlements or “significant” extensions to settlements, but “provided they are 
well located and designed, and supported by the necessary infrastructure and facilities”. 
The appropriate role of working with “other authorities” in this respect is noted.  Dartford 
considers the proposal, albeit expressed as a Broad Location, looks to create a new 
freestanding settlement (adjacent to the M25/M20 junction). 



7

It is indicated in the Local Plan that the site would provide education facilities, including a 
secondary school, a primary care hub, transport improvements, and employment and 
retail (local centre).  Dartford Borough Council would welcome clarification that timely 
provision of facilities and sustainable transport measures will be made to ensure that the 
development of this site does not adversely impact on the transport network and 
secondary schools in Dartford – see also response to policy T1. 

It is considered essential that NPPF paragraph 72 clause (b) on sufficient access to 
services and employment within the development itself or at “larger towns” is achieved. 

Oasis Academy, Egerton Avenue, Hextable

The settlement of Hextable adjoins the Dartford Borough boundary. It is noted that this site 
is allocated for residential development.  This is the site of a former secondary school 
which closed in 2016.  We note that the Site Appraisal for this site (HO225) states that 
KCC Education have not yet determined the disposition of this site and that any 
development proposals must address the loss of school facilities.  Dartford Borough 
Council agrees with this and from the perspective of its understanding of the level of future 
secondary school need in north/west Kent considers that the former Oasis Academy site 
should preferably be retained as a site for a potential secondary school for the reasons set 
out in the response on policy T1.

Previously developed ‘brownfield’ sites in the Green Belt

As set out in our comments on policy ST1, Dartford Borough Council understands the 
rationale for allowing the re-use of previously developed ‘brownfield’ land in the Green Belt 
where it is situated in sustainable locations.  A number of the sites appear to be in 
relatively isolated locations and we would question the extent to which these are 
sustainable locations in compliance with policy ST1.  An example of this is Gills Farm 
South Darenth (site 63).

Q6. Please set out what modification(s) you consider necessary to make the Local 
Plan legally compliant or sound, having regard to the matters that you have 
identified.

Please note that any non-compliance with the Duty to Co-operate is incapable of 
modification at Examination.

You will need to say why this modification will make the Local Plan legally compliant or 
sound. It will be helpful if you are able to put forward your suggestions for revised wording 
of any policy or text. Please be as accurate as possible.

N/A

Please note that your representation should cover succinctly all the information, evidence 
and supporting information necessary to support/justify your representation and the 
suggested modification, as there will not be subsequent opportunity to make further 
representation based on the original representation at publication stage.

After this stage, submissions will only be at the request of the Planning Inspector, based 
on the matters and issues that he/she identifies for examination.

Q7. If your representation is seeking a modification, do you consider it necessary to 
participate at the oral part of the Examination?



8

NO I do not wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination X
YES I wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination

Q8. If you wish to participate at the oral part of the Examination, please outline why 
you consider this to be necessary.

N/A

Please note that the Inspector (not the Council) will determine the most appropriate 
procedure to hear those who have indicated that they wish to participate at the oral part of 
the Examination.



9

Policy H5: Housing Density

Q1. To which consultation document does this representation relate to? (Please tick 
the appropriate box.)

Local Plan (including Policies Map) X
Sustainability Appraisal
Habitat Regulations Assessment

Q2. Please state the topic/policy/section/paragraph/map you are referring to:

Topic Housing Density
Policy H5
Paragraph
Policy Map

Q3. Do you consider the Local Plan is:

Sound? YES X NO
Legally compliant? YES NO
Compliant under the Duty to Co-operate YES NO

Q4. If you consider the Local Plan unsound, indicate your reasons below: (Please tick 
all that apply)

The Local Plan has not been positively prepared
The Local Plan is not justified
The Local Plan is not effective
The Local Plan is not consistent with national planning policy

Q5. Please provide details of either:

 Why you consider that the Local Plan is not legally compliant, is unsound, or 
fails to comply with the Duty to Co-operate; or

 Why you support the legal compliance or soundness of the Local Plan or its 
compliance with the Duty to Co-operate.

Please be as accurate as possible with your representation.
Dartford Borough Council supports the policy to make the most efficient use of land and 
expecting new development to be delivered at higher average densities.  It also supports 
the link between allowing development at higher densities than the surrounding area 
where it is well served by public transport, walking and cycling routes, local services and 
community facilities.

The policy should ensure that land within existing urban areas is used most efficiently, 
thereby reducing the need for the release of further Green Belt land.  It should also ensure 
that adequate infrastructure is available to accommodate higher levels of development, 
thereby ensuring that it does not have an adverse impact on the wider road network, 
schools provision etc.

Q6. Please set out what modification(s) you consider necessary to make the Local 
Plan legally compliant or sound, having regard to the matters that you have 



10

identified.

Please note that any non-compliance with the Duty to Co-operate is incapable of 
modification at Examination.

You will need to say why this modification will make the Local Plan legally compliant or 
sound. It will be helpful if you are able to put forward your suggestions for revised wording 
of any policy or text. Please be as accurate as possible.

N/A

Please note that your representation should cover succinctly all the information, evidence 
and supporting information necessary to support/justify your representation and the 
suggested modification, as there will not be subsequent opportunity to make further 
representation based on the original representation at publication stage.

After this stage, submissions will only be at the request of the Planning Inspector, based 
on the matters and issues that he/she identifies for examination.

Q7. If your representation is seeking a modification, do you consider it necessary to 
participate at the oral part of the Examination?

NO I do not wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination X
YES I wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination

Q8. If you wish to participate at the oral part of the Examination, please outline why 
you consider this to be necessary.

N/A

Please note that the Inspector (not the Council) will determine the most appropriate 
procedure to hear those who have indicated that they wish to participate at the oral part of 
the Examination.



11

Policy T1: Transport and Infrastructure

Q1. To which consultation document does this representation relate to? (Please tick 
the appropriate box.)

Local Plan (including Policies Map) X
Sustainability Appraisal
Habitat Regulations Assessment

Q2. Please state the topic/policy/section/paragraph/map you are referring to:

Topic Transport and Infrastructure
Policy T1
Paragraph
Policy Map

Q3. Do you consider the Local Plan is:

Sound? YES X NO
Legally compliant? YES NO
Compliant under the Duty to Co-operate YES NO

Q4. If you consider the Local Plan unsound, indicate your reasons below: (Please tick 
all that apply)

The Local Plan has not been positively prepared
The Local Plan is not justified
The Local Plan is not effective
The Local Plan is not consistent with national planning policy

Q5. Please provide details of either:

 Why you consider that the Local Plan is not legally compliant, is unsound, or 
fails to comply with the Duty to Co-operate; or

 Why you support the legal compliance or soundness of the Local Plan or its 
compliance with the Duty to Co-operate.

Please be as accurate as possible with your representation.
Dartford Borough Council welcomes the commitment in policy T1 that the Local Plan will 
mitigate any adverse travel impacts created by new developments which may mean 
ensuring adequate provision is made for integrated and improved transport infrastructure 
(such as rail, bus and cycling) with other appropriate mitigation through direct 
improvements and/or developer contributions.  

The Council also supports the requirement that infrastructure is phased and provided to 
meet the requirements arising from new development.  There is the question of how this 
will be implemented in practice.  

The policy refers to the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and it is disappointing that this does 
not appear to be available for comment given that proposed developments in the north of 
Sevenoaks District have the potential to impact on the transport network and secondary 
schools in Dartford.  In the current absence of sufficient confirmatory information such as 
an Infrastructure Delivery Plan or detailed masterplans with relevant information (e.g. for 



12

Pedham Place), Dartford’s preferred position at present would be to reserve judgement on 
the proposals and the adequacy of infrastructure provisions in the Plan.  Given the level of 
growth underway in Dartford, and associated careful infrastructure planning efforts, it is 
essential that maintaining the high levels of housing being accommodated in Dartford is 
not prejudiced by cross boundary impacts such as a worsening of conditions on the M25/ 
Dartford strategic highway network, or lack of school capacity in northern/ western parts of 
the county.

We note that that a Transport Assessment has been produced.  In relation to land at 
Pedham Place, we note the list of junctions likely to be affected by the development are 
around the M25 junction 3 and other junctions in and around Swanley (paragraph 7.7.4).  
The Assessment recognises that this development is not in a sustainable location 
(paragraph 7.7.7).  It sets out a number of sustainable transport mitigation measures 
which would be required (paragraph 7.7.9) as well as the potential for bus services 
between the site and Swanley town centre/station (paragraph 7.7.11).  Dartford Borough 
Council agrees with the Assessment that “in order for this development to be accessible 
by modes other than the private car, significant investment in bold new pedestrian and 
cycle facilities will be required” (paragraph 7.4.29).

The lack of secondary schools in Sevenoaks District (recognised in the section “What is 
the District Like” section) means that some secondary schools in Dartford serve pupils 
living in parts of Sevenoaks District.  Some of these schools (e.g. Wilmington Grammar 
Boys/Girls, Longfield Academy, Wilmington Academy) are located in the Green Belt and 
any extensions need to be justified under national and local Green Belt policies.  There 
have been recent proposals to extend secondary schools in Wilmington due to demand 
and the closure of the Oasis Academy in Hextable in 2016 is likely to have placed 
additional pressure on existing secondary schools, including those within Dartford.  The 
additional development proposed in and around Swanley and Hextable is bound to 
exacerbate this pressure.  In this regard, we note that the Site Appraisal for Pedham Place 
site (MX48) includes the following comments from Kent County Council in relation to 
secondary education:

A new 8FE secondary school will be needed for the students generated by the 
housing developments being proposed in the northern half of the district.  Due to 
the distances involved, it would be sensible to site the new school in the Pedham 
Place development as it lies half way between Hartley and Swanley/Hextable as 
well as good transport links from the A20.  With the amount of housing 
development being proposed in this Draft Local Plan, without a new 8FE school, 
KCC would have difficulty supporting housing development in the Swanley, 
Hextable, Pedham Place and Hartley areas.

Clearly some of the proposals on which these comments are based are no longer being 
pursued, e.g. large scale development at Hartley.  Pedham Place is now identified as a 
broad location for growth with further consideration to be given to its release from the 
Green Belt when the Plan is next reviewed in five years time.  In light of this, Dartford 
Borough Council would like to understand how the secondary school needs arising from 
developments in the northern half of Sevenoaks District in the first five years of the Local 
Plan period are proposed to be met.  

In the absence of an alternative location which could be delivered in a timely manner to 
support development coming forward in the early phases of the Plan, Dartford Borough 
Council considers that the former Oasis Academy site should be retained as a site for a 
potential secondary school.

Q6. Please set out what modification(s) you consider necessary to make the Local 
Plan legally compliant or sound, having regard to the matters that you have 
identified.



13

Please note that any non-compliance with the Duty to Co-operate is incapable of 
modification at Examination.

You will need to say why this modification will make the Local Plan legally compliant or 
sound. It will be helpful if you are able to put forward your suggestions for revised wording 
of any policy or text. Please be as accurate as possible.

N/A

Please note that your representation should cover succinctly all the information, evidence 
and supporting information necessary to support/justify your representation and the 
suggested modification, as there will not be subsequent opportunity to make further 
representation based on the original representation at publication stage.

After this stage, submissions will only be at the request of the Planning Inspector, based 
on the matters and issues that he/she identifies for examination.

Q7. If your representation is seeking a modification, do you consider it necessary to 
participate at the oral part of the Examination?

NO I do not wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination X
YES I wish to participate in the oral part of the Examination

Q8. If you wish to participate at the oral part of the Examination, please outline why 
you consider this to be necessary.

N/A

Please note that the Inspector (not the Council) will determine the most appropriate 
procedure to hear those who have indicated that they wish to participate at the oral part of 
the Examination.





              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

SD (IS)

NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 2019/20

1. Summary

1.1 To consider granting discretionary rate relief to ratepayers who 
have made applications, or who are expected to make an 
application before 1 March 2019 in respect of 2019/20.

1.2 To receive an update on the local discretionary business rate relief 
scheme. 

1.3 To approve the proposed approach for implementation of the Retail 
Discount scheme for 2019/20 and 2020/21. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the maximum level of discretionary rate relief for 2019/20 for 
the organisations listed in Appendix A to the report be determined 
in accordance with the detailed recommendations set out in 
Appendix A.

2.2. That Members note the estimated level of local discretionary 
Business Rates Relief to be awarded in 2019/20 as set out in 
paragraph 3.26 of the report.

2.3. That Members approve the Business Rates Retail Discount 
Guidelines, at Appendix E to the report.

3. Background and Discussion

Annual Discretionary Rate Relief 

3.1. Depending upon their circumstances ratepayers may be eligible for 
mandatory rate relief, mandatory rural rate relief or small business 
rate relief. 

Charities and sports organisations that have charitable status 
currently receive 80% mandatory relief. In order to qualify for the 
mandatory relief, the organisation must be established for charitable 
purposes only and the premises must be wholly or mainly used for 
charitable purposes. 

In addition, sports clubs registered with HMRC as community 
amateur sports clubs are also entitled to 80% mandatory relief.



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

SD (IS)

3.2. Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended) 
allows the Council to grant discretionary rate relief of up to 100% to 
any ratepayer.  

3.3. Discretionary rate relief can be awarded in isolation or given to ‘top-
up’ a mandatory award or to supplement assistance given via the 
small business rate relief scheme.

3.4. However, unless one of the following apply, the Council may only 
grant discretionary rate relief if it is satisfied that it would be 
reasonable to do so, having regard to the interests of  council tax 
payers:

 The ratepayer is a charity or trustee for a charity, and the property 
is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes; or

 The ratepayer is a community amateur sports club and the 
property is wholly or mainly used for the purpose of the club and 
other such clubs; or

 The ratepayer is entitled to mandatory rural rate relief; or

 All or part of the property is occupied by non-profit making 
organisations whose main objects are charitable or are otherwise 
philanthropic or religious or concerned with education, social 
welfare, science, literature or the fine arts; or

 The property is occupied by a club, society or other non-profit 
making organisation and it is wholly or mainly used for purposes 
of recreation. 

3.5. The types of property eligible for discretionary rate relief are specified 
in Appendix B.  The qualifying conditions for Small Business Rate 
Relief (as prescribed by legislation) are also set out in Appendix B.  

3.6. On 26 January 2017, Cabinet reviewed and determined the criteria 
for eligibility for all types of discretionary rate relief as set out in 
Appendix C (Minute No. 109).  These criteria cover all cases where 
the decision to grant relief is not dependent upon the award being in 
the interests of council tax payers.

3.7. Applications from ratepayers who do not satisfy the stated criteria will 
be considered on their merits and individual recommendations will be 
made taking into consideration the benefit to the community as a 
whole.



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

SD (IS)

3.8. On 10 March 2005, Cabinet had previously determined the levels of 
discretionary rate relief applicable to businesses eligible for Small 
Business Rate Relief:

 Where maximum Small Business Rate Relief is available, no 
discretionary rate relief should be awarded;

 Where the ratepayers will only benefit from the application of 
the lower multiplier, discretionary rate relief should continue to 
be awarded at the rate outlined in Appendix C;

 Where no relief is available because businesses occupy more 
than one property within England, discretionary rate relief 
should continue to be awarded at the rate outlined in Appendix 
C; and

 Where relief amounting to less than the current discretionary 
percentage is due, the level of mandatory relief should be 
“topped-up” by discretionary rate relief so that the ratepayer 
receives the same level of assistance as the level of 
discretionary relief outlined in Appendix C.

(Minute no.352)

3.9. Ratepayers seeking discretionary rate relief are required to submit an 
application for Small Business Rate Relief (where potentially eligible) 
as a pre-requisite to the consideration of the award of discretionary 
rate relief. 

3.10. Applications for discretionary rate relief may be made up to six 
months after the end of the financial year for which relief is sought.  
No discretionary rate relief can be awarded if an application is made 
outside of the statutory timeframe.  Once awarded, discretionary rate 
relief may only be withdrawn or reduced if a minimum of 12 months’ 
notice has been given to the recipient.

3.11. To ensure that discretionary support given to businesses remains 
appropriate, awards are only made for one financial year and 
recipients are required to reapply each year.

Rural rate relief top-up

3.12. In the Autumn Statement of 2016 the Government announced the 
intention to double mandatory rural rate relief to 100% from 1 April 
2017.  However, this required an amendment to primary legislation. 
As a temporary measure local authorities were advised to use 



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

SD (IS)

discretionary powers to award the additional 50% relief which would 
be reimbursed by way of a section 31 grant.  

3.13. In the absence of primary legislation the government expects that 
local authorities will continue to use local discount powers to grant 
100% rural rate relief to eligible ratepayers until further notice, with 
appropriate reimbursement. 

3.14. Paragraphs 7.1, 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5 in Appendix C already cater for this 
extension of relief.

Financial implications

3.15. Since 1 April 2013, all discretionary relief granted has come under the 
provisions of the Business Rate Retention scheme.

3.16. The cost of relief is effectively shared between Central Government 
(50%), and local authorities (50%). Of this, the Council is required to 
fund 40%.

3.17. When setting the business rates baseline for 2013/2014, the 
Government broadly used the existing levels of discretionary relief. 
Because of the operation of the levy and safety net on the business 
rate retention scheme, it is not possible to say exactly what the actual 
effect of granting the relief will be and it may vary between years. For 
example, if the Council was already at the safety net, then granting 
additional relief would have no direct impact for that year, but would 
have an impact as soon as the Council moved out of the safety net.

3.18. Therefore Appendix A only refers to the gross discretionary relief 
proposed.  

Cases to be considered for 2019/2020 

3.19. Appendix A contains the details of each ratepayer to be considered 
for relief for 2019/2020 and recommends the level of relief to be 
applied.   The deadline for applications was 15 November 2018 but 
many expected applications had not been received by this date.  The 
report therefore recommends relief for ratepayers who have or will 
have submitted an application by 1 March 2019.  Officers are 
continuing to press for completed applications.

3.20. All ratepayers fall within the criteria contained within Appendix C.

3.21. The level of relief is based upon the provisional multipliers announced 
on 2 November 2018 which are subject to confirmation.  In the 
unlikely event that the multipliers change, a further report setting out 
the revised relief awards will be submitted.



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

SD (IS)

3.22. If applications are approved, the total gross relief granted would be 
£189,361.

3.23. Members should be aware that the requirement for relief can change 
during the financial year as a result of rateable value changes, 
vacations etc.  Therefore, some of these awards may not ultimately 
require full funding.    

Discretionary Local Business Rate Relief Scheme (Revaluation Relief)

3.24. In the Budget on 8 March 2017, the government announced that 
£300m in funding over the period 2017/18 to 2020/21 would be 
provided to support those businesses most affected by the 
revaluation of business rates from 1 April 2017.

3.25. On 7 September 2017 Cabinet approved the Council’s Discretionary 
Local Business Rates Relief Scheme (Minute.50) and on 25 January 
2018 Cabinet approved changes to the scheme (Minute. 105).  The 
changes included provision for delegated authority to be given to the 
S151 officer to amend the scheme in future years to ensure relief was 
properly targeted and fully utilised for the benefit of the affected 
ratepayers.

3.26. The S151 officer has exercised that delegated power to increase the 
maximum percentage relief for 2019/20 from 10% to 18% to ensure 
that as much of the Council’s funding allocation of £46,000 is passed 
on to affected ratepayers. On that basis the projected relief for 
2019/20 stands at £36,018. 

3.27. The projected underspend is because some ratepayers who fell 
within the scheme are no longer liable for business rates on the 
affected properties and/or rateable values have been reduced. 

Retail Discount

3.28. In the Budget on 29 October 2018, the government announced a new 
relief scheme for retail properties that have a rateable value of below 
£51,000.  Under the scheme, eligible ratepayers will receive a one 
third discount of their daily chargeable amount.  Relief will have effect 
for 2019/20 and 2020/21 and is to be applied from the start of the 
billing cycle.  

3.29. Local authorities are required to use discretionary relief powers to 
grant this new relief in line with the relevant eligibility criteria.  
Appendix D contains government guidance on the Retail Discount 
Scheme which is broadly similar to the previous Retail Relief Scheme 
in operation for 2014/15 and 2015/16.  



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

SD (IS)

3.30. Appendix E contains the Business Rates Retail Discount Guidelines 
which set out how the Council intends to implement and administer 
this new relief.

3.31. At this stage indications are that around 285 ratepayers will 
potentially be eligible for this relief, although some are major chains 
and relief may be refused due to State Aid restrictions.  Potential 
awards vary from a minimum of £366.00 to a maximum of £8,265.00.
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As noted in paragraphs 3.13 to 3.15, 
Appendix A sets out the proposed gross 
discretionary rate relief to be granted.

S31 grants will be made to compensate 
for the top up to mandatory rural rate 
relief, revaluation relief and retail 
discount.

Legal Implications As set out in the body of the report 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A Discretionary Rate Relief Applications & Recommendations 

Appendix B Types of Property Eligible for Discretionary Rate Relief

Appendix C Criteria for granting Discretionary Rate Relief

Appendix D Retail Discount – Government Guidelines

Appendix E Business Rates Retail Discount  Guidelines



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

SD (IS)

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Discretionary 
Relief 
Applications

Various Sue Cressall
01732 227041

Revenues
Strategic

N/a 





 
CABINET 

24 January 2019

 
 
 

Appendix A 

APPLICATIONS FOR 2019/2020

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2019/20 RELIEF FOR 2019/20 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21942030 CAS COMMUNITY SOLUTIONS CIC OLD FIRE STATION 80 £ 4,856.98 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.3 applies

21017204 CENTRAL PARK ATHLETICS LTD ADJ THE PAVILION CENTRAL PARK 40 £ 206.22
Recommended - Appendix C para
5.3 applies - no SBRR entitlement due
to 2nd property

21869324 PLACES FOR CHILDREN LTD SNOWDEN HILL NURSERY SCHOOL 40 £ 5,253.70 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.3 applies

21927614 PLACES FOR PEOPLE LEISURE LTD FAIRFIELD POOL 80 £ 132,048.00
Recommended - provides services of
benefit to whole community but does
not qualify for mandatory relief

21050608 1ST DARTFORD (ST ALBAN) SCOUT GROUP ST ALBANS SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 367.92 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21259606 1ST GALLEY HILL SCOUT GROUP 110 CHURCH ROAD 20 £ 246.96 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21170400 1ST NEW BARN SCOUT GROUP SCOUT HALL 20 £ 234.36 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21152908 1ST SUTTON AT HONE SCOUT GROUP R/O 53 MAIN ROAD 20 £ 448.56 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21013300 3RD DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 3RD DARTFORD BOY SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 317.52 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21102106 5TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUT GROUP ADJ 62 WEST HILL 20 £ 388.08 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21069506 8TH DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 8TH DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 282.24 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21226706 9TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUTS 9TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUTS 20 £ 267.12 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21074201 ANSON SEA CADET CORPS SEA SCOUTS BROOKLANDS LAKE 20 £ 856.80 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21846931 CHERISHED MEMORIES SUPPORT GROUP PT 1ST FLR 6 CHICHESTER ROAD 20 £ 173.88 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21944229 CITIZENS ADVICE IN NORTH & WEST KENT 8 COPPERFIELDS SHOPPING CENTRE 20 £ 1,134.00 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21065602 DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 60.48 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21103406 DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP 20 £ 219.24 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21013409 DARTFORD DISTRICT SCOUT HQ 7 BROOMHILL ROAD 20 £ 564.48 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21848549 DARTFORD JUDO CLUB STONE LODGE 20 £ 8,164.80 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

2189667X DARTFORD LIONS CLUB DARTFORD LIONS CLUB HEATH LANE 20 £ 272.16 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.4 applies



 
CABINET 

24 January 2019

 
 
 

Appendix A 

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2019/20 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21845041 DGSM YOURCHOICE 3 ORCHARD STREET 20 £ 967.68 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21636908 ELLENOR LIONS HOSPICES ELLENOR CENTRE 20 £ 1,083.60 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21278507 FLEETDOWN COMMUNITY CENTRE FLEETDOWN COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 £ 1,184.40 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21339704 GREENHITHE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION GREENHITHE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION 20 £ 635.04 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21507406 HARBOUR MINISTRIES THE MANSE 20 £ 224.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21857362 HOME-START NORTH WEST KENT LTD LHS 2 TEMPLE HILL SQUARE 20 £ 282.24 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21154103 JOYDENS WOOD COMMUNITY CENTRE JOYDENS WOOD COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 £ 887.04 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21364905 MCCH SOCIETY LTD 2 TWISTLETON COURT 20 £ 3,553.20 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21157404 MEMORIAL HALL WILMINGTON 96 HIGH ROAD 20 £ 322.56 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21379409 NORTH KENT MIND 20 WEST HILL 20 £ 2,016.00 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21899353 ROYAL BRITISH LEGION INDUSTRIES LTD 2ND FLR 50 SPITAL STREET 20 £ 2,620.80 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21916451 ROYAL NAVAL ASSOCIATION ROYAL VICTORIA MILL HALL 20 £ 534.24 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

2117660X RSPCA 37 GORDON ROAD 20 £ 282.24 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21884161 RSPCA 2 & 3 MARKET PLACE 20 £ 2,772.00 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21681308 SE RESERVE FORCES AND CADETS ASSOCIATION ATC CENTRE 20 £ 337.68 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21679500 SE RESERVE FORCES AND CADETS ASSOCIATION ACF CENTRE 20 £ 191.52 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies



 
CABINET 

24 January 2019

 
 
 

Appendix A 

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2019/20 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21133604 SOUTHFLEET VILLAGE HALL TRUSTEES VILLAGE HALL 20 £ 554.40 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21881370 ST ANSELMS COMMUNITY CENTRE ST ANSELMS COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 £ 1,940.40 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21074103 ST JOHN AMBULANCE PRINCES ROAD 20 £ 327.60 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21138601 STONE (DARTFORD) SCOUT GROUP SCOUT HUT 20 £ 115.92 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21150406 SUTTON AT HONE VILLAGE HALL 63 MAIN ROAD 20 £ 458.64 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21889338 TG YMCA LTD GND FLR DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 2,948.40 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934295 TG YMCA LTD 1ST FLR DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 2,822.40 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934301 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 1 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934310 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 2 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

2193432X TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 3 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934339 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 4 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934348 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 5 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934357 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 6 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934366 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 7 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934375 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 8 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934384 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 9 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934393 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 10 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

2193440X TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 11 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934419 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 12 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934428 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 13 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934437 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 14 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934446 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 15 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies



 
CABINET 

24 January 2019

 
 
 

Appendix A 

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2019/20 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21934455 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 16 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934464 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 17 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934473 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 18 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934482 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 19 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21934491 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 20 DARTFORD YMCA 20 £ 35.28 Recommended - Appendix C para
6.1 applies

21148707 THE HAWLEY PAVILION TRUST THE PAVILION 20 £ 183.96 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

21165302 WEST KENT GIRL GUIDES PAXWOOD 20 £ 705.60 Recommended - Appendix C para 2
applies

21858410 WHOLE COMMUNITY WORKS 67-69 HIGH STREET 20 £ 1,285.20 Recommended - Appendix C para
4.1 applies

2188355X VILLAGE SHOP 221 HIGH ROAD 44.44 £3,055.11

Recommended - Appendix C para
7.3 applies - entitled to SBRR and
Retail relief so discretionary up to
100%

£ 189,361.25

PROJECTED DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF FOR 2017/2018 NUMBER AMOUNT
(EXISTING RECIPIENTS)

Total recommended 67 £ 189,361.25

Total not recommended 0 £ -



APPENDIX B

SD (IS)

PROPERTY ELIGIBLE
FOR RATE RELIEF

TYPE OF
RELIEF

AMOUNT
OF RELIEF

Property wholly or 
mainly used for 
charitable purposes 
which is occupied by a 
Registered, Excepted or 
Exempt Charity

Mandatory charitable

Discretionary charitable

80%

Up to a further 20%

Property, all or part of 
which is occupied for 
the non-profit making:-

a) Institution or 
other 
organisation 
whose main 
objectives are 
philanthropic or 
religious or 
concerned with 
education, 
social welfare, 
science, 
literature or the 
fine arts or;

b) Club, society or 
other 
organisation 
and is used for 
the purposes of 
recreation.

Discretionary non-profit 
making

Up to 100%

Property, all or part of 
which is occupied, other 
than as a trustee, by a 
charging or precepting 
authority.

None None



APPENDIX B

SD (IS)

PROPERTY ELIGIBLE
FOR RATE RELIEF

TYPE OF
RELIEF

AMOUNT
OF RELIEF

Property (having a 
rateable value of 
£12,500 or less) which 
is the only Public House 
or Petrol Station in a 
designated rural 
settlement.

Mandatory rural

Discretionary rural

50%

Up to a further 50%

Property (having a 
rateable value between 
£8,501 and £16,500) 
which is in a designated 
rural settlement and 
which is a Post Office or 
General Store or is of 
benefit to the local 
community.

Discretionary rural Up to
100%

Eligible properties with 
a rateable value of 
£12,000 or less

Eligible properties with 
rateable values 
between £12,001 and 
£14,999

    

    
Eligible properties  with 
rateable values 
between £15,000 and 
£51,000

Mandatory small business 100% plus bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier 

0% - 100% 

decreasing on a sliding 
scale plus bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier

0% but bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier



APPENDIX B

SD (IS)

PROPERTY ELIGIBLE
FOR RATE RELIEF

TYPE OF
RELIEF

AMOUNT
OF RELIEF

Any other business 
premises

Discretionary Up to 100% provided the 
award is considered 

reasonable having regard 
to the interests of council 

tax payers



APPENDIX B

SD (IS)

RURAL RATE RELIEF

Designated Rural Areas/Rural Settlements

Bean
/Bean

Darenth
/Darenth
/Green Street Green
/Lane End

Longfield
/Longfield
/Longfield Hill

Southfleet
/Betsham
/Southfleet including Red Street Manor Farm
/Westwood

Sutton-at-Hone & Hawley
/Hawley
/Keith Avenue (Old Rectory Estate)
/Royal Road
/Kings Georges Playing Field,
/Hawley Road
/Sutton-at-Hone

Wilmington
/Heathside
/Oakfield Lane, Parsons Lane
/Wilmington



APPENDIX C

SD (IS)

Criteria for Granting Discretionary Rate Relief

1. Education Establishments

1.1 Schools which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions and occupied by 
that charity.

1.2 Schools which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions and occupied by 
that charity, and are for children with 
special needs.

Eligible for
80% 

Mandatory
Relief

Yes

Yes

Level of
Discretionary
Relief to be

Granted

None

20%

2. Scout & Guide Organisations

Groups which are registered as Charitable 
Institutions and occupied by that charity. Yes 20%

3. Charity Shops

Organisations which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions and occupied by that 
charity.

Yes None

4. Philanthropic Groups

4.1 Groups which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions which provide 
services to the Local Community e.g. 
RSPCA, Salvation Army, Red Cross.

4.2 Groups which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions which do not 
provide widely available services to the 
Local Community.

4.3 Groups which are not registered as 
Charitable Organisations but provide 
services to the Local Community.

Yes

Yes

No

20%

None

40%



APPENDIX C

SD (IS)

5. Sports Clubs

5.1 Clubs where Membership is closed e.g. 
to employees of a certain Company.

5.2 Clubs where Membership is restricted by 
the level of fees or subscription.

5.3 Clubs which are not conducted for profit 
and have open access/Membership.

5.4 Clubs that are charities and have
open access/Membership regardless
of levels of skills viz:-

 The promotion of community 
participation in healthy recreation 
by the provision of facilities for the 
playing of particular sports; and

 The advancement of the physical 
education of young 
people not undergoing formal 
education.

N.B.   The sport concerned must be one 
that is capable of improving health or 
fitness.

Eligible for
80% 

Mandatory
Relief

No

No

No

Yes

Level of
Discretionary
Relief to be

Granted

None

None

40%

None

6. Social/Welfare Clubs

6.1 Village Halls/Community Centres which 
are registered as Charitable Institutions 
which are not conducted for profit.

6.2 Village Halls which are not registered as 
Charitable Institutions which are not 
conducted for profit.

6.3 Welfare organisations which are 
registered as Charitable Institutions.

6.4 Social Clubs which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions.

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

 

20%

100%

None

None



APPENDIX C

SD (IS)

6.5 Social or Welfare Clubs which are not 
registered as Charitable Organisations 
which are not conducted for profit and 
which are for public benefit.

No 40%

7. Village Shops

7.1 The only Post Office having a rateable 
value of £8,500 or less in a qualifying 
rural settlement comprising less than 
3,000 people.

7.2 The only General Store (if such a trade is 
not carried on in any other hereditament 
or part of a hereditament), having a 
rateable value of £8,500 or less in a 
settlement comprising less than 3,000 
people in a rural settlement.

7.3 A business having a rateable value of 
£16,500 or less in a settlement 
comprising less than 3,000 people in a 
rural area; which is the only business in a 
settlement, provides some or all of the 
services of a Post Office or General 
Store and is essential to the community.

7.4 The only Public House or Petrol Filling 
Station having a rateable value of 
£12,500 or less in a rural settlement 
comprising less than 3,000 people.

7.5 A store, (having a rateable value of 
£8,500 or less in a qualifying rural 
settlement comprising less than 3,000 
people) which is wholly or mainly 
involved in the retail sale of food for 
human consumption.  This would exclude 
confectionery and

(a) any supply of food for
consumption on the
premises on which it is
supplied: and

Eligible for
50% 

Mandatory
Relief

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Level of
Discretionary
Relief to be

Granted

50%

50%

Up to 100%

50%

50%



APPENDIX C

SD (IS)

(b) any supply of hot food for
consumption off those
premises;

and for the purposes of the paragraph 
above hot food” means food which, or
any part of which has been heated for
the purposes of enabling it to be 
consumed at a temperature above the 
ambient air temperature;



 
 

November 2018 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 
 

 

 

Business Rates 

Retail Discount – Guidance  
 
 

Appendix D



 
 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2018 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

November 2018 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5378-7

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


 
 

3 

Contents 
 

About this guidance 4 

Introduction 4 

Retail Discount 4 

How will the relief be provided? 4 
Which properties will benefit from relief? 5 
How much relief will be available? 7 
State Aid 8 
Splits, mergers, and changes to existing hereditaments 9 

Annex A: Calculation examples for 2019/20 10 

Annex B: Sample paragraphs that could be included in letters to ratepayers about 
Retail Discount for 2019/20 and 2020/21 12 

‘De minimis’ declaration 13 
Refusal of Retail Discount form 14 
 

 



 
 

4 

About this guidance 
1. This guidance is intended to support local authorities in administering the “Retail 

Discount” announced in the Budget on 29 October 2018. This Guidance applies to 
England only. 

 
2. This guidance sets out the criteria which central Government considers for this 

purpose to be retail and eligible for this discount. The guidance does not replace 
existing legislation. 

 
3. Enquiries on this measure should be addressed to:  
 ndr@communities.gov.uk 

 
Introduction 
4. The Government recognises that changing consumer behaviour presents a 

significant challenge for retailers in our town centres and is taking action to help the 
high street evolve.  
 

5. The Government announced in the Budget on 29 October 2018 that it will provide a 
business rates Retail Discount scheme for occupied retail properties with a rateable 
value of less than £51,000 in each of the years 2019-20 and 2020-21. The value of 
discount should be one third of the bill, and must be applied after mandatory reliefs 
and other discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants have been applied. 
Where an authority applies a locally funded relief, for instance a hardship fund, 
under section 47 this is must be applied after the Retail Discount. 

 
6. This document provides guidance to authorities about the operation and delivery of 

the policy. The Government anticipates that local authorities will include details of 
the relief to be provided to eligible ratepayers for 2019-20 in their bills for the 
beginning of that year. 

 
Retail Discount  
How will the relief be provided? 

7. As this is a measure for 2019-20 and 2020-21 only, the Government is not changing 
the legislation around the reliefs available to properties. Instead the Government 
will, in line with the eligibility criteria set out in this guidance, reimburse local 
authorities that use their discretionary relief powers, introduced by the Localism Act 
(under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, as amended) to grant 
relief. It will be for individual local billing authorities to adopt a local scheme and 
determine in each individual case when, having regard to this guidance, to grant 
relief under section 47.  Central government will fully reimburse local authorities for 
the local share of the discretionary relief (using a grant under section 31 of the 
Local Government Act 2003). The Government expects local government to apply 
and grant relief to qualifying ratepayers from the start of the 2019/20 billing cycle.  

mailto:ndr@communities.gov.uk


 
 

5 

 
8. Central government will reimburse billing authorities and those major precepting 

authorities for the actual cost to them under the rates retention scheme of the relief 
that falls within the definitions in this guidance.  Local authorities will be asked to 
provide an estimate of their likely total cost for providing the relief in their National 
Non-Domestic Rate Return 1 (NNDR1) for 2019-20 and 2020-21. Central 
government will provide payments to authorities to cover the local share, as per the 
usual process.  
 

9. Local authorities will also be asked to provide outturn data on the actual total cost 
for providing the relief, as per the usual process via the National Non-Domestic 
Rate 3 (NNDR3) forms for 2019-20 and 2020-21. Any required reconciliations will 
then be conducted at these points.1 

 
Which properties will benefit from relief? 

10. Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied hereditaments with a 
rateable value of less than £51,000, that are wholly or mainly being used as shops, 
restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments. 

 
11. We consider shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments to mean: 
 

i. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting 
members of the public: 

 
− Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, 

jewellers, stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware 
stores, supermarkets, etc) 

− Charity shops  
− Opticians 
− Post offices   
− Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing, 

garage doors) 
− Car/ caravan show rooms   
− Second hand car lots 
− Markets   
− Petrol stations 
− Garden centres 
− Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 

 
ii. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 

services to visiting members of the public: 
 

− Hair and beauty services (such as: hair dressers, nail bars, beauty 
salons, tanning shops, etc) 

                                            
 
1 As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the localism 
act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of 
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the retail discount. 



 
 

6 

− Shoe repairs/ key cutting 
− Travel agents 
− Ticket offices e.g. for theatre  
− Dry cleaners 
− Launderettes  
− PC/ TV/ domestic appliance repair  
− Funeral directors   
− Photo processing  
− Tool hire  
− Car hire  

 
iii. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/ or drink to 

visiting members of the public: 
 

− Restaurants 
− Takeaways  
− Sandwich shops 
− Coffee shops 
− Pubs 
− Bars 

 
12. To qualify for the relief the hereditament should be wholly or mainly being used as a 

shop, restaurant, cafe or drinking establishment. In a similar way to other reliefs 
(such as charity relief), this is a test on use rather than occupation. Therefore, 
hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying 
purpose will not qualify for the relief.   

 
13. The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible to 

list the many and varied retail uses that exist. There will also be mixed uses. 
However, it is intended to be a guide for authorities as to the types of uses that 
Government considers for this purpose to be retail. Authorities should determine for 
themselves whether particular properties not listed are broadly similar in nature to 
those above and, if so, to consider them eligible for the relief. Conversely, 
properties that are not broadly similar in nature to those listed above should not be 
eligible for the relief.  

 
14. The list below sets out the types of uses that the Government does not consider to 

be retail use for the purpose of this relief. Again, it is for local authorities to 
determine for themselves whether particular properties are broadly similar in nature 
to those below and, if so, to consider them not eligible for the relief under their local 
scheme. 
 
i. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 

services to visiting members of the public: 
 

− Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux de 
change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers) 

− Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies) 
− Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors) 



 
 

7 

− Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/ 
financial advisers, tutors) 

− Post office sorting offices  
 

 
ii.  Hereditaments that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of 

the public 
 
15. Generally speaking, the government also does not consider other assembly or 

leisure uses beyond those listed at paragraph 11 to be retail uses for the purpose of 
the discount. For example, cinemas, theatres and museums are outside the scope 
of the scheme, as are nightclubs and music venues which are not similar in nature 
to the hereditaments described at paragraph 11(iii) above. Hereditaments used for 
sport or physical recreation (e.g. gyms) are also outside the scope of the discount. 
Where there is doubt, the local authority should exercise their discretion with 
reference to the above and knowledge of their local tax base. 

 
How much relief will be available?  

16. The total amount of government-funded relief available for each property for 2019-
20 and 2020/21 under this scheme is one third of the bill, after mandatory reliefs 
and other discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants have been applied, 
excluding those where local authorities have used their discretionary relief powers 
introduced by the Localism Act which are not funded by section 31 grants2. There is 
no relief available under this scheme for properties with a rateable value of £51,000 
or more. Of course, councils may use their discretionary powers to offer further 
discounts outside this scheme. However, where an authority applies a locally 
funded relief, sometimes referred to as a hardship fund, under section 47 this is 
must be applied after the Retail Discount. 
 

17. The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and calculated on a 
daily basis. The following formula should be used to determine the amount of relief 
to be granted for a chargeable day for particular hereditament in the financial year 
2019-20: 

 
Amount of relief to be granted = 
 

V    where 
3   
 

V is the daily charge for the hereditament for the chargeable day after the 
application of any mandatory relief and any other discretionary reliefs, 
excluding those where local authorities have used their discretionary relief 

                                            
 
2 As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the localism 
act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of 
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the retail discount. 
 



 
 

8 

powers introduced by the Localism Act which are not funded by section 31 
grants3. 

 
18. This should be calculated ignoring any prior year adjustments in liabilities which fall 

to be liable on the day.  
 
19. Ratepayers that occupy more than one property will be entitled to relief for each of 

their eligible properties, subject to State Aid De Minimis limits. 
 

State Aid 

20. State Aid law is the means by which the European Union regulates state funded 
support to businesses. Providing discretionary relief to ratepayers is likely to 
amount to State Aid. However Retail Relief will be State Aid compliant where it is 
provided in accordance with the De Minimis Regulations (1407/2013)4. 

 
21. The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to €200,000 of De 

Minimis aid in a three year period (consisting of the current financial year and the 
two previous financial years). Local authorities should familiarise themselves with 
the terms of this State Aid exemption, in particular the types of undertaking that are 
excluded from receiving De Minimis aid (Article 1), the relevant definition of 
undertaking (Article 2(2)5) and the requirement to convert the aid into Euros6. 

 
22. To administer De Minimis it is necessary for the local authority to establish that the 

award of aid will not result in the undertaking having received more than €200,000 
of De Minimis aid. Note that the threshold only relates to aid provided under the De 
Minimis Regulations (aid under other exemptions or outside the scope of State Aid 
is not relevant to the De Minimis calculation). Annex B of this guidance contains a 
sample De Minimis declaration which local authorities may wish to use, to discharge 
this responsibility. Where local authorities have further questions about De Minimis 
or other aspects of State Aid law, they should seek advice from their legal 
department in the first instance7. 
 

23. The UK is scheduled to leave the EU on 29 March 2019. If there is an 
Implementation Period, the State Aid rules will continue to apply as now and will be 
subject to control by the EU Commission as at present.  If the UK leaves the EU 
without a negotiated Withdrawal Agreement, the Government has announced its 
intention to transpose EU State Aid rules into UK domestic legislation, with only 
technical modifications to correct deficiencies with the transposed EU law to ensure 

                                            
 
3 As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the localism 
act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of 
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the retail discount. 
4 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF 
5 The ‘New SME Definition user guide and model declaration’ provides further guidance: 
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf 
6 http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm 
7 Detailed State Aid guidance can also be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_La
w_Requirements.pdf 
 

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requirements.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requirements.pdf


 
 

9 

the regime operates effectively in a domestic context8. Local authorities should 
therefore continue to apply State Aid rules, including De Minimis, to the relief for 
2019/20 and 2020/21. 

 
Splits, mergers, and changes to existing hereditaments 

24. The relief should be applied on a day to day basis using the formula set out above.  
A new hereditament created as a result of a split or merger during the financial 
year, or where there is a change of use, should be considered afresh for the relief 
on that day.   

  

                                            
 
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/state-aid-if-theres-no-brexit-deal/state-aid-if-theres-no-brexit-
deal  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/state-aid-if-theres-no-brexit-deal/state-aid-if-theres-no-brexit-deal
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/state-aid-if-theres-no-brexit-deal/state-aid-if-theres-no-brexit-deal


 
 

10 

Annex A: Calculation examples for 2019/20 
 
The retail discount (one third) is always calculated after mandatory relief and other 
discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grant. 
 
Example 1: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £40,000 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491  = £19,640 
Retail discount (1/3):      = -£6,547 
Rates due (after retail discount):     = £13,093 
 
Example 2: An occupied charity shop with a rateable value of £40,000 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491  = £19,640 
Net rates after charity relief:     = £3,928 
Retail discount (1/3):      = -£1,309 
Rates due (after charity relief and retail discount):  = £2,619 
 
Example 3: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £13,500 eligible for Small 
Business Rate Relief (SBRR) 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £13,500 x 0.491  = £6,629 
Net rates after SBRR (50%):     = £3,314 
Retail discount (1/3):      = -£1,105 
Rates due (after SBRR and retail discount):   = £2,210 
 
Example 4: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £10,000 eligible for Small 
Business Rate Relief (SBRR) 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £10,000 x 0.491  = £4,910 
Net rates after SBRR (100%):     = £nil 
Rates bill is nil and, therefore, no retail discount applies 
 
Example 5: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £40,000 eligible for 
Transitional Relief (TR) and receiving Revaluation Discretionary Relief 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491  = £19,640 
Transitional Relief (say):      = -£1,500 
Net rates after Transitional Relief:     = £18,140 
Net rates after Revaluation Discretionary Relief (say):  = £15,140 
Retail discount (1/3):      = -£5,047 
Rates due (after TR, revaluation relief and retail discount): = £10,093 
 
Example 6: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £18,000 previously paying 
nothing prior to revaluation 2017 and eligible for Supporting Small Businesses 
Relief (SSB) 
 
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £18,000 x 0.491  = £8,838 
Supporting Small Businesses Relief (say):   = -£7,038 



11 

Net rates after SSB:  = £1,800 
Retail discount (1/3): = -£600 
Rates due (after SSB and retail discount): = £1,200 

Example 7: A shop with a rateable value of £40,000 (example 1) but only occupied 
until 30 September 2019 

Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491 = £19,640 
Retail discount (1/3): = -£6,547 
Rates due p.a. (after retail discount): = £13,093 
Daily charge while occupied (leap year):  = £35.77 per day 

Occupied charge 1/4/19 to 30/9/19 (183 days): = £6,547 

Unoccupied property relief (1/10/19 to 1/1/20): = £nil 

Unoccupied property rates (1/1/20 to 31/3/20), 

£19,640 x 91/366  = £4,883 

Rates due for the year (after retail relief): = £11,430 

Example 8: A shop with a rateable value of £40,000 (example 1) with a rateable value 
increase to £60,000 with effect from 1 October 2019 

= £19,640 
= -£6,547 
= £13,093 
= £35.77 per day 

= £6,547 

= £82.62 per day 

= £15,120 

Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491 
Retail discount (1/3): 
Rates due p.a. (after retail discount): 
Daily charge while occupied (leap year):  

Charge 1/4/19 to 30/9/19 (183 days):  

Daily charge on standard multiplier (1/10/19 to 31/3/20): 

(£60,000 x 0.504)/366 

Charge 1/10/19 to 31/3/20 (183 days):  

Rates due for the year (after retail relief): = £21,667 



 
 

12 

Annex B: Sample paragraphs that could be included in 
letters to ratepayers about Retail Discount for 2019/20 and 
2020/21 
  
At Autumn Budget 2018, the Chancellor announced that eligible retailers will receive a one 
third discount on their business rates bills for two years from April 2019. 
  
Relief will be provided to eligible occupied retail properties with a rateable value of less 
than £51,000 in 2019/20 and 2020/21. Your current rates bill includes this Retail Discount. 
  
Awards such as Retail Discount are required to comply with the EU law on State Aid9. In 
this case, this involves returning the attached declaration to this authority if you have 
received any other de minimis State Aid, including any other Retail Discount you are being 
granted for premises other than the one to which this bill and letter relates, and confirming 
that the award of Retail Discount does not exceed the €200,000 an undertaking10 can 
receive under the de minimis Regulations EC 1407/2013. 
  
Please complete the declaration and return it to the address above. In terms of declaring 
previous de minimis aid, we are only interested in public support which is de minimis aid 
(State Aid received under other exemptions or public support which is not State Aid does 
not need to be declared). 
  
If you have not received any other de minimis State Aid, including any other Retail 
Discount you are being granted for premises other than the one to which this bill and letter 
relates, you do not need to complete or return the declaration. 
  
If you wish to refuse to receive the Retail Discount granted in relation to the premises to 
which this bill and letter relates, please complete the attached form and return it to the 
address above. You do not need to complete the declaration. This may be particularly 
relevant to those premises that are part of a large retail chain, where the cumulative total 
of Retail Discount received could exceed €200,000. 
  
Under the European Commission rules, you must retain this letter for three years from the 
date on this letter and produce it on any request by the UK public authorities or the 
European Commission. (You may need to keep this letter longer than three years for other 
purposes). Furthermore, information on this aid must be supplied to any other public 
authority or agency asking for information on ‘de minimis’ aid for the next three years.  
 
  
  
                                            
 
9.Further information on State Aid law can be found at https://www.gov.uk/state-aid 
10 An undertaking is an entity which is engaged in economic activity. This means that it puts goods or 
services on a given market. The important thing is what the entity does, not its status. Therefore, a charity or 
not for profit company can be undertakings if they are involved in economic activities.  A single undertaking 
will normally encompass the business group rather than a single company within a group. Article 2.2 of the 
de minimis Regulations (Commission Regulation EC/ 1407/2013) defines the meaning of ‘single 
undertaking’.  



 
 

13 

‘De minimis’ declaration 

  
Dear [ ] 
  
NON-DOMESTIC RATES ACCOUNT NUMBER:_______________________ 
  
The value of the non-domestic rates Retail Discount to be provided to [name of 
undertaking] by [name of local authority] is £ [ ] (Euros [ ]). 
  
This award shall comply with the EU law on State Aid on the basis that, including this 
award, [name of undertaking] shall not receive more than €200,000 in total of De minimis 
aid within the current financial year or the previous two financial years). The de minimis 
Regulations 1407/2013 (as published in the Official Journal of the European Union L352 
24.12.2013) can be found at: 
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF .  
  
Amount of de 
minimis aid 

Date of aid Organisation 
providing aid 

Nature of aid 

        
        
        
        

  
  
I confirm that: 
  
1) I am authorised to sign on behalf of _________________[name of undertaking]; and 
  
2) __________________[name of undertaking] shall not exceed its De minimis threshold 
by accepting this Retail Discount. 
  
SIGNATURE: 
NAME: 
POSITION: 
BUSINESS: 
ADDRESS: 
DATE: 
  
  

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF


 
 

14 

Refusal of Retail Discount form 

  
Name and address of 
premises 

Non-domestic rates 
account number 

Amount of Retail 
Discount 

      
  
I confirm that I wish to refuse Retail Discount in relation to the above premises. 
  
I confirm that I am authorised to sign on behalf of ______________ [name of undertaking]. 
  
SIGNATURE: 
NAME: 
POSITION: 
BUSINESS: 
ADDRESS: 
DATE: 
 
 
 



D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

A P P E N D I X  E

BUSINESS RATES 
RETAIL DISCOUNT 
GUIDELINES



2

1. Introduction and purpose of the guidelines

1.1The Government announced in the Budget on 29 October 2018 that it would 
provide a business rates Retail Discount scheme for occupied retail properties 
with a rateable value of less than £51,000 in each of the years 2019/20 and 
2020/21.  The value of the discount will be one third of the net bill (see para 2.8 
for details of interaction between reliefs).    
   

1.2  On 30 November 2018 the Government produced detailed guidance which 
confirms that occupied properties below the rateable value threshold that are 
wholly or mainly used as shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments 
will benefit from the Retail Discount.

1.3  The guidance states that it will be for each billing authority to adopt a local 
scheme for Retail Discount and decide in each individual case when to grant 
relief under Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended).

The application and award criteria rules are set out below.

1.4 These guidelines:

 set  out the criteria that will be used when making a decision to award or 
refuse Retail Discount;

 set out the delegated authority to award discount in appropriate circumstances 
as provided for in the Council’s constitution;

 establish a review process for customers dissatisfied with the Council’s 
decision.

1.5 These guidelines will apply to all decisions made on awards of Retail Discount in 
respect of 2019/20 and 2020/21.



3

2. General principles

1.6All decisions in respect of awards of Retail Discount will be taken by the Council 
in accordance with statutory requirements and with due regard to any guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State.

Requirement for Applications

1.7The Council will not require a formal application but in the first instance will 
identify all ratepayers who appear to fit the qualifying criteria, as the intention is to 
make as many automatic awards as possible.

1.8These guidelines will be published on the Council’s website and any ratepayer 
that believes they may qualify for the Retail Discount can apply to be considered.

1.9In cases where eligibility for the Retail Discount is in question, the Council will 
request such supporting evidence as it considers necessary to enable the 
application to be properly assessed (including a visit to the property).  

Financial impact of awards of retail relief 

1.10 The business rates retention systems requires the Council fund 40% of any 
discretionary relief granted with the remainder being shared between the 
Government and the major preceptors (excluding the Police).

1.11 The Government has committed to reimbursing billing authorities and those 
major precepting authorities within the rates retention system for the actual cost 
to them of any Retail Discount awarded that falls within the definitions given in 
the guidance referred to in paragraph 1.2.  

Relationship to other forms of rate relief

1.12 Retail Discount will be applied after all other mandatory reliefs and 
Government funded discretionary reliefs have been accounted for.  Locally 
funded reliefs such as Hardship Relief and Town Centre Discretionary Relief will 
be applied after the Retail Discount.

Authority to award Retail Discount

1.13 Decisions on the award or otherwise of Retail Discount will be taken by 
Officers under delegated authority (see paragraph 3.12)



4

Publication of decisions and Data Protection  

1.14 To ensure there is a fair and consistent approach to the award of Retail 
Discount, all cases will be considered with reference to these guidelines and the 
award of Retail Discount to will be published on the Council’s website 
www.dartford.gov.uk  

The Council publishes the following details:

 in the case of sole traders, property address, rateable value, type of relief, 
period of relief and amounts;

 in the case of companies, charities, LLP and other incorporated bodies, 
names, billing address, property address, rateable value, type of relief, 
period of relief and amounts.

The Council’s Corporate Privacy Notice at 
www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/subject-access-rights-
data-protection-act-1998/corporate-privacy-notice explains how it processes 
personal information.

Reviews and Appeals

1.15 These guidelines provide applicants who are refused Retail Discount with a 
review mechanism.  

A decision may only be reviewed on one or more of the following grounds:

• an inconsistent or inappropriately harsh decision;
• extenuating circumstances;
• significant procedural flaw(s) in the decision making process (it is incumbent 

on an unsuccessful applicant to specify precisely what the significant 
procedural flaw(s) consists of);

• new evidence subsequently coming to light.

1.16 A request for the review of a decision must be made in writing to the Business 
Rates Manager within four weeks of the date of the Council’s decision letter.  
Reasons supporting each ground for review (see paragraph 2.10) must be fully 
set out.  Any request for a review received outside of the four-week period, will 
only be considered if the Council is satisfied that exceptional circumstances led to 
the delay in submitting the request.

Where the unsuccessful applicant is a company, charity or other incorporated 
body, the request for the review must be submitted by a person authorised to do 
so on their behalf.  

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/subject-access-rights-data-protection-act-1998/corporate-privacy-notice
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/subject-access-rights-data-protection-act-1998/corporate-privacy-notice


5

1.17 The reviewing officer (not involved in the original decision and senior to the 
officer who made the original decision) will:

 consider the decision afresh having regard to the original information 
submitted by the applicant;

 check that the decision has been made in accordance with the relevant 
sections in these guidelines;

 consider any new evidence submitted;
 consider whether an interview with the applicant is necessary;
 make a determination either:

o upholding the original decision
o substituting a revised decision

 prepare a written response for the applicant setting out the review decision 
and reasons.

1.18 The review decision will be issued within four weeks of the date of receipt by 
the Council of the review request.  The review decision will be final.

1.19 Any challenge to the Council’s decision is by way of judicial review in the High 
Court.

Requirement to make payment of amounts falling due

1.20 Business rate payments remain legally due and payable in accordance with 
the most recent bill, until such time as any relief is awarded.  Applicants must 
therefore continue to pay any business rates that fall due whilst a decision on 
their Retail Discount application is pending.  If payments are not kept up to date, 
the Council may continue with its normal recovery procedures to secure payment.

State Aid

1.21 European Union competition rules restrict Government subsidies to 
businesses.  Relief from taxes, including business rates, may be considered as 
State Aid. 

Retail Discounts will be provided to eligible occupied retail properties with a 
rateable value of less than £51,000 in 2019/20 and 2020/21. Current rates bills 
include the Retail Discount. 

Awards such as Retail Discount are required to comply with the EU law on State 
Aid. In this case, this involves returning a ‘de minimis declaration’ to the Council 
where any other de minimis State Aid has been received, including any other 
Retail Discount being granted for premises other than the one to which the rates 
bill relates, confirming that the award of Retail Discount does not exceed the 
€200,000 that can be received under the de minimis Regulations EC 1407/2013.

In declaring previous de minimis State Aid, the Council is only interested in public 
support, which is de minimis aid (State Aid received under other exemptions or 
public support, which is not State Aid, does not need to be declared). 



6

If any other de minimis State Aid has not been received, including any other 
Retail Discount being granted for premises other than the one to which the rates 
bill relates, the ‘de minimis declaration’ does not need to be completed.

If the Retail Discount granted in relation to the premises to which the rates bill 
relates, is being refused (particularly relevant to those premises that are part of a 
large retail chain, where the cumulative total of Retail Discount received could 
exceed €200,000) the ‘Refusal of Retail Discount’ form is to be completed and 
returned to the Council. The ‘de minimis declaration’ does not need to be 
completed. 

Where Retail Discount is refused, reference to Retail Discount will be removed 
from the business rate account.   

Information on State Aid must be supplied to any other public authority, the 
European Commission or agency asking for information on ‘de minimis’ aid for 
the next three years.

1.22 Retail Discount for charities and non-profit making bodies is not normally 
considered State Aid because the recipients are not in market competition with 
other businesses. However, if they are engaged in commercial activities, 
compete with commercial bodies or have a commercial partner, Retail Discount 
could constitute State Aid.  



7

3. Properties intended to benefit from Retail Discount

1.23 Properties that benefit from the Retail Discount will be occupied 
hereditaments with a rateable value of less than £51,000, that are wholly or 
mainly i.e. where more than 50% of the property is being used as shops, 
restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments.

1.24 The Government considers shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking 
establishments to mean:

i) Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting 
members of the public:

 Shops (such as florist, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, jewellers, 
stationers, off licence, chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, supermarkets, 
etc.)

 Charity shops
 Opticians
 Post Offices
 Furnishing shops/display rooms (such as carpet shops, double glazing, 

garage doors)
 Car/caravan show rooms
 Second hand car lots
 Markets
 Petrol stations
 Garden centres
 Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire)

ii) Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 
services to visiting members of the public:

 Hair and beauty services (such as hairdressers, nail bars, beauty salons, 
tanning shops, etc.)

 Shoe repairs/key cutting
 Travel agents
 Ticket offices e.g. for theatre
 Dry cleaners
 Launderettes
 PC/TV domestic appliance repair
 Funeral directors
 Photo processing
 DVD/video rentals
 Tool hire
 Car hire



8

iii) Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to 
visiting members of the public:

 Restaurants
 Takeaways
 Sandwich shops
 Coffee shops
 Pubs
 Bars

1.25 The list below sets out the types of uses that the Government does not 
consider to be retail use for the purpose of Retail Discount:

i) Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following 
services to visiting members of the public:

 Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureau de 
change, payday lenders, betting shops and pawnbrokers)

 Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies)
 Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors)
 Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/financial 

advisers, tutors)
 Post Office sorting office

ii) Hereditaments that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of 
the public

iii) The following are also considered by Government to be outside of the 
scope of Retail Discount

 Cinemas
 Theatres
 Museums
 Nightclubs
 Music Venues
 Hereditaments used for sport or physical recreation (e.g.gyms)

1.26 The lists set out in paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3 are not exhaustive.  Where the use 
of properties is not listed but is broadly similar in nature to those listed, Retail 
Discount will be awarded or refused as appropriate.   

 
The decision making process 

1.27 Each case will be considered on an individual basis and on its merits.  

1.28 The Council will notify the applicant of the award and where Retail Discount is 
refused. An explanation of the reasons for refusal will be given. 



9

Period of discount 

1.29 Retail Discount will be automatically awarded initially for 2019/20 only.  For 
2020/21, the Council will follow the same process to consider eligibility. All 
applicants must make the ‘de minimis declaration’ as they will be in receipt of 
some form of State Aid (see paragraph 2.16 above). 

Calculation of Retail Discount 

1.30 The maximum Retail Discount is one third of the net business rates for each 
financial year, after the award of mandatory and Government funded 
discretionary reliefs (see para 2.7).  Where the net rate liability after the 
application of all other reliefs is zero (e.g. full Small Business Rates Relief has 
been applied), no Retail Discount applies.

1.31 Where the rates bill reduces within the period of an award of discretionary 
retail rate relief, the relief will be reduced proportionately.

1.32 If the rates bill increases during the period of an award of discretionary retail 
rate relief, the relief will be increased proportionately.  If the rateable value 
increases beyond the qualifying threshold of £51,000, full rates will be due from 
the date the rateable value exceeds the threshold.

1.33 If the property becomes empty, full empty rates will be due after any 
appropriate period of exemption.

Authority to award relief

1.34 The Business Rates Manager and Business Rates Team Leader are 
authorised to award or refuse Retail Discount in the following circumstances:

 Where the use of the property is clearly eligible for Retail Discount and there 
is no reason to believe that State Aid De Minimis limits are likely to be 
exceeded

 Where the use of the property is clearly not eligible for Retail Discount

 Where the use of the property was initially in doubt (due to the need to be 
wholly or mainly used for a qualifying purpose) but investigations have 
indicated that the use is eligible and there is no reason to believe that State 
Aid De Minimis limits are likely to be exceeded

 Where the applicant has returned a ‘Refusal of Retail Discount’ form or a ‘de 
minimis declaration’.

 
In all other cases, the authority to determine an application is delegated to the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services).

 



10

4. Promotion of the availability of relief 

4.1 The Council will proactively promote the availability of Retail Discount in the 
following ways:

 Council staff will be made aware of these guidelines and will actively promote 
the availability of Retail Discount when responding to enquiries;

 Information regarding the availability of reliefs will be published on the 
Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk; 

A copy of these guidelines will be made available on request by contacting 
revenues@sevenoaks.gov.uk or by calling the Business Rates team on 01322 
343008.  Calls via NGT Relay are welcomed.

If required the guidelines can be made available in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language.  

5. Complaints

1.1Applicants who are dissatisfied with the standard of service are encouraged to 
initially raise their complaint directly and informally with the Business Rates team 
via revenues@dartford.gov.uk  or by calling on 01322 343008.

Applicants, who remain dissatisfied, may make a formal complaint under the 
Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.

Guidance on how to complain can be found at www.dartford.gov.uk/by-
category/council-and-democracy2/complaints/our-formal-complaints-procedure

6. Review of these guidelines

1.1These guidelines will be reviewed periodically in order to ensure they remain 
valid, effective and relevant.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:revenues@sevenoaks.gov.uk
https://ngts.org.uk/
mailto:revenues@dartford.gov.uk
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/complaints/our-formal-complaints-procedure
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/complaints/our-formal-complaints-procedure


              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

SD (IS)

WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES

1. Summary

1.1 To consider writing-off Non Domestic Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because of insolvency, because the 
ratepayer cannot be traced or where the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1. That the sums shown at Appendix A, in the confidential part of the 
report, amounting to £160,261.30 be written off as uncollectible. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In each of the cases shown in Appendix A the debts are considered 
irrecoverable for the reasons set out in this report.

3.2. The normal stages of recovery referred to in subsequent paragraphs 
are the issue of bills, reminders, final notices and the application for a 
liability order.  Thereafter, a case may be subject to further action 
which can include the instruction of bailiffs, the commencement of 
insolvency proceedings or an application for a warrant of commitment 
to prison.

3.3. Where a case has been recommended for write-off because there 
appears to be little or no prospect of a dividend to unsecured 
creditors, should such a dividend subsequently be paid, the amount 
of the dividend will be written on to reduce the sums written off as bad 
debt.

3.4. Where a case has been recommended for write-off because the 
ratepayer has gone away and all attempts to trace have proven 
unsuccessful, should their whereabouts subsequently become 
known, the debt will be re-instated.

Case 1

3.5. The ratepayer was registered on 15 March 2010, effective from 18 
March 2010, as per information from the outgoing tenant.

3.6. The property had been empty from 9 February 2010 and the 
ratepayer was given the maximum period of exemption available to 
industrial properties which was due to end on 8 August 2010.  
Thereafter 100% empty rate was payable.



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019 

SD (IS)

3.7. The ratepayer applied for further exemption on the grounds that 
occupation of the property was prohibited by law.  After investigations 
this was duly awarded from 10 July 2010 to 8 July 2011.  The charge 
reverted to a full empty rate charge from 9 July 2011.

3.8. The account was closed down on 8 November 2011 with effect from 
19 October 2011 when the property was tenanted.

3.9. The Academy system has built in integrity checks which flag up 
issues with transactions on an account.  Errors were flagged on this 
account covering the periods 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011 and 1 
April 2011 to 8 July 2011 and these were duly fixed.  The adjustments 
to the empty exemption created a credit for the period prior to 8 July 
2011 which was refunded on 29 May 2012.

3.10. On 11 October 2018 a request for information under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 was received asking for details of the charges 
on the property from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2019.

3.11. In the course of compiling the response it came to light that although 
this ratepayer’s responsibility for the property did not end until 19 
October 2011, charges for the period 9 July 2011 to 18 October 2011 
had not been raised at the point the account had been closed.  These 
charges amounted to £128,937.29.  

3.12. Investigations have shown that there was nothing to alert staff to the 
omission either at the time, or at any time since.  Although it is not 
possible to state categorically that this is an isolated case, the 
combination of the reliefs awarded is very rare, and therefore it is 
considered highly unlikely that other accounts have been affected. 

3.13. Although the account has been corrected, the Limitation Act 1980 
prevents the Council from billing the ratepayer as the period of the 
un-billed charges is more than six years ago.  The debt is therefore 
submitted for write-off as irrecoverable.

Case 2

3.14. The ratepayer was registered on 5 June 2017 effective from 3 March 
2017 when the tenant advised that the company name had changed.

3.15. Payments totalling £42,438.83 were made but the ratepayer then 
advised that due to thefts they would not be able to meet the payment 
due in January 2018.

3.16. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of a liability order on 26 March 2018.



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019 

SD (IS)

3.17. Investigations revealed that the ratepayer had vacated on 28 
February 2018 but attempts to recover using enforcement agents 
continued.  

3.18. The case was returned on 21 November 2018 when it was 
ascertained that the company had been dissolved on 23 October 
2018.  The debt is therefore submitted for write-off.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Under the Business Rate Retention 
rules the cost of writing off uncollectible 
debt is shared between Central 
Government, Dartford Borough Council, 
Kent County Council and Kent & 
Medway Fire and Rescue Authority. 

As such, the potential cost to Dartford 
Borough Council is normally up to 
£64,104.52 this being 40% of the total 
debt recommended for write-off. 

Under the Business Rates Pilot the 
Council may receive more income from 
business rates as the normal share to 
central government is distributed across 
the Kent pilot area. The gains from the 
pilot are likely to be one off and are not 
budgeted. A write off is likely to reduce 
the gains from the pilot but will not affect 
the budgetary position.

A provision is set aside for these 
potential costs and the level of the 
provision is reassessed each year. 

Legal Implications As set out in the body of the report
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A Non-Domestic Rate debts submitted for write-off.  



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019 

SD (IS)

This appendix has been placed on the closed part of the agenda because it 
relates to exempt information within the category contained in Standing Order 
46(1) (b) Annex 1, namely paragraph 3 information relating to the financial 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding the 
information) and in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in not 
disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

NNDR 
Write-off 
papers

Various Sue Cressall
01732 227041

Revenues Appendix A 
SO46 (1) (b) 
Annex 1 
Para. 3



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019

COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS FOR EMPTY AND UNINHABITABLE DWELLINGS 
AND EMPTY PREMIUM

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the level of Council Tax discount for unoccupied and 
unfurnished dwellings, and dwellings undergoing or requiring major 
structural repair.  Also to consider increasing the premium on dwellings 
that are long term empty (unoccupied and unfurnished for more than 2 
years).

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the Council Tax discount for unoccupied and unfurnished 
dwellings be reduced from 100% for three months to 100% for two 
months.

2.2. That the Council Tax discount for unoccupied dwellings undergoing or 
requiring major structural repair be reduced from 100% for 12 months 
to 0% for 12 months.

2.3. That the additional charge for dwellings that are unoccupied and 
unfurnished for 2 years or more be increased from 50% to 100%.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Local Authorities have powers and flexibility to amend certain Council 
Tax discounts under Section 11A of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 as  amended  by the Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of 
Dwellings (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 and the Council 
Tax (Exempt Dwellings) (England) (Amendment) Order 2012.

3.2. Approval was given by the General Assembly of the Council on 17 
December 2012 (minute number 69) to make the following 
amendments to the level of Council Tax discount for prescribed 
classes of dwellings and long term empty premium with effect from 1 
April 2013:

Prescribed class C (unoccupied and unfurnished dwellings) be set at 
100% discount for a three month period, thereafter the discount be 
set at 0%;

Prescribed class D (unoccupied dwellings undergoing or requiring 
major structural repair) be set at 100% discount for a maximum 
period of 12 months;



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019 

Section 11B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 enables 
Local Authorities to increase the charge on long term empty dwellings 
(unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for at least 2 years) by up 
to 50%.  The GAC determined this charge from 1 April 2013.

 3.3  The discounts have acted as a cushion to those owning these 
dwellings and mitigate against bringing the properties back into use 
as soon as possible. The recognition of this fact has led to a number 
of authorities reviewing the level of discounts. In recognition of the 
beneficial effects to occupation as well as the financial effects Kent 
County Council is also very supportive of seeing a reduction.  

3.4            The table below summarises the current position across other Kent 
authorities – some of which are reviewing their discounts with effect 
from 1 April 2019

Council Class C discount
Unoccupied/unfurnished

Class D discount
Uninhabitable/major repair

Ashford 100% up to 6 weeks 100% for 12 months
Canterbury 0% 100% for 12 months
Dartford 100% up to 3 months 100% for 12 months
Dover 0% 100% for 12 months
Gravesham 100% up to 1 month 100% for 12 months
Maidstone 0% 0%
Medway 100% up to 3 months 100% for 12 months
Sevenoaks 100% up to 3 months 100% for 12 months
Shepway 0% 0% 
Thanet 0% 100% for 12 months
Tonbridge & 
Malling

100% up to 1 month 100% for 12 months

Tunbridge 
Wells

0% 0%

3.5       It is recommended that from 1 April 2019, the prescribed class C 
(unoccupied and unfurnished dwellings) be set at 100% discount for 
a two month period, thereafter the discount be set at 0%.

3.6            It is also recommended that from 1 April 2019, the prescribed class D 
(unoccupied dwellings undergoing or requiring major structural 
repair) be set at 0% discount for a maximum period of 12 months.

3.7          The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty 
Dwellings) Act 2018 increased the amount local authorities can 
charge on long term empty dwellings up to 100%. It is therefore 
recommended that from 1 April 2019, the charge on long term empty 
dwellings (unoccupied and substantially unfurnished for at least 2 
years) be set at 100%.



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019 

3.8       Reducing the Class C discount to 100% for 2 months, the Class D 
discount to 0% for 12 months and increasing the longer term empty 
charge from 50% to 100% will support the Council’s empty homes 
strategy.

3.9          In addition, there is estimated additional Council Tax that can be raised 
as a result of implementing the recommendations. As highlighted in 
the financial implications section of this report, the estimated income 
for Dartford Borough Council from these changes is £33.5k.

3.10        Kent County Council has also committed to give an incentive of 25% of 
the County’s share of additional Council Tax proceeds where districts 
have reduced empty property discounts. This commitment is for the 
period 2017/18 to 2019/20 and is subject to review thereafter. The 
incentive payable to the Council for 2019/20 is estimated at £55k.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The estimated additional Council Tax 
that can potentially be raised as a result 
of the recommendations is as follows:

a. Discount for unoccupied and 
unfurnished dwellings (Class 
C) – reducing the discount 
from 100% for up to 3 months 
to 100% for up to 2 months 
will raise an estimated 
£163,000 in additional Council 
Tax.  

b. Discount for unoccupied 
dwellings undergoing or 
requiring major structural 
repair (Class D) – reducing 
the discount from 100% to 0% 
for 12 months will raise an 
estimated £144,000 in 
additional Council Tax. 

c. Long Term Empty Dwellings – 
increasing the premium to 



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019 

100% will raise an estimated 
£28,000

The estimated additional Council Tax of 
£335,000 would be shared between the 
Council and the major precepting 
authorities.  The Council’s share would 
be £33,500

Kent County Council are committed to 
pay an incentive of 25% of their share of 
additional income from reductions in 
empty property discounts from 2017/18 
to 2019/20 (subject to review thereafter). 
The incentive for 2019/20 for the 
recommendations are approved would 
be £55k.

These proposals will have a negative 
impact on the Housing Revenue 
Account. The HRA will have to pay 
additional Council Tax on any void 
properties. Based on average numbers 
of voids, it is estimated that the extra 
cost to the HRA would be around £5k. 
This would have a minimal impact on 
the HRA Business Plan.

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality Duty

There is no legal requirement to consult 
on the recommended changes but there 
is a legal requirement to publish any 
changes to the Council Tax regime in at 
least one newspaper circulating in the 
Billing Authority’s area. This must be 
done within 21 days of the resolution 
being agreed by the Council. 

Section 13A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 allows for the Council 
to reduce or remit any amount of council 
tax (at the full cost of the Council).  
These powers can be considered in 
certain circumstances where a dwelling 
can not be occupied, such as fire or 
flood damage.
Any amendments made to Council Tax 
discounts for empty, uninhabitable or 
long term empty dwellings are not based 



              
CABINET

24 JANUARY 2019 

on individual circumstances or family 
characteristics. The recommendations 
will therefore apply equally to everyone. 

Staffing Implications Minimal, the adjustments will be 
processed as part of the annual billing 
processes.  Some complaints or 
appeals my increase in the short term

Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment None

6. Appendices
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents 
consulted

Date File
 Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Dennington Revenues 
&Benefits

N/A





CABINET
24 January 2019

STREET  NAMING & NUMBERING – Lowfield Street

Princes & Town

1. Summary

1.1 To approve a five new road names for the development at Lowfield 
Street.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the five new road names for the development at Lowfield Street be 
approved as Brewers, Carnegie, Festival, Imperial and Truman.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The redevelopment of Lowfield Street combines residential and 
commercial properties over five new roads on three phases of work.  
The names were suggested by the Developer taking into account the 
local history and surroundings.

3.2. The proposed names were submitted for consultation with a plan (as 
shown as Appendix A) to Members, Emergency Services, Royal Mail 
and the Developer on November 27th 2018.  The names comply with 
the Council’s policy on Street Naming.

3.3. Councillors Mrs Thurlow, Shippam, Lloyd & Coleman were all happy 
with the names as were the Royal Mail.

3.4. There were no other responses.

3.5. Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final road names have been 
approved.

3.6. The Developer requires the name as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer.



CABINET
24 January 2019

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Map showing proposed site, Lowfield Street Consult

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
Consulted

Date / 
File Ref

Report 
Author

Section and 
Directorate

Exempt 
Information 
Category

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood

Property Information 
(Internal Services)

N/A



Central Park

The Priory Centre

Multistorey Car Park

Works

Offices

LO
WF

IEL
D 

ST
RE

ET

Council

DartfordCentre

Club

River Darent

HIGH STREET

Library

Fairfield Pool

Holy

Acacia

Sports Ground

Hall

4.9m
5.3m

Museum

Sluice

CR

Pond

Ba
nk

s P
lac

e

Bank

PH

Lo
wf

ield
 St

ree
t

High Street

Car Park

Ripleys Market
Subway

BM 6.52m

BM 6.64m

BM
 5.

88
m

MARKET STREET

MA
RK

ET
 P

LA
CE

VAUXHALL PLACE

Bungalow

War

Shelters

5

3

28 49

1 29
58

10

12

31
41

33

22

90
94

37

20

38

16

40

11
0

2

95
17

6

19

7
8

21
9

23
27

10
0

118

80

71

70

25

98

42

14
4

72

18

56

34

68

14

Posts

46

57

7678

102b

77
96

48
 to

 52

300 to 370

14
to1

8

46 to 52

53

60

268

298

69
32

282

13

93

5a

4

65

54

59

15 24

23
a

85

126

13
4

62

Th
e R

oy
al 

Vic
tor

ia

36

82
13

0
81

44

Shelter

55
63

61 Bridge

Chy

Sub Sta

Works

2

82

Works

2
Wo

rks

1

12

Wo
rks

60

38

2

Car Park

2

3

9

8

Works
16

Club

5

1218 16

Ba
nk

Shelter

36
27

1

Shelter

17 23

10

5

Ca
r P

ark

1

28

4

1
6

3 31

22

810
31

27

PH

Car Park

28

1

5

3

1

29

7

@ A4°1:2,000

C:
\U

se
rs\

se
as

tw
oo

d\D
es

kto
p\M

ap
 Te

mp
lat

es
\P

I_M
ap

pin
g_

A4
_P

ort
_d

ate
.m

xd
Ma

p P
rod

uc
ed

 B
y: 

se
as

tw
oo

d O
n: 

27
/11

/20
18

 01
:08

 P
M

Lowfield Street Development
Appendix A

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2018
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2018





CABINET
24 January 2019

HOUSING ANNUAL REPORT FOR TENANTS AND 
LEASEHOLDERS 2018

1. Summary

1.1. Under the Government’s regulatory framework, the Council is required to 
complete an annual report to tenants and leaseholders which sets out how 
the housing service is performing and where improvements can be made.

1.2. This is the seventh housing annual report developed in consultation with the 
Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum (DBRF).  

1.3.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the draft Housing Annual Report 2018 for tenants and leaseholders, at 
Appendix A to the report, be approved. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Under the Localism Act 2011, social housing providers, including local 
authorities, are regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency 
(HCA).  The regulatory framework requires local authorities to produce 
annual reports. 

3.2. The regulatory framework includes a set of national standards which are 
broadly descriptive under the headings of Tenant Involvement and 
Empowerment, Home, Tenancy, Neighbourhood and Community and 
Value for Money.  These standards formed part of the first housing 
annual report which was approved by Cabinet on 28 October 2010 
(Minute No. 76 refers).

3.3. This sixth annual report sets out how the Council continues to develop 
local offers to tenants under the headings outlined above, what the 
Council has achieved over the last year to meet the standards and the 
targets to be achieved over the following year. The report was developed 
in consultation with the Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum (DBRF) 
which reviewed the draft document.  

3.4. The Annual Report contains information on performance and targets in 
Section 5.   

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report relates to the Corporate Plan’s aims to facilitate quality, 
choice and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-
reliant communities and deliver high quality services to service users.



CABINET
24 January 2019

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

6.
Financial Implications None as a direct result of this report.  

Legal Implications None as a direct result of this report. 

Staffing Implications The report must be completed annually.

Administrative 
Implications

None as a direct result of this report. 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Housing Annual Report to Tenants and Leaseholders 
2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section 
and

Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tenant Services 
Authority- Introducing 
the new regulator for 
social housing

23 July 
2009

Peter Dosad Housing 
Services
/Strategic

N/A

Housing and 
Regeneration Act 
2008 (Registration of 
Local Authorities) 
Order

22 
October
2009

Jackie Pye Housing 
Services
/Strategic

N/A

A New Regulatory 
Framework for Social 
Housing in England

21 
January 
2010

Jackie Pye Housing 
services
/Strategic

N/A



HOUSING 
ANNUAL REPORT 
TO TENANTS AND LEASEHOLDERS 

2018

Appendix A



contents
Section  

1 Foreword 
2 Introduction 
3 The Standards:

Tenant Involvement and Empowerment
Neighbourhood and Community
Home and Tenancy 

4 Value for Money 
5 Our Performance
6 Additional Information

Page

3 
4
5-7

8
9-10
11



Foreword
Welcome to our housing report to tenants and leaseholders. 

It has been developed following feedback from our tenants and from  
measuring our performance across a range of housing services and against 
local standards.

The work we do with the Dartford Tenants’ and Leaseholders’ Forum (DT&LF)  
is invaluable in ensuring we continue to deliver housing services which make 
a difference to tenants and leaseholders.

It’s been another busy year ensuring that we met the targets in our action 
plan and we have continued to develop both our local and core service  
standards.

We hope that you enjoy reading this report and find it both interesting 
and informative.  

We remain committed to working with tenants and leaseholders across a 
range of services to make continuous improvements.

Additional information on ways you can get involved can be found on page 11.

3



4

introduction
The regulatory framework first developed by the now dissolved  
Tenant Services Authority and continued by the Homes and Communities 
Agency has become a part of everyday life for tenants and the Council alike.

This report explains what we have been working on over the last 12 months.
It shows you what we have achieved and details those areas where we still 
have work to do in order to meet our targets.

The five national standards in the regulatory framework are:

STANDARD Main Areas

Tenant Involvement 
and Empowerment

Neighbourhood 
and Community

Home

Tenancy

Value for Money

Customer service 
Choice and complaints 
Involvement and empowerment 
Diversity

Neighbourhood 
Management

Quality of accommodation

Allocations
Tenure

Applies to all standards to 
show that the landlord is 
achieving value for money



The Standards
Tenant Involvement and Empowerment
What have we done?
• Held regular Resident Joint Liaison Group meetings with the Leader of the Council, Council

Members and the DT&LF

• Carried out resident satisfaction surveys as a matter of course and used feedback to address
issues and improve the service we deliver

• Informed you about events, services and council news by newsletters, website,  email and text

• Sent you the Link newsletter three times in the last 12 months

• Sent information on request about how you can get involved in shaping the service

• Let you know when estate inspections take place in your area and provided feedback through
the Link and through the DT&LF as a monitoring body on issues you raised

• Provided regular performance information on our services to tenants and leaseholders
in an easy to read, clear and standardised format

• Consulted with you on major changes to our services and on new housing policies
and procedures

• Made available training to help develop residents’ skills, for example Assertiveness, Professional
Boundaries, Effective Meetings, Minute Taking Skills, and provided speakers to DT&LF meetings
on a diverse range of topics including Universal Credit, Waste and Recycling etc.

• Awarded Community Grants to enhance the lives of local people by supporting events and
activities, including equipment for an internet café in a supported housing scheme and cultural
awareness events

Our promises to you:
We will:

• Continue to hold regular Joint Liaison Group meetings

• Continue to carry out resident satisfaction surveys to improve the service

• Send you the Link newsletter during the year but via an online blog

• Continue to inform you about events, services and council news by a variety of methods,
e.g. via the website, post, email or text

• Continue to support appropriate residents’ groups and the DT&LF by providing training and
speakers to develop their skills and knowledge

• Work within the Kent Engagement Group to enable awareness of regional housing issues, and
provide enhanced opportunities for training and networking via partnership working

• Ensure our priorities reflect the wider corporate objectives of the Council

• Continue to award Community Grants

• Arrange a community clear up day on one of our estates

5



Home and Tenancy
What have we done?

• Obtained planning permission to deliver 86 new Council homes for rent for local people.
The first development at Temple Hill Square, known as Hill View was completed in 2017 and
provided 25 new homes for rent.  The second phase at Coleridge Road was started in October 2017
and will provide 51 new homes for rent.  The first homes have already been let and the scheme
is due to be completed in the spring of 2019.  In addition work has also started on the former cash
office at Temple Hill Square which will provide  6 new homes for Dartford people

• Completed Customer Access Reviews across the housing service

• Carried out a review of homelessness in the Borough to inform the development of a new
Homeless Strategy for 2018

• Invited the DT&LF to attend contractor meetings to discuss performance levels and
service improvements

• Invested in excess of £6m into the housing stock in 2018 for capital repairs including
£1,000,000 for communal area improvements such as decorating, paving, communal lighting
upgrades and roof replacement

• Delivered over 10,000 repairs to residents’ homes

• Improved and re-let 210 properties

• Carry out a review of the Council’s Allocations’ Policy in 2018

• Maintained our good performance on refurbishing and re-letting empty council properties

• Introduced CCTV on one of our estates

• Reviewed our supported housing service and moved to a housing scheme approach
including residential consultation

6



Home and Tenancy
Our promises to you:
We will:

• Strive to build or acquire new homes to create more council housing for local people as part of
an ongoing programme

• Deliver six new one bedroom flats on Temple Hill Square cash office site in 2019

• Complete construction of the Council’s new build development at Coleridge Road in 2019

• Develop plans to build our next phase  of new build council houses

• Once again, invest in excess of £6m into the housing stock in 2019 for capital repairs including
£600,000 for communal areas

• Actively participate in Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership
to the benefit of our residents

• Continue to work with the DT&LF and other Residents to improve maintenance services across
the stock and ensure delivery is customer focussed

• Strive to improve contract performance from the previous year in all key performance areas

• Provide flexible tenancies for the majority of new tenants and keep them under review

• Continue to review housing policies to ensure they are fit for purpose

• Prepare and implement a new Homelessness Strategy in 2019

• Work with partners to ensure that we are supporting tenants in the Universal Credit Rollout

New Build 
Coming soon

7



Value for Money
What have we done:

• Introduced more efficient and effective ways of running services

• Reduced repair costs by investing in the Council’s capital works programme

• Reinvested income from our PV solar panel project back into the service

• Ensured that the adaptations service achieves value for money

• Used the text service to make savings when contacting residents about campaigns,
events and services and to support the energy switching and rent arrears campaigns

• Continued to create opportunities for local young people  as apprentices to assist in delivering
the housing service; many of whom have gone on to full time employment

• Continued the HERO service to achieve a significant number of back dated benefits with tenants
also being assisted into work and given advice leading to energy savings

• Recruit a Housing Financial Inclusion Officer to focus support on tenants going on to Universal
Credit

Our promises to you:
We will:
• Continue to deliver energy efficiency and other measures that save you money

• Monitor our performance report and look to continually improve

• Involve the DT&LF in our decision making processes

• Be responsive to our customers’ needs to improve the service

• Strive to meet housing need for local people as efficiently as possible

• Consult on the big housing issues with those that may be affected

8



Our Performance
The table below shows our performance indicators across a range of services for 2017/2018.  
It uses a symbol system which highlights if we are meeting our targets or if we need to make 
some improvements (see key below).  Some targets are for monitoring purposes only.

Number of households on the housing register. Monitor only. Monitor only.

No of households where homelessness prevented. Monitor only. Monitor only.

No of households living in temporary accommodation. Monitor only. Monitor only.

% of repeat homelessness within 2 years 2% 2%

Homeless

% of lettings made to households already residing 
within the Borough. 97% 97%

Allocations

No of service requests completed related to Private 
Sector Housing condition and advice. 250 250

% rents collected as a proportion of rents owed. 98.1% 98.1%

Private Sector

Target 
2018

Target 
2019

Target 
2018

Target 
2019

ALERT OK MONITOR ONLY

Performance indicator Status

Target 
2018

2018 
Performance

1,064

94.77%

2018   
Performance                

59

108

0%

2018
Performance

234

97.8%

Target 
2019

9



Relets
% rent lost through local authority dwellings becoming 
vacant (voids). 0.60% 0.60%

Average time taken to re-let local authority housing 
voids (in calendar days). 20 20

Number of Voids re-serviced and re-let. Monitor only. Monitor only.

Repairs
% repairs completed on time. 98% 98%

% non-decent council homes. 3% 3%

No of non-decent homes. Monitor only. Monitor only.

Energy Efficiency of Housing Stock (SAP energy rating). 73 73

Number of affordable homes delivered. 140 140

Rents
% rents collected as a proportion of rents owed. 98.1% 98.1%

Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery: Evictions. Monitor only. Monitor only.

Target 
2018

Target 
2019

Target 
2018

Target 
2019

Target 
2018

 
2018 

Performance

97.8%

14

2018
Performance

0.41%

21.02

240

2018
Performance

92%

2%

83

72.17

173

Target 
2019

ALERT OK MONITOR ONLY

Performance indicator Status

10



The housing service can be accessed in a variety of ways including live chat, email, texting, 
visiting our website at www.dartford.gov.uk, visiting, calling or writing to us.

Live chat or view information online
Web: www.dartford.gov.uk

Email:
rio@dartford.gov.uk

Text a repair:
Mob: 07881 668706

Calling:
Tel: 01322 343434

Visiting or writing:
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent DA1 1DR

If you would like any more information on documents mentioned in this report or any other 
information on the housing service, or the regulatory framework, please look on our website: 
www.dartford.gov.uk or contact us directly on 01322 343434 or look on the Homes and  
Communities Agency website at www.homesandcommunities.co.uk

If you have any comments on the report, or would like to get more involved with how housing 
services are delivered in Dartford, email: resident.involvement@dartford.gov.uk

Additional information

11

Live chat or view information online
Web: www.dartford.gov.uk

Email:
rio@dartford.gov.uk

Text a repair:
Mob: 07881 668706

Calling:
Tel: 01322 343434

Visiting or writing:
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent DA1 1DR



If you or anybody you know requires this or any other 
council information in another language please contact 
us and we will do our best to provide this for you. Braille, 
Audio tape and large print versions of this document are 
available upon request.

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk
Calls are welcome via NGT relay



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019 

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF 
THE COUNCIL, CABINET, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS

1. Summary

To seek Members’ views on the proposed calendar of meetings for 2019/20 
and the provisional calendar for 2020/21.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2019/20 and the provisional 
calendar of meetings for 2020/21 be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the 
Council.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 A proposed calendar of meetings for the 2019/20 municipal year is 
attached at Appendix A and a provisional calendar of meetings for the 
2020/2021 municipal year is proposed at Appendix B.

3.2 The calendars have been prepared with a view to avoiding known 
party conference dates and school holidays as far as possible. The 
calendars will be presented to the Annual Meeting of the Council on 
22 May 2019 for adoption.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications Setting out indicative 

calendars for the next 
two Municipal Years 
provides certainty for 
Members over 
proposed meeting 
dates to facilitate the 
conduct of business.

Risk Assessment None



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

6. Appendices

Appendix A - Proposed calendar of meetings for 2019/20
Appendix B - Provisional calendar of meetings for 2020/21

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Twyman
(01322 343430)

Democratic 
Services Manager/
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



CABINET 
24 JANUARY 2019

Appendix A

Indicative Dates and Times of the GAC, Cabinet, Committees and Boards for 2019/20

 COMMITTEE TIME USUAL MEETING DAY May
2019

Jun
2019

Jul
2019

Aug
2019

Sep
2019

Oct
2019

Nov
2019

Dec
2019

Jan
2020

Feb
2020

Mar
2020

Apr
2020

May
2020

Cabinet 7pm THURSDAY 13 25 5 31 5 23 5 23

Cabinet Advisory Panels 7pm MONDAY 10 B 22 A 2 B 28 A 2 B 20 A
 
2 B 20 A

Scrutiny Committee 7pm TUESDAY 9 12 4 14

Policy Overview Committee 7pm TUESDAY 18 10 10 17

Audit Board 7pm WEDNESDAY 31 23 22 22

Development Control Board 7pm THURSDAY 6 4 8 12 10 7 12 16 13 12  16

Development Control Site Visits 9.30am SATURDAY 1, 29 3 7 5 2 7 11 8 7 11

General Assembly of the Council 7pm MONDAY 15 7 9 16

General Assembly of the Council
(Budget)

7pm MONDAY 24

Annual Meeting 7 pm WEDNESDAY 22 13



CABINET 
24 JANUARY 2019

Appendix A

COMMITTEE TIME USUAL MEETING DAY May
2019

Jun
2019

Jul
2019

Aug
2019

Sep
2019

Oct
2019

Nov
2019

Dec
2019

Jan
2020

Feb
2020

Mar
2020

Apr
2020

May
2020

Borough and Parish Council 
Forum

7pm TUESDAY 2 8 14 7

Joint Transportation Board 7pm TUESDAY 11 3 3 3

Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee

7pm WEDNESDAY 24 12

Deed, Trust and Obligations 
Committee

7pm TUESDAY 15

Resident Involvement Joint 
Liaison Group

7pm THURSDAY 26 26

Bean Parish Council Evening Monday 13 10 8 9 14 11 9 13 10 9 14
(Tues)

Darenth Parish Council Evening Wednesday 15 19 17 18 16 20 18 15 19 18 15
Longfield and New Barn
Parish Council Evening Tuesday 28 25 23 24 22 26 17 28 25 24 28

Southfleet Parish Council Evening Monday 7 
(Tues)

3 1 2 7 4 2 6 3 2 6

Stone Parish Council Evening Wednesday 8 10 11 13 8 11
Sutton-At-Hone and Hawley Parish 
Council Evening Thursday 16 20 18 19 17 21 19 16 20 19 16
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 
Council Evening

Wilmington Parish Council Evening Wednesday 8 5 3 4 2 6 4 8 5 4 1

Labour Party Conference             22-25 September 2019    Conservative Party Conference    29 September – 2 October 2019                                
Good Friday/Easter Monday 10 April 2020 / 13 April 2020

The dates quoted for Parish/Town Council meetings are provisional and may be changed at their associated Annual Meetings.



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

Appendix B

Indicative Dates and Times of the GAC, Cabinet, Committees and Boards for 2020/21

 COMMITTEE TIME USUAL MEETING DAY May
2020

Jun
2020

Jul
2020

Aug
2020

Sep
2020

Oct
2020

Nov
2020

Dec
2020

Jan
2021

Feb
2021

Mar
2021

Apr
2021

May
2021

Cabinet 7pm THURSDAY 28 25 23 24 29 26 10 28 25 25 22

Cabinet Advisory Panels 7pm MONDAY 25B 22A 20B 21A 26B 23A 7B 25A 22B 22A 19B

Scrutiny Committee 7pm TUESDAY 14 15 17 16

Policy Overview Committee 7pm TUESDAY 16 8 11 16

Audit Board 7pm WEDNESDAY 29 21 19 30

Development Control Board 7pm THURSDAY 21 18 15 6 10 8 12 17 21 18 18 15

Development Control Site Visits 9.30am SATURDAY 16 13 11 1 5 3 7 12 16 13 13 10

General Assembly of the Council 7pm MONDAY 8 27 12 14 15

General Assembly of the Council
(Budget)

7pm MONDAY 22

Annual Meeting 7 pm WEDNESDAY 13 12



CABINET
24 JANUARY 2019

Appendix B
COMMITTEE TIME USUAL MEETING DAY May

2020
Jun
2020

Jul
2020

Aug
2020

Sep
2020

Oct
2020

Nov
2020

Dec
2020

Jan
2021

Feb
2021

Mar
2021

Apr
2021

May
2021

Borough and Parish Council 
Forum

7pm TUESDAY 7 6 12 6

Joint Transportation Board 7pm TUESDAY 9 22 8 9

Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee

7pm WEDNESDAY 22 10

Deed, Trust and Obligations 
Committee

7pm TUESDAY 15

Resident Involvement Joint 
Liaison Group

7pm THURSDAY 17 25

Bean Parish Council Evening Monday 11 8 13 14 12 9 14 11 8 8 12 10

Darenth Parish Council Evening Wednesday 20 17 15 16 21 18 16 20 17 17 21 19
Longfield and New Barn
Parish Council Evening Tuesday 28 25 23 24 22 26 17 28 26 25 22 27

Southfleet Parish Council Evening Monday 4 1 6 7 5 2 7 4 1 1 5 3

Stone Parish Council Evening Wednesday 13 8 9 11 13 10 12
Sutton-At-Hone and Hawley Parish 
Council Evening Thursday 21 18 16 17 15 19 17 21 18 18 15 20
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 
Council Evening

Wilmington Parish Council Evening Wednesday 6 3 1 2 7 4 2 13 3 3 7 5

Labour Party Conference             September 2020    Conservative Party Conference    October 2020                                
Good Friday/Easter Monday 2,5 April 2020
Christmas/New Year 25,26,28 December 2020/ 1 January 2021 

The dates quoted for Parish/Town Council meetings are provisional and may be changed at their associated Annual Meetings.



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 11 
December 2018 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor J Jones
Councillor R Lees
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT: Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor Mrs. D Page

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Trish Chapman – Dartford Borough Resident’s Forum

Andrew Scott-
Clark

– Director, Public Health, Kent County 
Council

Haley Brooks – Head of Housing & Health Services, 
Sevenoaks District Council

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green

Kashmir Powar

– Strategic Director (External 
Services)

– Healthy Living Co-ordinator

27. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors J Burrell, Mrs 
D Page and Mrs M Kelly, and for lateness on behalf of Councillors J Jones 
and R Lee.

28. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest made, including by Councillors Jones 
and Lee on subsequently joining the proceedings. 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

2

29. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2018 

A Member noted that the Committee had yet to be advised of an 
implementation date for the Council’s New Air Quality Plan [Min. No. 24 page 
7 – Action Point refers].

The Chairman noted the oversight and asked the Committee Co-ordinator to 
confirm the details with the Council’s Scientific Officer and advise Members 
accordingly. 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 11 
September 2018 be confirmed as accurate.

30. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no items of urgency for the 
Committee to consider. 

31. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no references from other 
Committees for Members to consider.

32. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 November 2018 to 31 
March 2019 be noted.

33. CHANGE TO AGENDA ITEM ORDER 

In a change to the published agenda order, Members agreed to consider 
Items 9 and 10 before 7 and 8 to enable guest speakers and presenting 
Officers time to attend further commitments that evening. 

34. KENT PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE UPDATE 

The Chairman welcomed Mr Andrew Scott-Clark, Director of Public Health 
(DPH) Kent County Council to the proceedings, and thanked him for agreeing 
to update Members regarding ongoing and planned public health initiatives by 
KCC and the linkage to Kent district councils and other partners.

The DPH welcomed the opportunity to update Dartford Members on the 
progress made by KCC in the dissemination of public health services since 
his previous briefing of the Committee in 2016. He explained that his Update 
presentation retained the key information from his 2016 document and 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

3

compared it with the current 2018 position for each service and category 
under the following principal headings:

Adult Health Improvement Transformation

Members were referred to the diagram for the existing [2016] model for 
delivery of Community Resources and Support based on specialist silo 
elements for Healthy Weight and exercise services, a Stop Smoking Service 
and Health Trainers which was being transformed into a more holistic Healthy 
Lifestyle Service, based on healthy lifestyle support and advice for Exercise, 
weight management, healthy eating, stop smoking and alcohol consumption, 
underpinned by mental wellbeing. The transformed model for the delivery of 
Community Resources and Support was being delivered via a three tiered 
approach: 

 A digital offer of self-help via ‘ONEYOUKENT’ apps by phone plus an 
online option;

 A Universal Service offer;
 A Specialist services offer

The new model had been created with Kent Community Healthcare 
Foundation Trust [KCHFT] as the lead provider, dovetailed with the District 
offer, plus a more recent agreement to enter a same partnership model with 
Maidstone Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust, for the delivery of genitourinary 
medicine (GUM) services. KCC’s eventual aim was to have an East and West 
Kent model footprint for the delivery of public health services.

KCHFT was the major provider of services with £38M spent on the provision 
of public health measures to some 1.8M residents across Kent.  As a non-
profit making organisation NHS services provided a more cost effective 
service option to Kent and other local authorities than external procurement, 
and significant economies had been achieved using NHS services. The next 
NHS 10 Year Plan had yet to be published, but was hoped that an increase in 
funding to local authority partnerships would form part of the new Plan to 
provide a more cost-effective health care infrastructure going forward, 
delivered through the KCHFT and District partnership footprint wherever 
possible. 

Health and Diet were recognised as the top two categories to be addressed to 
improve public health, with a reduction in refined and processed sugar content 
in food and drink products identified by Public Health England as the No. 1 
target to improve dietary balance, especially for children but across all age 
categories. This particular target had been ‘badged’ up by KCC Public Health 
in the ‘ONEYOUKENT’ dietary app, with Dartford linked to the Sevenoaks and 
West Kent model. 

Work undertaken by the Stop Smoking Service showed that smoking 
continued to be a significant contributor to the continuing gap between rich 
and poor individuals/communities in society in terms of health and life 
expectancy, despite smoking being the most preventable element for 
improving public health. The growth in the illicit tobacco market whose 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

4

products were not subject to control, contained more impurities and continued 
to burn for longer [when not being inhaled] than legal products, was an 
increasing concern both on health and fire safety grounds. 

KCC surveys had shown that self-help, digital apps and on-line offers of 
health care services were more effective and successful with the public than 
face to face Services. KCC would continue to push the ‘ONEYOUKENT’ apps 
which were now a recognised and proven brand for encouraging a healthy 
life-style for adults. 
  
Healthy Child Programme 0-18

The Partnership model had been transformed since 2016 and now 
encompassed all aspects of the Healthy Child programme 0-18: 

 KCHFT had won the School Nursing recruitment contract and was 
developing the role of school nurses under an expanded programme of 
duties;

 Performance management of the 0-5 programme had been a 
significant success and driven up productivity in the delivery of the 5 
statutory assessments by the health visiting team(s), a role previously 
undertaken by the NHS until 2016;

 Rationalisation of breast feeding support had been achieved by KCHFT 
who had gained UNICEF Baby Friendly accreditation Stage 2 status;

 Work with Vulnerable Families had been tied in to work with Early Help 
and Children’s Social Care, including support for mother’s under 19 
having their 1st child, with the aim of extending such support to even 
younger mothers across Kent;

 Focus had also been maintained on combating the ‘Toxic Trio’ of 
domestic abuse (DA), mental ill-health and substance mis-use;

 Increased support was being given to secondary school children with 
emotional or mental health and wellbeing issues, including via an 
expanded role for School Nurses.  

Sustainability and Transformation Plans

The new Secretary of State for Health was being more positive in pushing the 
principal aim of ‘Prevention’ under his recent key ‘Prevention is Better than 
Cure’ document. Two further key publications were awaited;

 NHS Ten Year Plan
 Government’s Green Paper on Prevention

Prevention was the key theme for local authorities in England in the face of 
continued Government cuts to health funding, with Kent expected to find a 
further £1.8M in cuts in 2019/20. A proposal to fund local authority health care 
from retained business rates had been mooted by Government but detailed 
proposals had yet to emerge. 

A principal concern for Kent and all local authorities was the increase in 
mandatory services that they had to provide under the Health Act, as opposed 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

5

to discretionary services currently being provided or sought by residents. 
Since 2016 Government funding for health care in Kent had fallen from £78M 
to £63M against a backdrop of increased demand, demographic pressures 
and price rises for drugs and medicines. These principal themes underlined 
the need for a proactive ‘Preventative’ approach to health care, with particular 
emphasis on the key areas of cancer and cardiovascular disease, tackled 
through proactive measures to reduce smoking, reform diets and increase 
physical activity across the community.

Health Improvement in Partnership

Public Health Kent worked strategically using three ‘footprints’ for East, West 
and North Kent, in which District authorities had a key role to play in 
promoting and improving public health at the local level via their policies for:

 Planning
 Environment
 Leisure Services
 Licensing (alcohol)
 Community Safety
 Housing
 ‘Community’
 Health in all policies
 Gambling

The District contribution to public health was both an opportunity and a time of 
challenge, with health inequalities both at the local and national level recorded 
as not reducing by Public Health England. The focus of the system was 
therefore a disproportionate response with local populations where life 
expectancy was significantly below that expected using the following 
partnership processes:

 Kent Health and Wellbeing Board
 Elements of STP (Sustainable Transformation Partnership) including a 

new partnership between PH Kent, Medway and the NHS;
 Key STP clinical strategy at preventions of scale for e.g. heart attacks 

and hyperacute strokes

The DPH advised Members that partnership working, through drawing on 
Government funding, NHS monies, expertise and services, co-ordinated at a 
county level through the formation of health trusts working with district and 
borough authorities; was the key to tackling the increased levels of cancer, 
cardiovascular disease, poor diet, lack of exercise, and increased levels of 
smoking and alcohol consumption; to improve health across communities at 
the local level. Two growing areas of ill-health which would require greater 
resources in 2019, were the increased prevalence of gambling amongst low 
income families in deprived communities and amongst the most vulnerable in 
society, and the link to increased levels of suicide, in particular amongst 
middle-aged men. 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

6

Most challenged communities in Kent 

Members were shown a map of Kent where the most deprived communities, 
some 88 in total, were highlighted in red. This included some small pockets of 
concern in Dartford.

Communications 

Members were advised that continuing to join up the [Public Health] system to 
effectively communicate messages to the public was essential using the 
following tools;

 Being tied-in to Public Health England communications and message 
streaming;

 Continued use of the successful ‘ONEYOUKENT apps, Twitter, 
Facebook and Instagram to help release the pressure on individuals 
previously ‘suffering in silence’ across a whole range of health and 
related issues such as divorce, money problems, stress and 
bereavement;

 Male suicide in Kent had been reduced by 10% but still remained 
above the national average which had helped to attract increased 
funding of £1.5M to address this major issue;

 Increased links were proposed with Mental Health Trusts to address 
the self-harming amongst adolescents prone to peer and other 
pressures, whilst concentrating clinicians time on helping the most ill; 

 Increased resources to address Sexual Health issues via GUM 
concentrating clinicians time on the test positive patients rather than 
testing individuals who sought re-assurance at clinics;

 Increasing resources to promote ‘Sugar Swapping’ to improve diets 
allied to increased physical activity;

 Warning and informing residents and supporting the NHS in times of 
extreme weather events e.g. Heat Wave Warnings and on the Winter 
and cold weather which also threatens health, particularly the young 
and the elderly.

The Chairman thanked the KCC Director for Public Health (DPH) for his 
comprehensive update, and noted the efficiencies and positive savings 
achieved by KCC Public Health since 2016. He noted that the existing KCC 
partnership funding provision to Kent Districts would be maintained until 
March 2019 and sought assurances that KCC would continue to fund public 
health provision in Kent Districts in the 2019/20 financial cycle and thereafter.

The DPH informed Members that funding cuts of £1.8M had to be identified by 
KCC in 2019/20 from the current levels of funding for public health in Kent.  
KCC would try to minimise cuts to front-line services as far as possible, as it 
tried to balance meeting its statutory obligations [under the Health & Social 
Care Act], maintaining non-statutory services currently provided, and meeting 
increased demand in certain areas e.g. sexual health provision. 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

7

On current estimates, public health funding for 2020/21 would be ‘standstill’ 
[i.e. no increases/no further cuts] and KCC hoped to continue its current 
partnership working with Kent Districts in that fiscal cycle. Thereafter, for 
2021/22 and beyond, he was unable to forecast what the public health funding 
provision might be. It was mooted that future public health funding could be 
met at the local level from retained business rates, but no Government 
formula had been produced to date to meet the needs of the many public 
health cohorts which could seek funding from such a scheme. 

Pending publication of the Government’s ‘Prevention’ Green Paper on the 
future funding model for public health care, it was proposed to continue with a 
ring-fenced model for grant funding of public health initiatives at the local level 
in 2020/21. The Sustainable Transformation Partnership/Plan (STP) 
recognised the value and necessity of a continued County/District relationship 
for public health funding and provision, and it was hoped that increased 
funding would be made available to local authorities by the NHS within its next 
10 Year Plan.
 
In response to a wide-ranging series of subsequent questions from individual 
Members, the Director for Public Health Kent made the following points:

 KCC PH continued to work with the KCC Library Team to ensure as far 
as possible, in the continuing climate of austerity, that KCC PH met its 
statutory health provisions in terms of providing IT access to residents 
in deprived communities [who did not have IT at home] to access 
preventative health advice on-line. The public’s use of libraries was 
changing, but KCC would continue to monitor that use and obtain 
feedback through appropriate consultation;

 In response to a Member’s concern that funding for preventative health 
measures in Kent had reduced in the period 2014/15 to 2019/20 and 
that the new NHS 10 Year Plan had yet to be published, the DPH 
acknowledged that previous funding cuts had had consequences and 
were a real issue for PH Kent. Since 2016 productivity and efficiencies 
had been driven forward and attached notable results in terms of a 48 
hour target for sexual health care despite a £5M cut in that specific 
budget for Kent. The UK as a whole had also met the WHO HIV target 
in the period under review. However, choices over the provision of 
some statutory services had also had to be made e.g. residential re-
hab for drug/substance mis-use now tended to be provided on a day-
care basis. There was an acknowledged need for increased funding to 
be devoted to preventative health measures nationally and for the 
delegation of some of those monies to local authorities e.g. NHS 
England Diabetes programme monies to local authorities who could 
provide more effective care through local partnership arrangements. 
However that was a Government funding policy initiative to be decided 
by the Secretary of State, hopefully in the awaited Green Paper;

 A Member noted that the Terrance Higgins Trust had targeted a zero 
rate for the transmission of sexual diseases by 2019. As a member of 
the Lesbian, Gay, Bi-sexual and Transgender (LGBT) community he 
had taken part in PrEP trials and found that the sexual health services 
available in London were better for the LGBT community, especially in 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

8

terms of the linguistics used, than in Kent. He noted that whilst there 
had been a slight overall decrease in the overall transmission of sexual 
diseases in Kent, incidences of gonorrhoea and chlamydia 
transmission had increased. He saw a need for KCC PH to encourage 
patients to use Kent resources to increase the funding pot in the 
County, to supplement good but limited on-line PrEP testing, and a 
13% increase in demand for PrEP testing across all age groups. The 
DPH undertook to feed-back the Members specific concerns over PrEP 
testing for the LGBT community in Kent; 

 A Member noted that 10% of NHS England’s budget was now devoted 
to treating diabetes, and asked how the Council could lobby for 
increased funding for Dartford residents. The DPH advised that as a 
first step, the Chairman of Dartford POC could write to the Chairman of 
KCC’s Health and Overview Scrutiny Committee (HOSC). Kent, Surrey 
and Sussex colleagues in the PH field were collaborating in a joint 
effort to address diabetes funding issues, but he was aware that new 
requests for funding faced a 12 month consideration process. 
Alternatively, the POC might write to Healthwatch or NHS England 
regarding the Diabetes Prevention Programme. He advised that at the 
clinical level, evidence around diet was more pronounced for Type II 
diabetes with fructose levels in diet a major contributing factor. 
Reductions in sugar, white bread, white rice and potatoes were all 
required to effect a balanced diet for Type II diabetes sufferers allied to 
increased physical activity, but the adage that ‘you can’t outrun a poor 
diet’ was the principal preventative measure to be pursued;

 In response to a final expression of concern about the sugar content in 
processed foods and the lack of a detailed sugar breakdown on the 
packaging of such food-stuffs, the DPH advised that industry was only 
subject to a voluntary code of practice in revealing sugar levels in its 
products. Sugar was ubiquitous to all food products, and that central 
government action to introduce a sugar tax on such high sugar-content 
products and fizzy drinks was a good start, but that the sugar industry 
was a ‘big beast’ to tackle and one well-versed in the necessary 
lobbying  skills to protect its products and the industry as a whole.

The Chairman thanked the KCC Director for Public Health for agreeing to 
attend and update Members and invited him to return in December 2019 to 
update Members further on the contents and implications of the Government’s 
Green Paper on Prevention in public health, and the details of the new NHS 
England 10 Year Plan.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the details contained in the KCC Director for Public 
Health’s Update presentation;

2. That the Chairman of POC write to the Chairman of KCC’s Health and 
Overview Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) concerning increased funding to 
combat diabetes in the Dartford community.  

 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

9

35. DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL REPORT 
2017/18 

The covering report from the Head of Housing & Health, Sevenoaks District 
Council, enclosed as Appendix A the Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan 
Progress Report 2017/18, which updated Members on the progress made 
against the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities Action Plan for the 
2017/18 financial year. An Evidence and Case Studies document was 
attached at Appendix B to the covering report.

The Committee had agreed and adopted a new three year Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action Plan (DHIAP) 2015-2018 in December 2015 with local 
priorities developed by the Dartford Health Inequalities Group partners, to 
deliver targeted action to meet local needs, in support of the Kent Health 
Inequalities Strategy, and the emerging Kent and Medway Sustainable 
Transformation Partnership/Plan (STP). 

The DHIAP set out six overarching objectives to reduce health inequalities 
across the Borough. The local priorities identified under each objective were 
to:

 Promote Healthy Weight for Children;
 Support older people to keep safe, independent and living fulfilled lives;
 Support businesses to have healthy workplaces;
 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradients.

The preventative health projects delivered by the Council, as detailed in the 
Progress Report 2017/18 (Appendix A to the report) formed part of the HIAP. 
The projects undertaken in Dartford under the supervision of the Council’s 
Healthy Living Co-ordinator, included healthy weight programmes and the 
promotion of mental wellbeing, and were monitored on a quarterly basis via 
outcome monitoring submissions to Kent County Council.

In response to specific questions from Members regarding Appendix A to the 
report, Officers confirmed the following points:

 ‘Targets’ would be added to the 2018/19 Progress Report for each 
Objective to better gauge outcomes achieved, e.g.  75 families had 
been engaged on the ‘Don’t Sit, Get Fit (DSGF) Family Weight 
Management Programme [Appendix A agenda p. 21 refers] against a 
target of 50 families;

 A possible area for increased activities if more KCC Public Health 
funding was available, would be to engage more Dartford G.P.s to refer 
children and adults to the DSGF Family Weight Management 
Programme. The Family Weight Management Programmes are now 
delivered as part of the KCC School Nursing Contract, and this Council 
is working closely with them to deliver this work through a pilot scheme 
with KCC funding;

 Academy Schools were not funded separately but also came under the 
School Nurse Contract. A targeted programme for individual families 
was not possible;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

10

 The current 2015-2018 DHIAP had come to an end [report para 3.8 
agenda p.18] but KCC had undertaken to finance existing Plan 
activities until the end of the current 2018/19 financial year. A new Plan 
for Dartford was being formulated in line with STP and Dartford Health 
Inequalities Group objectives, with input from Councillor Ann Allen 
MBE, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Development and the 
Healthy Living Co-ordinator. The new Plan will identify priorities and 
positive outcomes for the Borough going forward, through continued 
partnership working;

 It was proposed that the Healthy Living Co-ordinator would again 
operate a stand at the Dartford Festival in 2019 to engage the public in 
health check-ups, healthy living activities and tips, building on the 
excellent positive public response from previous years;

 Further details of the activities of the Elders Forum including dates for 
future meetings and activities would be circulated to Members for their 
information [Appendix A agenda p. 23/24 refers].

The Chairman thanked the Head of Housing & Health, SDC and Dartford 
Council’s Healthy Living Co-ordinator for their presentation of the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects Annual Report and Appendices 2017/18, and for 
responding to Members’ questions.     

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the outcomes and progress made on the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects for the 2017/18 financial year, as set out 
in detail in Appendix A and B to the report. 

36. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2018 

Members had earlier agreed [Min. No. 33 refers] to consider this standard 
report from the Committee Co-ordinator later in the published agenda 
proceedings,  to allow guest speakers and presenting Officers to depart 
following their presentations, to meet further commitments that evening.

The Chairman and Members agreed the following action with regard to the 
Action Points from the Committee’s meeting held on 11 September 2018 as 
recorded in the report:

Item 1 Health Funding: Members noted the action taken as recorded in the 
report.

Item 2 Charging for GP Referral Letters: It was noted that G.P. Surgeries 
effectively ran as their own businesses, under the overall auspices of their 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). Charging for referral letters was 
therefore a business decision taken by each Surgery which the Council could 
not influence directly. Members agreed to draw a line under the matter on that 
basis, but also agreed that the Chairman, with advice from Officers, write to 
the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG, to record the Committee’s 
concern that Summerhouse and Orchard Surgeries in Dartford continued to 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

11

charge for referral letters: a practice which disadvantaged the most vulnerable 
in the community who could least afford such a cost. 

Item 3 RELATE Medway & North Kent: The Chairman expressed his severe 
frustration that Dan McDonald, the Chief Executive of RELATE Medway & 
North Kent (including Dartford) had yet again failed to attend the Committee 
proceedings despite several renewed invitations [Agenda Item 8 refers].

The Chairman advised Members that in his appointed position as the 
Council’s representative to RELATE for the past three plus years, he had 
never been invited to attend any of their meetings: a continued omission 
which had prompted his initial (and repeated) invitations for Dan McDonald to 
attend POC proceedings and appraise Members of the services RELATE 
offered to Dartford residents. He appreciated that the Committee could not 
insist that a representative from RELATE appear before the Committee, but 
he believed that there was a moral obligation for the outside body to do so, 
that their continued lack of any response to the Committee’s invitations was 
disrespectful in the extreme, and that the Committee should make their 
disquiet known to RELATE. 

Members agreed that the Chairman, with the advice of Officers, would write to 
Dan McDonald at RELATE Medway & North Kent expressing their 
disappointment over his continued non-attendance or even a response, and 
that the Chairman’s letter be copied to RELATE’s funding body [Officers to 
obtain details].

Item 4 Local Community Pharmacy Services: Members noted the written 
response from the DGS CCG circulated to Members on 11 September 2018.

Item 5 Welfare Reform Update: Members noted the proposal for a 
presentation by Officers in June 2019.

Item 6 Presentation by Virgin Care: The Strategic Director (External 
Services) advised Members that she had spoken to Virgin Care 
representatives who had agreed that they would make a presentation to the 
Committee in March 2019. The Committee Co-ordinator would confirm the 
exact arrangements with Virgin Care in January 2019.

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of Action Points identified by Members at their meeting on 
11 September 2018 as set out in the report, and the further action 
agreed by Members on 11 December 2018 [Items 2 and 3 as minuted 
above] be noted.

37. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT, QUARTER 2 OF 2018/19 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

The Chairman noted that the standard report recording progress on the latest 
set of Corporate Plan Key Actions and Performance Indicators for Quarter 2 
of 2018/19 (attached as Appendix A and B to the report) had been noted by 
Cabinet Advisory Panel B on 3 December 2018.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

12

The following points were confirmed/noted for action, in response to specific 
questions from Members:

 The reference to the number of households taking part in the green 
(garden waste) service referred to the brown bin service. This would be  
clarified in future Quarterly reports [Appendix B agenda p.59 refers];

 The Committee Co-ordinator undertook to check the value figure of 183 
for businesses supporting Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) with 
the DTAC Intelligence Manager [Appendix B agenda p.57refers];

 Crime figures by Ward in Dartford were available from the Kent Police 
website by typing in the relevant post code or using the KP app 
[Appendix B second PI listed on agenda p. 58 refers];

 Members noted that the explanations provided by Officers in Appendix 
B in support of the status of individual PIs, especially those with a red 
‘alert’ status, continued to be useful and comprehensive. It was noted 
that the ‘traffic light’ status system for PIs had been initiated by the 
Committee.  

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the report and the detail set out in 
Appendices A and B respectively.

38. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

The report from the Committee Co-ordinator set out the Committee’s existing 
Rolling Work Plan on a quarterly basis until September 2019 as detailed in the 
attached Appendix A. The report also listed (para 4.5) details of additional 
work areas agreed for consideration by the Committee, but yet to scheduled.

The Chairman asked that a further update presentation from the Director for 
Public Health KCC be added to the Work Plan for consideration by Members 
in December 2019 and that an invitation issue on his behalf to Healthwatch to 
attend the Committee’s meeting in March 2019 in an observer capacity, given 
the scheduled presentations by the Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust, the 
DGS CCG and Virgin Care.

He also noted, in the context of the forthcoming Borough elections in May 
2019; that the incoming Committee would have capacity in the current Work 
Plan to add further agenda items for consideration in June and September 
2019 if/as desired.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the published Rolling Work Plan 
attached as Appendix A to the report;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

13

2. That Healthwatch be invited to the March 2019 meeting of the 
Committee in an observer capacity for the presentations due to be 
delivered by the D&G NHS Trust, the DGS CCG and Virgin Care 
respectively;

3. That the Director for Public Health, KCC be invited to update Members 
again in December 2019.  

Councillor Jones expressed his thanks to the Chairman on behalf of the 
Labour Group for his conduct of proceedings that evening and throughout the 
year and wished all Members an enjoyable festive season. He also offered his 
commiserations to the citizens of Strasbourg, France following the suspected 
terrorist shooting incident at the Strasbourg Christmas Market earlier in the 
evening.

The Chairman echoed the thoughts, concerns and best wishes of the Labour 
Group for the citizens of Strasbourg, and thanked all Committee Members for 
their contributions to the effective working of the Committee throughout 2018.

He also thanked Trish Chapman for representing Dartford’s Residents Forum 
throughout 2018, and the Strategic Director (External Services), the 
Committee Co-ordinator (and his predecessor) and all participating Council 
Officers for their reports and presentations throughout the year and wished all 
present the very best for the ensuing festive season.  

The meeting closed at 8.50 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN








	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 December 2018
	8 Consultation on Sevenoaks'  Proposed Submission Local Plan
	Appendix A DBC Officer Response
	Appendix B Sevenoaks Cab Report 061218
	Appendix C DBC Response

	9 National Non-Domestic Discretionary Rate Relief 2019/20
	App A - Discretionary Relief
	App B - Discretionary Rate Relief
	App C - Discretionary Rate Relief
	Appendix D Retail Discount Guidance
	About this guidance
	Introduction
	Retail Discount
	How will the relief be provided?
	Which properties will benefit from relief?
	How much relief will be available?
	State Aid
	Splits, mergers, and changes to existing hereditaments

	Annex A: Calculation examples for 2019/20
	Annex B: Sample paragraphs that could be included in letters to ratepayers about Retail Discount for 2019/20 and 2020/21
	‘De minimis’ declaration
	Refusal of Retail Discount form


	App E - Discretionary Rate Relief

	10 Write-Off of National Non-Domestic Rates
	11 Council Tax Discounts for Empty and Uninhabitable Dwellings and Empty Premium
	12 Street Naming and Numbering - Lowfield Street
	Appendix A Street Naming Lowfield_Street_Consult

	13 Housing Annual Report for Tenants and Leaseholders 2018
	DBC Tenants Annual report 2018

	14 Calendar of Meetings of the General Assembly of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Boards
	Calendar of meetings fro 2019-20 agreed by May 2018 Annual Meeting
	Draft Calendar of meetings for 2020-21v1

	15 Minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting on 11 December 2018
	B Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates - Exempt Appendix A <br/> (Exempt Category SO46(1)(b)



